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By delivering efficient, quality support
services we add value to our clients’
operations. Demand for these services
is growing fast.

IFind out more in ‘What do we do?’ on pages 14-17



We expand our business through strong
organic growth and selective acquisition
of niche businesses.

IFind out more in ‘How do we generate profitable growth?’ on pages 20-25



We manage our rapid growthwith
rigorous financial controls, planning
and risk management.We monitor
progress with clear KPIs.

IFind out more in ‘How do we manage and measure our growth?’ on pages 26-37



In our fast growing market, we are
theUK leader. Huge opportunities
across many sectors meanwe can
be very selective about which ones
we pursue.

IFind out more in ‘Which markets do we target?’ on pages 38-43



Our flexible structure enables us to
deliver multiple services to individual
clients, and individual services across
multiple markets, highly efficiently.

IFindoutmore in ‘How do we maintain performance across our divisions?’ on pages 44-49



Managing people is a core skill.
Our success depends on enabling them
to fulfil their potential and achieve more
than perhaps they thought possible.

IFind out more in ‘How do we manage and inspire our people?’ on pages 50-53



Our competitive edge comes not only
fromour scale, track record and depth of
resources but also fromour responsible
way of doing business.

IFind out more in ‘How do we do business responsibly?’ on pages 54-57



Across public and private sectors
we add real value to our clients’
performance by improving processes
and introducing newways of working.

IFind out more in ‘Who do we work with?’ on pages 58-61
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Capita has performed very strongly in 2006.
We have secured record levels of new business,
thereby strengthening our position as the UK’s
market leader in providing business process
outsourcing services.

Our successes during 2006 and progress in early
2007 mean that the ingredients for a successful
year are already in place.

Turnover (£m)

5 year compound growth 20%

01

02

03

04

05

06

691

898

1,081

1,282

1,436

1,739

£1,739m
+21%

Profit before tax, amortisation and impairment 
and after share based payment charge (£m)

5 year compound growth 23%
+excluding exceptional items

01

02

03

04

05

06

72.1

98.3+

121.2

143.9+

169.6

200.1

£200.1m
+18%
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Earnings per share before amortisation and impairment  
and after share based payment charge (p)

5 year compound growth 25%
+excluding exceptional items

01

02

03

04

05

06

7.70

10.47+

13.04

15.34+

18.60

23.10

23.10p
+24%

Total dividend per share (p)

5 year compound growth 32%

01

02

03

04

05

06

2.25

3.00

4.00

5.35

7.00

9.00

9.00p
+29%

Financial highlights



Welcome
As the Group’s new Non-Executive Chairman,
appointed on 1August 2006, I am delighted to
welcome you to this year’s Business Review and
Annual Report andAccounts.

Capita has performed very strongly in 2006.
We have secured record levels of new business,
thereby strengthening our position as the UK’s market
leader in providing business process outsourcing
(BPO) services to the public and private sectors.

Our performance in 2006
In the year ended 31 December 2006, turnover
increased by 21% to £1,739m. Operating profit before
amortisation and after share based payment charge rose
by 23% to £225.1m and profit before taxation and
amortisation and after share based payment charge
increased by 18% to £200.1m. Earnings per share before
amortisation and after share based payment charge
grew by 24% to 23.1p. Operating cash flow rose by
20% to £279m.

The Board is recommending a final dividend of 6.3p
per ordinary share making a total of 9.0p for the year,
a 29% increase on 2005.

We returned a further £245m to shareholders through
purchasing our own shares. In total, including the
proposed final dividend, we will be returning £301m
(2005: £96m) to shareholders in respect of the 2006
financial year.

Board changes
RodAldridge, Capita’s founder and Chairman, retired
from the Board on 31 July 2006. Rod played a major
role in building and developing the Group for over
20 years and the Board and employees across Capita
wish him every success with his new interests. A strong
and dedicated Board and management team, focused on
the needs of all our stakeholders, continues to lead and
profitably grow the Group.The Board was further
strengthened in the year with the appointments of
Simon Pilling as an Executive Director on 1August 2006,
having served on Capita’s Divisional Executive Board,
and Bill Grimsey as Non-Executive Director with effect
from 9 October 2006.

Valuing our people
The value that we have created for our stakeholders
in Capita is a direct result of the competence and
commitment that our employees give to the Group.
The culture within Capita is a key differentiator from
our competition.We have a stable and consistent
management team, a low turnover of senior people and
a tremendous spirit throughout the Group. I would like
to thank everyone for the role they play in Capita’s
success. I also welcome the employees that have joined
us since the beginning of 2006.We now employ 27,800
people in the UK, Ireland, the Channel Islands and India.

Future prospects
Capita enters 2007 with confidence. Our markets
continue to generate opportunity, our sales prospects
are exciting and our operational performance is
consistently strong.

Our successes in 2006 and progress in early 2007
mean that the ingredients for a successful year are
already in place. The Board anticipates delivering
strong growth in 2007.

Chairman’s introduction
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Eric Walters
Non-Executive Chairman
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Strong performance
2006 has been another active and successful year,
with record major sales wins and strong operational
performance across the Group.

The market for BPO in the UK and Ireland continues to
provide excellent growth opportunities. Our extensive
infrastructure and capability provide us with a strong
competitive edge across our markets and enable us to
present strong propositions to clients.

Building value for shareholders
To ensure we are building value for shareholders,
we focus on a number of key measures alongside
profitability: operating margins, cash flow, capital
expenditure, return on capital employed, gearing
and economic profit.We also focus on maintaining a
conservative but efficient capital structure. Collectively
they form an integral part of building value for our
shareholders on a consistent basis over the long term.
We have set out our aims and performance regarding
these disciplines onIpages 28-33.

Over the 10 years to 14 February 2007, the market
capitalisation of the Group has increased from £360m
to £4.1bn.The total shareholder return in this period
has been 10.5 fold, equivalent to a 27% compound
annual return.

Growing our business
We aim to generate profitable and sustainable growth
both organically and through small to medium sized
complementary acquisitions. Of the 21% increase in
turnover in 2006, 16% was achieved through organic
growth and the remaining 5% was derived through
acquisitions.

Securing and renewing major contracts is an
important component of our growth. Across the
Group, we have over 20,000 customers and our
retention rate is excellent. Our sales performance
in 2006 was very strong.We secured 23 major new
and extended contracts with an aggregate value of
£1.37bn (2005: £1.14bn).Ipage 21

2007 has started well with a total of £132m of
major contracts won and extended in the first 8 weeks.
We are also now in the position where we have no
material contracts due for renewal in 2007 and 2008
and only 2 in 2009.Ipage 24

Our current bid pipeline stands at £2.6bn (February
2006: £2.2bn) and contains some exciting opportunities,
particularly within the life and pensions and local
government markets. Behind this is an active prospect
list of opportunities which are yet to reach a shortlist
stage.We have already secured strong revenue growth
for 2007 and our efforts are now focused upon
achieving a similar position for 2008.

Our businesses have developed well and grown
across the year securing new and repeat business.
We have also continued our strategy of expanding
existing offerings and entering new market segments
through acquiring small niche businesses. Our
operational capabilities continue to grow, evidenced
by the smooth running of both our major integrated
contracts and our separate businesses.Ipages 44-49

Growth of our BPO offshore operation in India
has accelerated, with the business doubling in size in
the past 12 months. By 2009, we anticipate that we
will have approaching 3,000 people based in India.
Our offshore facilities are delivering significant savings,
providing operational flexibility, raising service quality
and increasing productivity.I page 35

Our continuing focus
We remain enthused by the many opportunities that
exist to develop the Group and we will continue to
build long term value for our shareholders, clients
and our employees.

Paul Pindar
Chief Executive



We deliver efficient, high quality
administration and customer contact
services that support and add value to
our clients’ operations.
By transforming the way services are
delivered, increasing quality and driving
down operating costs, we help our clients
to meet their customers’ needs and remain
at the forefront of their marketplace.
We support clients across both the
private and public sectors in theUK and
Ireland, where the market for our services
is buoyant and growing.

Business review
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p Business processoutsourcing (BPO)

pCustomer services

pAdministration and support

pHuman resources

p Information and communications
technology (ICT)

p Property consultancy

p Finance and treasury

pConsultancy

pCentral government

p Local government

p Education

pTransport

pHealth

p Life & pensions

p Insurance

p Financial services

pOther private sector

p Integrated Services

p Professional Services

pHR Solutions & Property
Consultancy

p ICT &Advisory Services

p Financial Services

p Life & Pensions

p Insurance & Specialist Services

Providing essential
services to our clients
We operate in and lead the market commonly known as
the business process outsourcing (BPO) or professional
support services market. Our core business is to provide
efficient back office administration and front line
customer services on behalf of our clients. This leaves
them to focus on the core business drivers and strategies
that position them as leaders in their markets.

we deliver these services to these markets through these divisions

Ipages 58-61

For further detailsIwww.capita.co.uk

Ipages 38-43

Ipages 44-49
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DSG international
The leading European specialist
retailer of consumer electronics
transferred the running of its
customer contact centre and
technical support services to
Capita.We have measurably
improved the quality of services
delivered, resulting in increased
customer satisfaction and reduced
costs of business.

Ipage 59

Birmingham City Council
The largest local government
authority in Europe has established
a long term partnershipwith
Capita.Togetherwe are creating
aworld class ICT framework and
supporting the ambitious
transformationof services for
the people of Birmingham.

Ipage 60

The Children’s Mutual
The children’s saving specialist
asked Capita to build and
administer a new, cost effective
service delivery platform for its
new ChildTrust Fund (CTF)
product. By delivering a state of
the art IT and administration
platform in just 10 months, we
met the launch deadline and
established a highly efficient
platform capable of supporting
this CTF and other future
charge capped products.

Ipage 60

Delivering real value
to our clients
We help organisations across the public and private
sectors to transform their services, operate more
efficiently and meet their customers’ changing needs.
The examples below will give you a flavour of what
we do.
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Leading across a range
of growing markets
We are the UK’s market leader in providing BPO services.

Our unrivalled infrastructure and capability provide us
with a strong competitive edge across our markets and
enable us to present strong propositions to clients.

Competitor rankings UK BPO market* Market share
1. Capita 21%
2.Vertex 8%
3. EDS 7%
4. Accenture 7%

We focus on the UK and Ireland where there are
significant opportunities for growth. A recent
independent survey estimated the market’s potential at
£94.8bn, split 2:1 between private and public sectors
respectively. In 2006, the total market for BPO was
estimated at £4.6bn and is forecast to grow at 9.5%
a year until 2010.*

We currently operate in 9 distinct markets where the
drivers for seeking outsourced solutions and professional
support services are strong.

We constantly expand our offering in existing markets
and broaden into complementary new market
segments. In 2006 our private/public sector split was
48%/52% (2005: 47%/53%). Over time, we expect to
move closer to the overall market’s 2:1 ratio but we will
continue to pursue the most attractive opportunities
irrespective of their market sector.

The majority of our markets contain a stable set of
responsible competitors providing a healthy marketplace
in which to bid. New entrants to our markets face
significant barriers to entry as it takes time and scale to
establish a strong presence.

Total UK BPO market p.a.* (£m)

Today

£4.6bn
Public £1.63bn 35.4%
Private £2.97bn 64.6%

Potential

£94.8bn
Public £31.7bn 33%
Private £63.1bn 67%

1

Capita’s public/private split by revenue (£m) 
5 year compound growth: 18% public, 23% private 

01

02

03

04

05

06

297394

422476

508573

616666

675761

835904

Private

48%

Public

52%

*Source: Ovum 2006
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In order to maintainCapita as a
business that can meet the needs of
all its stakeholders now and into
the future,we have created a clear,
straightforward business strategywhich
is delivered by a flexible, pragmatic
divisional operating structure.

Our business strategy
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Our goal: to deliver value to all our stakeholders
Our goal remains straightforward, to continue to develop Capita as a long term, sustainable business which
can deliver value to all our stakeholders:

pAchieving a fair return for shareholders
pDelivering operational excellence and added value for all clients
pCreating a supportive, rewarding and inspiring environment for employees
pDeveloping mutually beneficial relationships with suppliers.

both organically and through acquisition

p securing long term, recurring revenues from new and existing clients

p acquiring small to medium sized businesses that expand our existing capability and take us into new areas.

1) Generating profitable growth

through strong leadership and responsible business practices

pmaintaining a robust management and operating structure, led by a stable, inspiring team

pworking to clear financial objectives with strong financial controls and effective governance.

2) Managing growth well

for BPO and professional support services in the UK and Ireland

pseeking the best opportunities across both the public and private sectors

p focusing on our 9 chosen market sectors.

3) Targeting the fast growing market

by consistently delivering service excellence and sharing Group resources and scale benefits

paligning each business within our divisions with the Group’s overall objectives and strategy

pmaintaining a simple, pragmatic divisional structure to ensure the best resources are deployed Group-wide.

4) Maintaining performance across our divisions

Our strategic focus is on 4 core elements:



In two ways:
a) We concentrate on organic growth,

winning business from new and existing
customers in the UK and Ireland.

b) We supplement this by acquiring
businesses that broaden our skills base
and extend our market reach.

As a result, we have grown consistently
since we started – initially delivering
support services to government,
and now operating across both public
and private sectors.

Business review
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a) We drive profitable
organic growth
We aim to secure high quality, recurring revenues:
p The majority of this revenue is generated from

long term contracts that deliver multiple, integrated
support services. The length of contracts has
consistently increased and now averages 9 years.

p We also focus on single service business that rolls
over annually, has a high repeat rate or is secured
under medium to long term contracts of 2 to 7 years.

The combination of long term contracts and highly
recurring business provides strong visibility of
future revenues.

Developing new business opportunities
Our approach to securing business varies according
to the size and complexity of the opportunity:
p Our major sales team pursues complex, long term

contracts worth over £10m. It can draw on the
resources of the whole Group to design integrated
solutions tailored to individual client requirements.

p Sales teams in each business unit pursue contracts
usually focused on a single service.Where these are
worth over £10m, the major sales team may provide
extra support.

Major new contracts and extensions secured in 2006: £1.37bn (2005: £1.14bn)

Total value: £1.37bn (2005: £1.14bn)

South Oxfordshire andVale
ofWhite Horse District Councils

BBC HR

DTI

DSG international

Birmingham City Council

Northern Ireland Civil Service

SIPPs

SMMT

Birmingham City Council

Rossendale Borough Council

Westminster City Council

Prudential

Transport for London Congestion Charging Scheme

Transport for London Low Emissions Zone

Swindon Borough Council

Co-operative Insurance*

BT

Cambridgeshire County Council*

*subject to contract

Client

New

New

Re-award

New

Enlarged

New

New

Re-award

New

New

Re-award

New

Extension

New

New

New

Extension

New

20

132

120

120

+51 (new total
475)

100

100

12

88

13

50

40

90

14

140 (now
signed at 243)

250

13.5

15

Value (£m)

7

10

3

7

10

15

5

5.5

3

10

7

3

1.8

3

15

10

9

7-10

Term (years)

Professional Services

HR Solutions & Property
Consultancy

Insurance & Specialist Services

Insurance & Specialist Services

ICT &Advisory Services

HR Solutions & Property
Consultancy

Life & Pensions

ICT &Advisory Services

ICT &Advisory Services

Professional Services

Professional Services

Life & Pensions

Integrated Services

Integrated Services

Professional Services

Life & Pensions

Insurance & Specialist Services

HR Solutions & Property
Consultancy

Divison



Identifying opportunities
In the UK, public sector contracts are subject to
defined procurement processes. EU policy requires
‘fair and open competition’, and opportunities are
formally advertised or notified. In the private sector,
we actively seek out organisations where we see
opportunities to generate real business value.
We generally identify these through business
intelligence and relationships, and the procurement
process is determined by each individual customer.

Tracking success
One measure of our success in finding and developing
significant opportunities is the bid pipeline. It contains
contracts of £10m or above, where we have been
shortlisted to the last 4 or fewer: all bids are capped
at £500m to prevent very large individual contracts
from distorting the total.

Because our long term bid success rate is 1 in 3 and
our current rate is 1 in 2, the sales pipeline is a useful
indicator of future sales growth.We report the pipeline
in our full and half year results, providing a snapshot of
the size and progress of bids. Once a bidding process is
completed, the contract moves out of the pipeline which
is replenished as other bids progress to a shortlist stage.

The bid pipeline is backed by an active ‘prospect list’ of
opportunities where we are working on bids which are
yet to reach a shortlist or final bidding stage. In turn, this
is backed by a list of ‘suspects’ and relationships which
we are nurturing to generate future bid opportunities.
In February 2007, our bid pipeline was £2.6bn (February
2006: £2.2bn).

Business review
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Our business strategy How do we generate profitable growth?

Prospect list
active live bids

Suspect list
identified opportunities

Pipeline
shortlisted to  

4 or fewer

Tracking our major sales opportunities

Our long term bid success rate is 1 in 3
and our current rate is 1 in 2.
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Our business strategy How do we generate profitable growth?

Addressing opportunities selectively
Major bids are costly, in time and resources: public
sector procurement processes can take up to 2 years to
complete.We are highly selective, only bidding where
we can see clear benefits to both the client and the
Group. Critical factors include:

p a defined bid process with clear decision criteria,
set by clients with whom we can build a strong
relationship

p a fit with our core competencies of service
transformation

p limited requirement for capital investment, unless
there is a real value proposition for the Group

p fair risk/reward balance
p acceptable contractual obligations.

Responding to client requirements
Just as we are selective with the opportunities we
pursue, our clients are highly selective when engaging
an outsourcing partner. Each client looks for a unique
set of services and deliverables. Most, however, are
looking for a partner with a track record of:

p service excellence
p service improvement
p cost savings
p process efficiencies
p innovation
p depth and flexibility of expert resources
p added value services
p market expertise
p financial strength and stability.

Securing appropriate pricing and contract terms
Our major contracts are long term commitments.
On average they last over 9 years, so we need to get
our pricing and contract terms right.

As part of the bid process we make detailed risk
assessments of the contract requirements and our
service delivery proposals.We build in flexibility and
make provision for changing needs where possible.
Our extensive experience in measuring and accounting
for risks is a valuable benefit.Where we identify risks
we build them into our model and price accordingly.
We will not accept responsibility for risk that is outside
our control.

To ensure prudent pricing, we clearly separate
responsibilities. Sales teams are responsible for client
relationships and sales support teams develop pricing
and risk models. On all major bids, pricing is agreed by
the Group Board.



Business review
24

Governance Accounts

The Capita Group Plc Annual Report andAccounts 2006

Our business strategy How do we generate profitable growth?

Retaining the business we win
The most efficient way to win business is to renew
existing contracts.

We are intent on delivering value to clients so that
they want to extend their relationships with us.
As a result, we successfully renew the great majority
of contracts when they come up for renewal. In our
23 year history we have only failed to renew 2 of our
material contracts (defined as generating more than
1% of the previous year’s revenue).We have no material
rebids until 2009.

We share thinking and expertise across our operations
to ensure that we can provide clients with the highest
standards of service. By delivering operational excellence
and added value for our clients and their customers we
achieve high client rentention rates.We also create a
pool of positive referees who provide powerful support
to new sales initiatives.

We aim not just to keep existing relationships, but to
grow them. Many of our clients have awarded us
additional work, once they have experienced the quality
service and added value we deliver. Not only do we
broaden existing contracts but we are also successful
in winning multiple contracts from our clients.

We agree detailed service standards and key
performance indicators to measure the improvement
in service to clients and their customers. On our largest
contracts, strategic partnership boards help both parties
understand each other’s needs better. As a result, clients
find that outsourcing gives them more control over
support operations, not less.

Responding to competitive pressures
We believe stable, healthy competition stimulates
innovation and promotes choice. Because our range
of services is so wide, we face a variety of different
competitors in our 9 chosen markets: this reduces
our exposure to competition in any one area.

There are significant barriers to entry for new
participants in all our markets: our own knowledge
base and geographical and technical infrastructure have
taken over 20 years to build.When clients outsource
large scale functions or services they want to partner
with an organisation with a solid financial and
performance record. Our strong balance sheet and
cash flow provide reassurance that their service is in
safe hands. Our proven record of ethical and socially
responsible behaviour and strong governance is also
a competitive strength.

Priorities for 2007: generating profitable growth

Organic growth

pContinue to expand bid suspect and prospect
lists to feed pipeline

pContinue to address opportunities selectively

pMaintain bid process disciplines to secure
appropriate pricing and contract terms

p Increase focus on developing existing customer
relationships

pMaintain high customer service levels.

Impending rebids of existing material contracts*

2007 p None

2008 p None

2009 p TfL: Congestion Charging Scheme £56m per annum
p DSG international plc (Sheffield) £18m per annum

2010 p DfES: National Strategies £35m per annum

2011 p None
*Defined as generating more than 1% of previous year’s revenue
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Our business strategy How do we generate profitable growth?

b) We stimulate growth
through acquisition

Webline
TwoTen
DLA Direct*
Sinclair Henderson
Synaptic Systems
StirlingTrustees

*investment

Company

Software services
Response management
Legal services
Fund administration
Software services
Trustee services

Service

Professional Services
ICT &Advisory Services
Insurance & Specialist Services
Financial Services
Professional Services
Financial Services

Division

Main acquisitions and investments in 2006

Total spent on 11 acquisitions and investments in 2006: £48m (2005: £88m, 11 acquisitions)

Priorities for 2007: generating profitable growth

Acquisitions

pSelect acquisitions that complement or grow our
business offering and market reach

pContinue to apply rigorous criteria when selecting
and agreeing purchase price

pContinue to follow and enhance integration
procedures.

Small to medium sized acquisitions help us to enter
new markets where we can grow organically, strengthen
existing market positions and build economies of scale,
or access a new customer base. For example, we entered
the private sector in 2000 with the acquisition of IRG Plc
and swiftly built significant capabilities through a
mixture of acquisitions and contract wins. Private sector
business now represents 48% of our annual turnover.

We judge all potential acquisitions against strict
criteria, seeking targets that:
p have operations and customers in the UK

and/or Ireland
p fit with our strategy and core competencies
p generate sustainable, quality revenue
p are attractively priced, with scope to add value

for shareholders
p provide an opportunity to acquire without

competition.

We have substantial experience of integrating acquired
businesses and achieving synergies with our existing
operations. Stringent due diligence, before and after
acquisition, enables us to set clear targets for growth,
integration benefits and profit. A dedicated project team
manages the transition, rigorously applying the
processes we have developed to bring financial
procedures, ICT, HR, legal, compliance and marketing
quickly into line with our standards, using Group
systems and resources where appropriate.
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Growth needs to be steady and controlled.
We are committed to growing the business
in a transparent and socially responsible
way, ensuring that it delivers a healthy
return to investors and is sustainable for
all stakeholders over the long term.
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2) How do we manage and measure our growth?

So our growth is underpinned by:
a) Strong structure and control
b) Clear financial KPIs
c) Resource and operational controls
d) Careful risk management.

Our business strategy
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a) Strong structure and control
Our management structure and business reporting
process promotes accountability and knowledge
sharing across the Group, ensuring that management
is responsive to issues and trends within the business
and the wider marketplace.

pThe Group Board is responsible for establishing,
maintaining and reviewing the Group’s growth
strategy, financial performance and systems of
internal control

p The Divisional Executive Board sets, communicates
and monitors the application of Group-wide policies,
procedures and standards

p The Divisional Executive Directors are responsible for
the development and performance of their divisional
businesses. They work with and delegate responsibility
to their management teams.

Our business strategy How do we manage and measure our growth?

Each of our business units prepares a comprehensive
annual business plan. This includes monthly revenue
and cost forecasts for the year ahead, taking into
account new service/product developments and
changes in the competitive landscape.

The business unit financial plans feed into the Group
financial model. At divisional Monthly Operational
Business (MOB) reviews, management teams assess
each unit’s performance against plan and discuss its
ongoing development. This enables them to determine
how planned targets will be met and identify potential
difficulties at an early stage. This provides a forum to
share knowledge and challenges and to develop tactics,
reallocate resources and refresh strategies to meet or
exceed business plans.

Group Board Executive Directors
+

Divisional Executive Directors
+

Divisional Management Teams

Monthly Operational Business (MOB) reviews

Risk Committees

Business units

Group Board

Group Compliance
+

Group Risk and
Business Assurance

Group Audit Committee
+

External Auditors

Non-Executive Chairman
3 x Non-Executive Directors

+
4 x Executive Directors:

Chief Executive
2 x Joint Chief Operating Officers

Group Finance Director

Independent Governance

Internal Governance

Group Board Executive Directors
+

Divisional Executive Directors

Divisional Executive Board



Business review
28

Governance Accounts

The Capita Group Plc Annual Report andAccounts 2006

Our business strategy How do we manage and measure our growth?

b) Clear financial key
performance indicators (KPIs)
We are a financially focused business.We monitor and
challenge financial performance at all levels to probe
the health and progress of our businesses and promote
accountability. As well as profitability we use a range of
financial measures at Group level. Collectively they form
an integral part of building value for our shareholders on
a consistent basis over the long term.

Operating margins

Free cash flow

Capital expenditure

Return on capital employed (ROCE)

Gearing – interest cover

Economic profit

KPIs

Maintain and strengthen margins

Maintain strong free cash flow

Keep capital expenditure at or below 4% of revenue

Achieve steadily increasing ROCE which exceeds
our cost of capital

Maintain a conservative and efficient capital structure,
with a relatively low level of gearing

Achieve steadily increasing economic profit

Aim

12.8%

£127m

3.7%

17.1%

13x

£68m

Year end 2005

Progress

12.9%

£154m

3.6%

18.5%

9x

£89m

Year end 2006

We particularly focus on 6 KPIs:
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In 2006, we have continued our long term
trend of improving operating margins.

Operating margins
Aim: to maintain and strengthen margins.
We constantly monitor operating margins and manage
operating costs to keep the business efficient and cost
effective. This means:

p Focus on adding value and applying innovation
p Increasing economies of scale
p Unremitting focus on our cost base
p Offshoring back office activities to India
p Increasing the utilisation of our business centres
p Better use of technology.

In 2006, we have continued our long term trend
of improving operating margins (after share based
payment charge).

The Capita Group Plc Annual Report andAccounts 2006

2001

11.2

2002

12.0

2003

12.2

2004

12.2

12.8

20062005

12.9

Operating margins
Annual increase 19 bpts
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We aim to maintain strong free cash flow,
defined as operating cash flow less capital
expenditure, interest and taxation.

Cash flow
Aim: to maintain strong free cash flow, defined
as operating cash flow less capital expenditure,
interest and taxation. In 2006, we generated underlying
cash flow of £279m, representing an operating profit to
cash conversion rate of 124%. Our underlying free cash
flow increased by 21% to £154m. Our success reflects
the strength of our business model and management
approach, in particular:

p Securing timely payment terms for new contracts
p Focusing on cash generation
p Providing quality service to clients. Free cash flow (£m)

Annual growth

21%
5 year  
compound growth

38%
exceptional pension payment 

01

02

03

04

05

06

31

25

83

5056

127

154

Operating cash flow (£m)

exceptional pension payment 

Annual growth

20%
5 year  
compound growth

25%

01

02

03

04

05

06

90

117

158

50150

232

279
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We use surplus cash to add further shareholder value in
3 main ways – through acquisitions, dividends and share
buybacks:

Funding acquisitions where we see opportunities
to add value.
In 2006, we invested £48m in 11 acquisitions and our
pipeline of potential businesses remains at a healthy
level.We will continue to be extremely selective but,
notwithstanding this, we anticipate a sustained volume
of small transactions in 2007.Ipage 25

Distribution to shareholders through regular dividends.
A key element in the creationof shareholder value is
a progressivedividend policy.Over the 5years to
31December 2006,we have grownCapita’s annual
dividend at a compound rateof 32%.Our confidence in
the strength and resilienceofCapita’s businessmodel
allows us to reduce annual dividend cover for 2006 to
2.6 times.

Dividends (p) 2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
Interim dividend 2.70 2.10 1.75 1.30 1.00 0.75
Final dividend 6.30 4.90 3.60 2.70 2.00 1.50
Total dividend 9.00 7.00 5.35 4.00 3.00 2.25
Dividend cover 2.6x 2.7x 2.9x 3.3x 3.5x 3.5x

Opportunistic share buybacks to maintain an
efficient capital structure and minimise our long term
cost of capital.
In 2006, we repurchased 53m shares (representing 7.9%
issued share capital) at an average price of 464p.

Share buybacks 2006 2005
% of share capital authorised to repurchase 10% 10%
No of shares repurchased 53m 13m
Total cost £246m £50m
Average price 464p 374p
Issued share capital 617m 671m



Business review
32

Governance Accounts

The Capita Group Plc Annual Report andAccounts 2006

Capital expenditure
Aim: keep capital expenditure at or below 4%
of revenue. This helps us focus investment on the
opportunities that generate greatest shareholder
value and avoid tying up too much capital in long
term projects.

In 2006, we met this objective with net capital
expenditure being 3.6% of annual revenue.This was
achieved after significant investment in Capita’s
advanced IT platforms supporting, in particular, our
life & pensions business.

We believe capex at or below 4% is sustainable for the
foreseeable future. There are currently no indications
of significant capex requirements in our business
forecasts or bid pipeline. But we would not rule out the
possibility of exceeding 4% if we saw an exceptional
opportunity to use Capita’s financial strength as a
competitive advantage.

Return on capital employed (ROCE)
Aim: steadily increasing ROCE which exceeds our
cost of capital. This ensures that we add shareholder
value over the long term. In recent years we have
successfully widened the margin between the cost of
our capital and the returns we generate by investing it.

During 2006, the post tax return on average capital
employed improved to 18.5%.

2001

5.0

2002

6.3

2003

3.4

2004

3.6 3.6

2005 2006

3.7

Capex as % turnover

2001

11.6

9.1

2002

13.2

8.5 8.5 8.5 8.4

2003

14.6

2004

16.1*

2005 2006

17.1
18.5

8.2

Net return on capital % 
 Actual      WACC

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
PBIT (normalised) 225 183 156* 131 107* 77
Avg capital (£m) 880 776 696 645 575 464
Tax (%) 27.7 27.7 28.1 28.1 29.1 29.8

*excluding exceptional items

We have successfully widened the margin
between the cost of our capital and the returns
we generate by investing it.

Our business strategy How do we manage and measure our growth?
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Gearing
Aim: maintain a conservative and efficient capital
structure, with a relatively low level of gearing.
It is important for our clients that we are a low risk,
stable partner, particularly where we are delivering
large scale operations on their behalf. The Group has
considerable headroom to take on further debt if
necessary as indicated by the interest cover ratio and
net debt to earnings before interest, tax, depreciation
and amortisation (EBITDA). However, we would be
unlikely to incur borrowings which would reduce
interest cover below 7x.

Balance sheet gearing
2006 2005

Net debt
Bond debt (£m) 379 199
Bank facilities (deposit)/drawn (£m) (9) 19
Loan note (£m) 22 23

Total net debt (£m) 392 241
Interest cover 9x 13x
Net debt to EBITDA 1.5 1.1

Economic profit
Aim: achieve steadily increasing Group economic
profit. We are focused on delivering value for our
shareholders. An effective way of measuring this is to
assess whether after tax returns are sufficient to cover
the returns required from all our capital providers.
Group economic profit allows us to assess whether the
return generated on the average capital base is sufficient
to meet the return requirements of our investors (debt
and equity). Positive economic profit therefore means
that value has been created.

2001

12

2002

27

2003

39

2004

53

68

20062005

89

Group economic profit £m 
Annual growth 31%, 5 year compound growth 49%

2006 2005 2004 2003 2002 2001
PBIT (normalised) 225 183 156* 131 107* 77
Avg capital (£m) 880 776 696 645 575 464
Tax (%) 27.7 27.7 28.1 28.1 29.1 29.8
WACC (est%) 8.4 8.2 8.5 8.5 8.5 9.1
Capital charge (£m) (74) (64) (59) (55) (49) (42)
Tax (£m) (62) (51) (44) (37) (31) (23)
Economic profit (£m)89 68 53 39 27 12

*excluding exceptional items

Our business strategy How do we manage and measure our growth?
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c) Resource and
operational controls
Our continued growth and financial performance
depends on having the right resources in place.
To sustain our high contract win and retention rates,
we have to satisfy clients that we have the
operational scale and capability to deliver our
promises – whether on relatively simple contracts or
large scale, multi-service packages. Through the MOB
process we continuously assess the needs of each
business unit to ensure that we have the necessary
people, infrastructure and resources for current and
future development.

Each month, we monitor and review comprehensive
operational management information enabling us
to manage the business in a way that delivers our
key financial aims.

Retaining the right people

Creating extensive infrastructure

Using ICT and innovation to
add value

Ensuring effective procurement

Core operational indicators

Senior management retention (top 250 earning over £90k)
– attract and retain the appropriate level of senior
management to drive the strategic direction of the Group

Overall employee retention – attract and retain the right
people to deliver Group strategy, maintaining employee
retention at or above industry average (81.7%)

Continue to grow our infrastructure of business centres to
meet the needs of our growing business

Extend our offshore capability – have at least 10% of our
people based in India by 2009

Generate economies of scale by maximising use and
growing number of shared technology platforms

Monitor and build relationships with key strategic suppliers
through our Supplier Development Programme

Continue to audit all existing suppliers against Capita’s
standards of business – 50% of all suppliers to be audited
by December 2007

Aim

Year end 2005

92%

81%

47 business
centres:

Onshore 42
Nearshore 3
Offshore 2

1.6%

9 shared
platforms

–

Supplier
profiling
project

undertaken

Progress

Year end 2006

91%

82%

52 business
centres:

Onshore 46
Nearshore 4
Offshore 2

3%

11 shared
platforms

Introduced
comprehensive

Supplier
Development

Programme

Supplier audit
commenced
– targets set

4 key areas of attention:
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46 business centres including:

p Back office administration

pCustomer services

p Life & pensions administration

p Resourcing & training

p Share registration

p Property consultancy

pDocument management

pClaims & policy administration

pHR administration

4 business centres including:

pCustomer services

p Life & pensions administration

p Financial services

pCorporate registrars

2 business centres including:

pData validation & entry

pClaims & policy administration

p Fund management administration

pAccounting & finance processing

Retaining the right people
We now employ over 27,800 people across the UK,
Ireland, Channel Islands and India. Robust HR processes
and disciplines ensure that we have the right skills to
meet customer demand.We aim to attract and retain
the right people.We understand the commercial value
of a rewarding and positive working environment.
And we build skills and provide career development
opportunities across the Group, to create a solid base
for succession planning. Our senior management team
is strong and stable, with an annual retention rate
exceeding 91%. Our overall employee retention rate
is 82%.Ipages 50-53

Creating an extensive infrastructure
Group infrastructure: Our extensive infrastructure
of business centres onshore in the UK, nearshore in
the Channel Islands and Ireland and offshore in India,
built over 2 decades allows us to deliver services in
the most appropriate and cost effective way.
Through accessing centres of expertise, economies
of scale and a choice of operating cost models, we
can deliver innovative and appropriate solutions to
suit each client’s aims and preferences. As we increase
our economies of scale through our growing
infrastructure, we can drive down our own operating
costs, add greater value to our clients and increase our
competitive advantage.

Onshore Nearshore Offshore

Offshore infrastructure: Our offshore operations
in India, established in 2003, are a key and growing
element of our blended operating model.We now have
over 800 employees in our 2 sites in Mumbai, equating
to a seat capacity of 1,300. By the end of 2007, we will
have secured a 3rd site in a 2nd Indian city to build
seat capacity further to 3,000 with 1,500 employees,
and to strengthen business continuity. By 2009, we
anticipate in the region of 10% of our people will be
based in India.

Our offshore operations are being used to make
significant savings, provide flexibility, raise service
quality and deliver increased productivity. Capita is
directly benefiting from offshoring some of our own
back office functions, such as financial and HR
administration; by transferring administration
operations that support multiple client groups, such
as registrar services, client account reconciliation and
SIPP administration; and by delivering some back office
administration processes for existing long term
contracts. Our ability to offer a standalone offshoring
or blended onshore/offshore operating model to new
clients also provides a strong, competitive proposition
and will continue to be the main driver of growth of
our offshore operations.
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Using ICT and innovation
to add value
We aim for continuous improvement in our own
business models and our services to clients, by
combining the best in ICT and innovation with proven
business processes.We foster innovative thinking and
we have the skills to translate innovation into practical
working solutions.With no ties to specific technology
platforms or manufacturers, we are free to source or
develop the most appropriate ICT solutions for each
business and client. This enables us to provide clients
with the best possible service and economies of scale,
giving us a highly competitive edge when bidding for
and extending contracts.

We have also invested in developing technology
platforms which deliver common, non-location specific
services for multiple clients from one infrastructure.
With shared facilities, expert resources and technology
platforms we can create considerable economies
of scale.We have developed shared platforms for
administering company registrar services, investment
funds, unit trusts, trustee services, ChildTrust Funds,
self invested personal pensions, occupational pensions,
life & pensions services, insurance claims, HR services
and local government revenues and benefits.

Ensuring effective procurement
Effective procurement and supplier management
gives us access to the right external resources on
competitive terms. Our scale enables us to negotiate
favourable terms and develop strategic relationships
with our suppliers.

Our preferred supplier programme and process for
assessing new and developing existing suppliers,
ensures that they meet our own corporate responsibility,
diversity and performance standards. As part of the
bid process, clients often require us to demonstrate
stringent and transparent procurement processes and
standards in our supply chain.

We foster innovative thinking and we have
the skills to translate innovation into practical
working solutions.
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d) Careful risk management
Systems and procedures are in place across the Group
to identify, assess and mitigate major business risks that
could impact the delivery of our growth strategy.
Monitoring our exposure to risk is an integral part of
the MOB process. Across our regulated businesses this
is supplemented by formally constituted committees.

At Group level, risk management is independently
facilitated and challenged by the Group Risk and
Business Assurance function, which reports to the
Group Finance Director and independently to the
Audit Committee.Ipages 27 and 70

Contract pricing and
operational resources

pGroup Board involvement in all major contracts
pAlignedwith core competencies and financial targets
pRigorous pricing and risk assessment, separate from

sales process

pSecure appropriate pricing and contract terms to ensure
fair risk/reward profile

pDetailed, tailored transition process to ensure continuity of
service and retentionof employees.

Acquisitions – quality
and appropriate
pricing

pAligned with core competencies/financial targets
p Rigorous, risk based due diligence process

p Fit with strategy and pricing is subject to consideration and
approval by the Group Board

pClear transition process to ensure adoption of Group
policies and procedures.

Risk category Risk management and mitigation

Operational risk p Escalated via the MOB process and Risk Committees to
Divisional Executive and Group Boards as appropriate

p Processes and appropriate multiple operating performance
indicators in place across all businesses/contracts

p Processes and reports in place to highlight, in particular,
business processes, employees, health & safety and
environment issues

p Supporting software tools are being rolled out across
our businesses.

Regulatory and
legislative impacts

pMonitored by Group Compliance function reporting directly
to the Group Finance Director and independently to the
Audit Committee

p Review and communications process for regulatory and
legislative change that impacts Group-wide

p Separate challenge and review process for businesses
operating in a regulatory environment. These businesses
have comprehensive processes embedded into their
business functions to address specific regulatory
requirements.

Fraud issues pMitigating policies and procedures are disseminated by the
Group Risk and Business Assurance function in conjunction
with Group Compliance

p The Group has invested in a tailored fraud awareness
training package that is being rolled out across all business
units to enhance fraud management.

Financial control pCapital expenditure is subject to rigorous budgetary
controls and spending above specified levels requires
Group sign off

p Financial performance of each business unit is monitored
each month and actual progress against plan is challenged
by Divisional Executive Board

pTreasury management – theGroup’s principal financial
instruments for fundraising are bonds, unsecured loan notes,
finance leases andoverdrafts.TheGroup has various other
financial instruments such as trade creditors anddebtors
that arise directly from its operations.Where appropriate,
theGroup may also use derivatives to hedge its exposure to
fluctuations in interest rate and foreign exchange rates. It is
theGroup’s policy that no trading in financial instruments
will be undertaken.

Attracting and
retaining employees

p Investment in training and development
pCompetitive, appropriate incentive schemes
p Succession planning is a key element of the MOB process

pContinual development of our robust screening and
reference process for all employees.

Maintaining
reputation

p Robust process for handling and escalating
enquiries/complaints from all stakeholders at both a
business/contract and Group level – primarily clients,
media, public and suppliers

pCentralised proactive and reactive PR team to promote
Group and separate businesses and to manage
communications regarding issues.

Appropriate supplier
relationships

pActive supplier engagement to assess and align suppliers
with Group values and processes

p Supplier registration and approvals processes are in place.
A new Supplier Development Programme for key strategic
suppliers is being developed and implemented during 2007.
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Wework across a broad rangeof
markets characterised by strong growth,
allowing us to be selective in our approach
to newopportunities.We are market
leader in a number of sectors and face
a rangeof different competitors across
eachof our markets.
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3)Which markets do we target?
Our business strategy



Central government
Across the public sector there is constant pressure
to increase efficiency while simultaneously enhancing
service quality. As Government departments are set
ever more demanding financial and service targets,
they look to the private sector to help them deliver
organisational change and service transformation.
Market growth of 11% is expected out to 2010.*
Our track record of successfully delivering complex
and high profile transformational projects, supported
by effective ICT and process re-engineering, puts us
in pole position to compete for future Government
initiatives.

Drivers

pGershon Efficiency Review and the 2004 and 2007
Spending Reviews create pressure for shared services –
merging transactional functions, standardising and
simplifying processes and sharing expertise

p Imperative to improve quality of service delivery

pGovernment calls for citizen-centred approach to service
delivery following Sir DavidVarney’s report ‘Service
Transformation: A better service for citizens and businesses,
a better deal for the taxpayer’ in the 2006 Pre Budget Review

pNeed to improve productivity through process redesign,
better use of technology and management of absenteeism

p Relocation of public sector functions following Lyons Review
calls for rationalisation of assets and improved HR and ICT
systems to link geographically dispersed offices.

The Capita Group Plc Annual Report andAccounts 2006
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p Integrated Services
pHR Solutions & Property

Consultancy
p Life & Pensions
p Insurance & Specialist Services
p ICT &Advisory Services

Public sector

1

2

3

56

7

8
9

4

p BPO
pCustomer services
pAdministration and support
pHuman resources
p ICT
p Property consultancy
p Finance and treasury
pConsultancy

Services Divisions

Our 9 chosen markets are:
2006 2005

Revenue by market (%) % %

1. Central government 14 16

2. Local government 17 15

3. Education 14 14

4. Transport 6 7

5. Health 1 1

6. Life & pensions 8 6

7. Insurance 10 12

8. Financial services 4
29

9. Private sector 26

Public/private split
52%/48%
(2005: 53%/47%)
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Local government
Transforming public services for the benefit of
citizens and communities is an explicit local
government priority. This is driving local government
to seek alternative ways of providing services and
creating opportunities for the private sector to help
develop new delivery models.With over 20 years’
experience in this marketplace and a UK-wide network
of multi-service centres, we are uniquely placed to
help local authorities achieve effective change.
Industry analysts forecast market growth of 9%
a year to 2010.*

Drivers

pGershon Efficiency Review and the 2004 and 2007
Spending Reviews create pressure for shared services

p Local government’s response toVarney ServiceTransformation
report is to focus increasingly on new localism

p Local strategic partnership models and local area agreements:
councils working with other public agencies, other councils,
private and voluntary organisations to achieve common goals
supported by shared services

p The Local GovernmentWhite Paper ‘Strong and Prosperous
Communities’, which encourages local government to be a
‘place shaper’ commissioner rather than always being a direct
provider of services

p Focus on economic and social regeneration of local
communities.

Education
The Government has committed further funding to
improve educational standards and raise accessibility:
spending worth 5.6% of GDP is allocated for
2007–08, but there is a need to ensure value for
money. Government education strategy is focused
on working in partnership across the public, private
and voluntary sectors to deliver high quality results.
We are particularly well placed to contribute because
we combine ground-level experience in schools and
higher education with strategic support for local
authorities and the DfES. Industry analysts are
predicting market growth rates of 7.6% out to 2010.*

Drivers

p Efficiency targets of at least £4.3bn by 2007-08, of which
50% must be reinvested in front line activities

p Pressure for more shared services across the sector

p Children’s Services Agenda – the embedding of Children’s
Trusts linking education, social, health and other services

p Local authorities moving towards a commissioning role,
with less emphasis on delivering services themselves

pGovernment commitment to investing in infrastructure
and ICT through Building Schools for the Future programme

p Focus on ICT to reduce bureaucracy, enhance assessment
and improve financial management

p The Leitch Review of skills and the Government’s policies for
further education and training will create new opportunities.

Public sector

p Professional Services
pHR Solutions & Property

Consultancy
p Financial Services
p ICT &Advisory Services

pBPO
pCustomer services
pAdministration and support
pHuman resources
p ICT
p Property consultancy
p Finance and treasury
pConsultancy

Services Divisions

p Integrated Services
p Professional Services
pHR Solutions & Property

Consultancy
p Insurance & Specialist Services
p ICT &Advisory Services

pBPO
pCustomer services
pAdministration and support
pHuman resources
p ICT
p Property consultancy
p Finance and treasury
pConsultancy

Services Divisions
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Health
NHS funding is set to increase by an average of 7%
a year between 2005-06 and 2007-08. But there
are significant financial pressures for organisational
change through initiatives such as shared services and
back office rationalisation. These pressures include
targeted savings of £6.5bn a year by 2007-08,
including £0.5bn from rationalisation under theArm’s
Length Body Review (ALBR), for reinvestment into
frontline services. Outsourced services and public
private partnerships are increasingly seen as playing
a key role in capacity building and delivery of health
commissioning. Industry analysts predict annual
market growth of 44% to 2010.*

Drivers

p Funding pressure and 2007 Spending Review

p Enhancement of commissioning capacity

p Rationalisation and modernisation of support services
resulting from reconfiguration of Strategic Health
Authorities and Primary CareTrusts

p Roll-out of Connecting for Health programme is requiring
support to optimise use of new systems and make better
use of human capital

p Rationalisation of existing property and reinvestment in new
property to improve work environment and patient care

p Streamlining clinical administration and achieving the
18 week target from first appointment to treatment.

Transport
Total Government expenditure on transport will
exceed £37bn between 2005 and 2008 – an average
annual real-term increase of 4.5%.A key priority is
road congestion, and the Government has committed
funds to exploring innovative ways of reducing local
traffic. The private sector is already well established
in this area and our delivery of the Central London
Congestion Charging Scheme is now a proven model.
Our offering spans a broad range of transport
consultancy, from strategic and policy issues to
effective design and delivery of complete transport
management solutions. Industry analysts predict
market growth of 7% out to 2010.*

Drivers

pNew Public ServiceAgreement to cut urban congestion
by 2010–11

pGovernment commitment to road pricing schemes

p Focus on local transport needs with public consultation

pGovernment commitment to building road and transport
infrastructure

pUse of technology to improve network management.

Public sector

p Integrated Services
p Professional Services
pHR Solutions & Property

Consultancy
p Financial Services
p ICT &Advisory Services

pBPO
pCustomer services
pAdministration and support
pHuman resources
p ICT
p Property consultancy

Services Divisions

pHR Solutions & Property
Consultancy

p ICT &Advisory Services

pBPO
pAdministration and support
pHuman resources
p ICT
p Property consultancy
p Finance and treasury
pConsultancy

Services Divisions
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Private sector
Right across the private sector, companies’
competitiveness depends on unrelenting
improvement in productivity and customer service.
Increasingly, they recognise outsourcing of non-core
activities as an indispensable part of achieving this –
adding real value to their performance and allowing
them to focus resources on their central areas of
expertise. Opportunities in this market continue to
grow as the proven competitive benefits of
outsourcing make it an increasingly acceptable
alternative to in-house provision. Capita is well
established in the private sector, with numerous
clients across a wide range of industries.

Our 3 largest private sector markets are life and
pensions, insurance, and other financial services.
We have also been particularly successful in securing
business with organisations in the retail and
telecommunications industries.

Drivers

p Pressure to reduce costs while improving customer service
and retention

pNeed to introduce new products to market faster to meet
changing customer requirements

pNeed for better access to expert operational and
advisory capabilities

p Competition for skills requires focus on employee
support and benefits

pDrive to improve productivity requires better management
of sickness and absenteeism

p Increasing regulatory and legislative requirements – UK
business views these as the greatest obstacle to growth (CBI).

Life and pensions
Continuing to face a highly competitive and regulated
environment, many life and pensions companies are
adopting new service models to increase their focus,
efficiency and flexibility while maintaining service
quality. This is stimulating demand for outsourcing,
which industry analysts expect to grow by 16%
annually across the sector to 2010.* Our deep
experience across both open and closed book
business gives us a strong proposition in this market.
Our specialist skills and software are also proving
increasingly attractive to occupational pension
providers, as pension scheme structures become
ever more complex.

Drivers

pNeed to reduce operating costs while improving performance
and customer retention

p Pressure on administration processes from increasingly
complex regulation and initiatives such asTreating
Customers Fairly

p Consumer and adviser demand for choice requires ability to
bring new vehicles, such as wrap products, to market quickly

p Adviser demand for new models to reduce reliance on upfront
commission

p Response to rapidly changing distribution marketplace

pNeed by providers to develop closer relationships with
advisers through the use of technology and ‘straight through
processing’

pNeed for specialist skills – and process and systems
enhancement – to comply with new pensions legislation and
support the shift from final salary pension schemes to money
purchase schemes.

.
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Private sector

p Integrated Services
p Professional Services
pHR Solutions & Property

Consultancy
p Financial Services
p Life & Pensions
p Insurance & Specialist Services
p ICT &Advisory Services

pBPO
pCustomer services
pAdministration and support
pHuman resources
p ICT
p Property consultancy
p Finance and treasury
pConsultancy

Services Divisions

p Life & Pensions
p Financial Services
p Professional Services
p ICT &Advisory Services

pBPO
pCustomer services
pAdministration and support
p ICT
p Finance and treasury

Services Divisions
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Insurance
The UK insurance industry continues to operate in a
challenging environment. Companies face increasing
regulatory requirements while striving to cut costs,
improve efficiency and enhance customer service.
The rapid growth of internet sales, industry
consolidation and intensifying international
competition are driving dramatic shifts in consumer
expectations, pricing and service delivery.
As organisations seek ways to compete more
effectively, they are turning increasingly to
outsourcing to deliver both specialised technical
solutions and management of non-core services and
operations. Annual growth of 6% is forecast in this
market to 2010.*

Drivers

pNeed for effective administration processes to address
complex regulation

pNeed to reduce operating costs and improve customer service

pOpportunities to establish strategic partnerships for low risk
service improvement and business transformation

p Focus on improving management of claims costs, in particular
through fraud and leakage prevention

pNeed to meet customer demands for more transparency,
information, flexibility and value

p Continued rise of affinity brands – emerging interest from
internet service providers and utilities alongside growing
numbers of retailers.

Financial services
These are exciting times for the financial sector. Across
the board growth has been driven by high levels of
M&A work, IPOs and retail investor activity. New
markets are opening up and regulatory changes
abroad, such as Sarbanes-Oxley, are driving work into
London. Faced with ever fiercer competition and
growing regulation, product providers are
concentrating on developing and distributing
competitive products – and are increasingly keen to
outsource back office functions. Industry analysts
estimate growth of 7% annually to 2010.* Our
uniquely broad range of services enables us to offer
providers a single view of their customers across
their whole product range.

Drivers

p Continuing regulatory change encourages companies to
seek partners to assist with managing their compliance risk

p Regulatory change creates opportunities for our
customers to launch a plethora of new products –
all requiring administration

p Regulatory change creates requirements for us to do more for
our customers and enables us to create new premium services

p Structural changes in markets are creating new outsourcing
opportunities

p The pre-eminence of the London markets creates new
opportunities – last year, 25% of companies listing in London
were US based and 40% of companies listing onAIM were
overseas based.

Private sector

p Insurance & Specialist Services
p ICT &Advisory Services

pBPO
pCustomer services
pAdministration and support
p ICT

Services Divisions

p Financial Services
p Life & Pensions
p Insurance & Specialist Services
p ICT &Advisory Services

pBPO
pCustomer services
pAdministration and support
pHuman resources
p ICT
p Finance and treasury
pConsultancy

Services Divisions



Each business across theGroup’s
operating divisions is alignedwith the
Group’s overall objectives and strategy.
They are managedwithin a flexible
divisional structurewhich ensures that
the right resources are deployed for
each business and contract.
Thedivisional structure fosters a clear,
individual focus for each businesswhile
providing ready access to theGroup’s
wider resources, expertise and economies
of scale.The common aim is to deliver
service excellence and generate
profitable growth.
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Our business strategy
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Maintaining a simple,
pragmatic divisional structure
that delivers our strategy
We have adopted a pragmatic, flexible divisional
operating structure which is regularly refreshed.
We move businesses, contracts and managers across
the divisions to ensure the best match of leadership
and resources as the Group grows.

We are currently organised into 7 operating
divisions, plus a Group sales and marketing division.
Each operating division brings together activities with
similar operating models or client bases. Each major
contract secured by the Group sales team is managed
within the division which best meets its operational,
regulatory and management requirements.

Support services, such as legal and commercial, property
management, procurement and HR, report directly
to Group Board Executive Directors to ensure robust
control and consistent standards and benefits are
shared across the Group.

The operating divisions, and the businesses within them,
all follow the Group strategy of securing strong,
sustainable growth both organically and by acquiring
complementary businesses.

Within the divisions, each business produces its own
annual business plan outlining specific strategies and
considerations and setting performance targets for the
following year.

The success of our businesses comes from the individual
focus of each business, leveraged by their ready access
to divisional and Group initiatives and resources.
This potent combination means that all our businesses
are able to: share operational skills and resources; benefit
from economies of scale; create and deploy innovation;
and harness the best of ICT and business processes.

p BBCTVL
p Criminal Records Bureau
p TfL Congestion Charging
p Central government services
p Administration services
p Business travel
p Offshore

p Integrated HR solutions
p Resourcing
p Veredus
p Capita Symonds

p Insurance services
– Outsourced solutions
– Specialist services
– Teceris

p Legal services
p Occupational health
p Customer contact centres

– Eircom
– DSGi

p Service Birmingham
p Harrow Council
p Print and fulfilment
p Advisory services
p IT services
p MissionAssurance &Testing

p Shareholder services
p Financial administration services
p Trust services
p Sector

p Life & pensions
p Capita Hartshead
p SIP services

p Software services
– Private sector
– Education
– Local government

p Local government services
p Strategic children’s services
p Local government partnerships

– Blackburn with Darwen BC
– Swindon BC

Our business strategy How do we maintain performance across our divisions?

Integrated Services Professional Services HR Solutions & Property
Consultancy

Financial Services

Life & Pensions Insurance & Specialist Services ICT &Advisory Services
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Our business strategy How do we maintain performance across our divisions?

Integrated Services

contains all of our major
central government
contracts and our
offshore operations.

2006 2005
£m £m

Turnover 301 263
Operating profit 47 42
Operating margin 15.6% 16.0%
Capex 16.6 14.0

2006 2005
£m £m

Turnover 192 169
Operating profit 37 33
Operating margin 19.3% 19.5%
Capex 6.7 4.7

2006 2005
HR Solutions £m £m

Turnover 206 202
Operating profit 18 15
Operating margin 8.7% 7.4%
Capex 4.4 1.8

2006 2005
Property Consultancy £m £m

Turnover 199 191
Operating profit 13 16
Operating margin 6.5% 8.4%
Capex 3.1 4.1

p TV Licensing: introduction of new
process and technology solutions,
including use of our offshore
facilities for some back office
processing, delivering both
improved productivity as well
as cost efficiencies for Capita

p Existing contract extended to
administer Central London
Congestion Charging and the
Western Extension Zone (WEZ)
to 2009, as well as a
supplemental agreement to

administer the Low Emissions
Zone (LEZ).WEZ was smoothly
implemented on 19 February
2007 in an effective and well run
process

pCRB: Development of
e-infrastructure which will
enable the CRB to launch more
electronic products and services
to achieve the goals outlined in its
5 year strategy and business plan.
The first stage of this, Online
Tracking, was successfully

Professional Services

comprises our local
government services
and all our software
businesses as well as
Capita Strategic
Children’s Services.

pCapita Local Government
Services performed strongly in
the year, securing major
partnerships with Rossendale
Borough Council and South
Oxfordshire &Vale ofWhite
Horse District Councils and
winning administration and
customer services business from
new and existing clients, including
Bristol and Edinburgh City
Councils and Barking and
Dagenham Council

p Software Services – our local
government service and software
businesses are working together
to support authorities with the
shared services agenda

p Following the introduction of the
Government’s ‘Every Child
Matters: Change for Children’
strategy, we reviewed our service
offering in this area and are now
recognised as leading providers of
both consultancy and interim

HR Solutions & Property
Consultancy

comprises our resourcing
and property services
operations. To provide
greater transparency they
are reported separately.

p Integrated HR Solutions:
2006 has seen a leap forward in
the development of our
integrated HR solutions business,
with the commencement of the
BBC and Northern Ireland Civil
Service contracts and the
establishment of an HR
administration centre in Northern
Ireland. Our ability to provide an

integrated solution spanning
HR strategy, resourcing and
payroll administration, learning
and development and
outplacement positions us
uniquely in this market

Progress across our
divisions in 2006
As demonstrated by the Group’s financial results, 2006
business performance across our divisions was strong,
driven by both organic growth and acquisitions.

pNow the 4th largest
multidisciplinary property
consultancy in the UK (2005: 5th)

p Selected by Cambridgeshire
County Council to deliver
property consultancy services,
worth approximately £15m over
7 to 10 years

pWe are currently designing 4
educationAcademies in Enfield,
Bristol and Grimsby (2) and
project managing a further 11.
We are also providing a
multidisciplinary range of
design and education services
for the £250m Lancashire
Schools ‘Building Schools for
the Future’ programme

Division Performance 2006 developments
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pContinued delivery of operational
excellence for clients, thereby
strengthening client relationships
and gaining vital references for
future opportunities

pContinued focus on introducing
innovation and alternative service
delivery models, including
offshoring, to increase quality and
efficiency across contracts

p Focus on employee retention and
training to maintain consistency
of service for our long term
clients

pCloser working with the Group
SalesTeam to identify new
sales opportunities, to extend
relationships and explore service
delivery models.

pMaintain market share in the local
government and education
software markets through
continued development of new
and innovative products to keep
track with changing requirements

p Expand software services
private sector offering

p Leverage marketing and sales
across local government through
joint initiatives with other Capita
businesses working in this market

p Explore opportunities and
synergies across private sector
software and document
management and imaging
services.

pOur resourcing businesses
continue to perform well.
Capita Resourcing has
experienced good growth,
winning new business and
successfully extending existing
managed services contracts
with BAA and NATS. Capita
Education Resourcing
maintained market share and
increased its further education
supply business by 117%

pVeredus, our search and selection
business, secured a number of
new and existing clients including
National Assembly forWales,
DTI and theArts Council.

p Focus on smooth transfer
and implementation of new
integrated HR contracts

pContinue to develop value added
services to further expand our
portfolio

pUtilise offshore capability
where appropriate

pContinue working with Group
sales to sell integrated HR
propositions as separate
contracts and as part of wider
BPO partnerships

pContinue to seek synergies across
resourcing businesses and focus
on managed resourcing
partnerships to secure longer
term relationships.

p Successful integration of acquired
architecture practices, Ruddle
Wilkinson and Church Lukas

pAwarded major consultant of
the year at the New Civil
Engineer Magazine/Association
for Consulting and Engineering
Consultant of theYear Awards
2006.

p Increase work with local
authorities to maximise returns
from their property
estate/investment

pContinue to work closely with
Group sales to provide added
value propositions as part of
wider transformation
partnership opportunities

pContinue to foster close working
across property consultancy
disciplines and share client
relationships to accelerate
organic growth

p Increase presence on
procurement frameworks to
expand access to opportunities
across wider markets.

2007 Priorities and challenges

launched in January 2007,
enabling customers to track
applications through the
Disclosure process

pCapita Business Travel:
Capita Lonsdale, acquired in
November 2005, has provided
a firm footprint in this market.
We acquired an additional travel
administration business in
January 2007 to enhance our
service offering and to extend our
client reach

pOffshoring:We have successfully
transferred work from existing
clients and Capita Group
businesses to India, resulting
in increased productivity and
flexibility due to a demonstrably
high quality and flexible team
of employees.

management and software
support to children's services
authorities

p Integration of Quay and
Webline, software to deliver
electronic trading for providers
and advisers, developed in
conjunction with life & pensions,
insurance and financial services

pWe broadened this proposition
in 2006 by acquiring Synaptic
Systems, a leading provider
of online life, pensions and
investment research.
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Financial Services

contains our shareholder,
financial and trust
administration and
treasury services
businesses.

2006 2005
£m £m

Turnover 121 98
Operating profit 31 24
Operating margin 25.6% 24.5%
Capex 3.6 1.8

2006 2005
£m £m

Turnover 184 115
Operating profit 23 14
Operating margin 12.5% 12.2%
Capex 18.4 15.1

2006 2005
£m £m

Turnover 283 254
Operating profit 31 24
Operating margin 11.0% 9.4%
Capex 5.3 5.3

2006 2005
£m £m

Turnover 252 145
Operating profit 25 15
Operating margin 9.9% 10.3%
Capex 4.9 2.9

pOur operations supporting
the financial services sector
have performed superbly,
demonstrated by the growth
in our fund and unit trust
administration business.
During the year, we more
than doubled funds under
administration – which now
exceed £30bn

pGrowth has come organically,
through acquisition, by increasing
our product range and by
entering new markets including
Jersey and Dublin for offshore
funds

p Structural changes in the industry
are increasingly driving demand
for outsourcing solutions.
We provide a wide range of fund
administration services including
a hosting solution for fund
managers. Under this

Life & Pensions

comprises all our life &
pensions businesses
including open and
closed book, occupational
pensions and SIPP
administration.

pWe are the leading outsourcing
provider in this area with an
estimated 39% market share of
contracts let.We currently
administer 4.5m life, savings &
pensions policies and this market
continues to be very active

p SIPP administration is a strong
growth area of the pensions
market.Our SIPP business
currently administers self invested
personal pensions for a number of

leading life and investment firms
including Scottish Life, St. James’s
Place and MetLife

pOur new Prudential contract,
delivering administration services
from Belfast to Prudential’s UK life
and pensions operations,
transferred smoothly at the
beginning ofOctober and already
progress has been made in
improving service quality and
efficiency

Insurance & Specialist
Services

comprises specialist
services and outsourced
solutions for the insurance
market, occupational
health services and
outsourced customer
service centres.

pDSG international plc:
awarded further contract by
DSGi to deliver telephone based
technical support from DSGi’s
UK and Nordic technical support
centre, based in Nottingham.
The partnership was awarded
best outsourcing relationship and
DSGi’s contact centre in Sheffield,
managed by Capita, was awarded
best outsourced contact centre at
the Customer Contact Excellence
Awards 2006.

pOur contracts with eircom are
progressing well. In 2006, the call
centre managed by Capita on
behalf of eircom won a number of
awards including best call centre
with less than 250 agents in the
world at the Contact Centre
WorldAwards, contact centre of
the year and best training and
telemarketing programmes at the
Irish Contact CentreAwards

ICT & Advisory Services

contains our ICT business
which supports theGroup’s
operations and external
clients aswell as our
advisory business.

p Service Birmingham – Our ICT
led transformation partnership
with Birmingham City Council is
progressing well with measurable
service quality improvements and
significant savings already
achieved

pHarrow Council: Successfully
launched new Management
Information System (MIS) and
Enterprise Resource Planning
(ERP) systems helping to improve
accessibility to information and
streamline services

Division Performance 2006 developments

Our business strategy How do we maintain performance across our divisions?
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pMaintain high levels of
compliance across the business
and develop solutions which
help clients meet increasingly
onerous regulatory requirements

pContinue to work with other parts
of the business, notably Life &
Pensions, to provide a single
provider solution covering
both policy and underlying
investment administration

pContinue to drive margin growth
from leveraging our scale and
operating model

pContinue to expand our
nearshore operations in Ireland
and Jersey

p Pursue further appropriate
acquisition opportunities.

pMaintain high levels of compliance
across the business anddevelop
solutionswhich help clients meet
increasingly onerous regulatory
requirements

pAchieve further economies of scale
by processing a greater number
of contracts throughour
existing infrastructure

pAchieve a smooth transition
of services fromCo-operative
Insurance

pContinue todevelopour
technology platforms to assist
clientswith bringing new products
to market faster

pContinue to build offshore
capability into existing contracts
and new proposals

pContinue to grow presence in
occupational benefit consultancy
and actuarial services.

pOccupational Health is
performingwell, winning contracts
with a number of new corporate
clients.We now support over
2 million employees in theUK,
representing 22%of the market
(Occupational Health Market
Development Report, 2005)

pWorking with Life & Pensions,
Financial Services and Software
Services to extend our joint
service offering to providers by
giving access to general insurance
products via our BDML capability

pCapita Insurance Services was
awarded BPO service provider
of the year at the National
OutsourcingAssociation
Awards 2006.

pMaintain high levels of
compliance across the regulated
and legal businesses and develop
solutions which help clients meet
increasingly onerous regulatory
requirements

p Focus on cross selling additional
services to existing clients

p Focus on developing innovative
solutions to support our clients’
business plans and changes in
their business environments

pContinued investment in
enhanced technology and shared
technology platforms

p Position the business to compete
successfully for opportunities in
changing markets, such as Lloyds
of London and insurance broking.

pCapita IT Services – continues to
support both external clients and
internal contracts and businesses.
Secured contract extension with
Society of Motor Manufacturers
andTraders (SMMT) in a contract
worth £12m over 5.5 years

pCapita Advisory Services
continues to support the Group's
wider BPO offering as well as
securing new business with
external clients across the public
and private sectors. In 2006,
this included Nottingham City
Council, Egg, Marks & Spencer
Money and Sport England.

pContinue to deliver and expand
local government transformation
partnerships

pContinued development of shared
ICT platforms

pComplete final stageof the
data consolidation project
(commenced in 2005) to improve
Group-wide ICT service availability
and provide scalable solutions for
additionalmajor contracts.

2007 Priorities and challenges

arrangement, the fund manager
outsources the administration
of 39 out of 40 functions to
Capita. The manager retains
the core function of investment
management

pCapita Registrars has
administered 7 out of 10 of the
UK’s largest flotations

p Successfully transferred and
developed services that could
be delivered at greatly reduced
cost with high service standards
from our operations in India.
Capita Financial Services is
currently the largest internal user
of our offshoring facilities and is
an excellent internal reference.

pCreated a joint proposition across
life & pensions, insurance and
financial services to enhance the
interface between providers and
distributors, enabling products
to be brought to market swiftly
and to drive down the cost
of distribution

pCapita Hartshead continues to
perform strongly with 28% of the
current outsourced market and
12% of the overall occupational
pension scheme market.

Our business strategy How do we maintain performance across our divisions?
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We aim to attract, develop and retain
talented, ambitious people so that we
have the resources we need to help our
clients and grow our business.To do this
successfully, we aim to makeCapita a safe,
open, friendly, positive and rewarding place
to work.Within a clear financial framework,
we believe in giving responsibility for the
day to day running of our business to the
managers and employees who deliver our
frontline services.
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How do we manage and inspire our people?
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Our people are key to
our development
Driving the strategic direction set by the Group
Board is a team of some 250 senior managers.
They are responsible for delivering growth across the
Group and maintaining smooth operations and high
service levels. They focus on ensuring that the necessary
procedures, infrastructure and employees are in place.
Their energy and leadership are key to creating a
productive working environment.

Our people are the engine room driving our success.
Their hard work and commitment to service delivery
are vital to meeting client expectations and supporting
our growth.

21 years ago we had 33 people; today we have some
27,800, with numbers almost doubling in the last
5 years. This rapid growth has come from:

pDirect recruitment as a result of overall business
growth and to serve new greenfield outsourced
service contracts

p Employee transfers from customers under
outsourcing contracts

p Employee transfers as a result of acquisitions.

How do we manage and inspire our people?
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Our people are the engine
room driving our success.

pAttract the right people with the skills to
deliver quality service for our clients

pRetain and develop them

pManage and inspire them

Across all our divisions we aim to:

Employees by location

1 Onshore

2 Nearshore

3 Offshore

12 393.7%

3.3%

3.0%

All figures as at end February

Employee numbers

17,000

19,000

23,000

25,000

27,800

03

04

05

06

07

27,800



Attracting the right people
As the Group has evolved, the opportunities available
to employees have grown, making us increasingly
attractive to people looking for a challenging and varied
career. Our success and financial strength also help by
enabling us to offer a stable and inspiring workplace.

We have created an environment which rewards
performance. Remuneration packages across the
Group are set at levels that keep us competitive in each
part of the business. For our senior people, responsible
for the overall direction and performance of the Group
or its component parts, a significant element of their
financial reward is linked to the financial success of
the business.

Our core values encourage fairness and respect across
the business.

During 2006 we published a new combined equality
and diversity policy covering all anti-discrimination
requirements including age, sex, race, religious
beliefs and gender. Our policies are designed to
support and comply with all relevant UK, European
and Indian human rights and employment legislation.
These policies are embedded in our training and
operational procedures.

Because many of our operations involve sensitive or
regulated services we have rigorous recruitment
processes and controls to protect against fraud, theft
and other wrongdoing.

Over two-thirds of our employees have transferred to
Capita through outsourcing contracts or acquisitions.
They bring a variety of cultures and working practices
to the Group.We have evolved highly refined and
supportive transfer procedures and our managers are
trained in implementing strategies to develop and inspire
people. The results are evident in improved sickness and
attrition levels and transformed service standards.

Retaining and developing people
To maintain our growth we need to demonstrate
our ability to deliver consistent, reliable service.
An essential element of this is retaining key people
and providing appropriate training.

We invest in giving our employees the right skills to
deliver quality service, through 3 main types of training:
pSpecific skills
pPersonal development
pProfessional qualifications.

All training is delivered by the most appropriate
channel – online, buddying, coaching or group
instruction with the majority delivered by our
own training business.

As part of our commitment to equal opportunities,
and in recognition of the needs of our diverse
workforce, Capita has adopted a family-friendly
approach.This encourages flexibility and enables our
employees to manage the demands of their job and
home. Capita offers flexible working arrangements
which benefit both the organisation and employees.
These include part-time hours, home working, job
sharing, term time working and flexitime.

We have a comprehensive suite of flexible benefits and
put great emphasis on encouraging employee ownership
through our share savings and ownership schemes.

Succession planning is a key element of our MOB
process to ensure that we have the appropriate
resources in place to maintain stable leadership
and to guarantee service continuity for clients.
It is continuously reviewed by the Group Board.
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How do we manage and inspire our people?



Managing and inspiring people
Our structured approach to people development
encourages and creates motivated, effective teams
capable of high performance.

We empower business level managers to manage
their teams successfully, and equip them with the
necessary tools and training in leadership processes
and procedures.We encourage an open culture where
ideas are aired regardless of position and shared across
similar operations where they may add value.

We attach great importance to healthy two-way
communication with an ‘open door’ policy
across the Group, supplemented by more formal
communication channels.

Any issues arising within a business unit are
resolved locally where possible, or else escalated
through the MOB review process to the Divisional
Executive Board.

Our people also have the opportunity to communicate
their views in an annual employee survey.

We want to foster a ‘no blame’, safe, fun and rewarding
culture because our research shows that this is an
effective way of achieving business goals. To recognise
success, we run original and entertaining incentive
schemes aligned with performance targets.We also have
an annual awards programme to recognise exceptional
individual and team performance.The awards reflect the
key attributes that we see as core to Capita’s ethos –
effective team work, innovation, service and community.

The Capita Group Plc Annual Report andAccounts 2006
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Senior management retention
(earning over £90k)

Overall employee retention

Employees by location

Diversity of people

Part time workers

Priorities

91%

82%

3%

51% male: 49% female

76% male: 24% female

15% (based on 48%
response rate)

24%

Year end 2006

92%

81%

1.6%

51% male: 49% female

78% male: 22% female

14% (based on 40%
response rate)

21%

Year end 2005

To attract and retain the appropriate level
of senior management to drive the
strategic direction of the Group

To attract and retain the right people to
deliver Group strategy, maintaining
employee retention at or above industry
average (81.7%)

To have at least 10% of our people based
in India by 2009

To reflect the communities in which we
work:

pMale/female split

pMale/female split for management
(earning over £50k)

p Ethnic diversity

To provide flexible working hours while
ensuring maximum flexibility in Group
resources

Aim

Note: Following the introduction of SAP HR across the Group in 2005, our HR data is now more
consistent and complete and as a result some historic figures have been adjusted to provide
meaningful comparisons.
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Capita is committed to managing
its business in a responsible manner
and making a positive contribution
to the wider community. A focus
on corporate responsibility flows
throughout our business in the manner
in which we operate in our marketplace,
treat our people, support our local
communities and minimise our impact
on the environment.
Iwww.capita.co.uk/society

How do we do business responsibly?
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An integral approach
As corporate reponsibility (CR) is integral to our business
we have touched upon it throughout this report and full
details of our approach, targets and progress can be
found in our CR report at www.capita.co.uk/society.

Integrating CR into
decision making
CR issues arise in the normal, day to day management
and growth of our business. As a result, we treat
corporate responsibility alongside other key business
issues and integrate it into our operational and
governance processes.Ipages 26-37

Corporate responsibility is championed from the top,
with Group Board members being responsible for each
of our 4 impact areas.We also have a Group-wide
Statement of Business Principles and a number of
CR related policies all of which are supported by the
Group Board.

In 2006, a sustainability working group was established
comprisingGordon Hurst, Group Finance Director, with
the heads of safety, health & environment, risk,
procurement, property and facilities management to
ensure that theGroup is meeting requirements and
operating in an effective and responsible manner.
We undertake bi-annual site audits and regularly refresh
Group standards to ensure ongoing improvement.This is
a constantly evolving programme as we have a large
number of new sites joining theGroup each year, as a
result of new contracts and acquisitions.

How do we do business responsibly?

Due to the nature of our business
when we talk about CR we focus
on 4 priorities:
Ensuring quality of service
Supporting our people
Reducing our environmental impacts
Benefiting our communities

Ensuring quality of service
Helping our clients transform the way they do business
is not a short term project.When we engage with a
client we hope to enter into a long term relationship
that supports their business and values. Through building
strong, productive partnerships that consistently meet
client expectations, we have created a successful and
sustainable business of our own.

Capita helps to change the way frontline services are
delivered.We are not involved in creating or influencing
client policies or objectives and we do not make political
donations. But helping our clients adapt to change
means they make better use of taxpayer and
shareholder funds.

A clear reporting schedule with key performance
indicators is written into major contracts and regularly
reviewed with the client.Where changing circumstances
require, we will also review how we deliver services in
order to provide even better service to our clients and
their customers.

Supporting our people
We would not have achieved such high levels of
sustained growth without a dedicated and competent
workforce. Being able to attract, retain and develop
talented and ambitious people means we will have the
resources we need to help our clients and grow our
business.Ipages 50-53

Quality of service

Our people

Our communities

Environment

Impact area

Clients – Simon Pilling
Joint Chief Operating Officer
Suppliers – Gordon Hurst
Group Finance Director

Paddy Doyle
Joint Chief Operating Officer

Paul Pindar
Chief Executive

Gordon Hurst
Group Finance Director

Board-level responsibility
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Reducingour environmental impacts
Due to the nature of our business, Capita does
not have amajor impact on the environment.
This is confirmed by our FTSE4Good environmental
impact rating of ‘low’.We nonetheless recognise the
value of taking a proactive approach to environmental
management. Keymeasurements of environmental
impacts have now been embedded into our
management reporting process, focusing on
3 key areas:

pWaste and resource management – in 2004we
undertook a survey of waste management at key
sites across theGroup.This helped to developmore
effective waste management policies and future
targets.

pCarbon emissions – on the basis of a carbon
survey undertaken in 2005, we identified energy use
and transport as 2 of Capita’s most significant
environmental impacts. This has informed a number
of initiatives including an agreement to purchase green
energy for all our sites and switching our fleet vehicles
to diesel engines.

pSupply chain – wemonitor our suppliers’ statements
of compliance with our Supplier Environmental Code
of Practice.We are also working with suppliers to
extend the range of recyclable products used by the
Group and to implement the EUWEEE Directive with
a strong focus on recycling.

Benefiting our communities
We are actively engagedwith the communities in
which wework, focusing on support and regeneration.
Our interest in corporate responsibility arises from
a recognition of the impact our business operations
have on society.

We have created a community investment and
engagement strategy that focuses on how businesses
and employees canmake a positive impact on the
communities in which they operate.We implement
this community strategy through:

p Local community partnerships – through our
regional partnerships we have helped to increase
job creation, local purchasing and investment in
community initiatives. Our regional business centre
strategy for creating greenfield sites also helps to
channel job creation opportunities to deprived areas.
Our businesses are also encouraged to invest in and
support local initiatives that add social or
environmental value.

pCharitable initiatives – at a corporate level our
charitable strategy is to support initiatives that
address social and educational exclusionwhether
due to disability, economic or social circumstances.
Our current charitable partnerships are with the
NSPCC and the Prince’sTrust and a 3rd charity
voted for annually by employees – which was
Cancer ResearchUK in 2006. Fundraising events are
arranged centrally and locally and a volunteering
scheme is in place to support the Prince’sTrust young
people programmes.

Charitable donations (£m)

0.2

0.2

0.3

0.4

0.5

02

03

04

05

06 

2006

£0.5m

Howdowe do business responsibly?
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How do we do business responsibly?

Environment

Communities

Health & safety

Core CR measures

26,592*

Working group set up to
monitor requirements and

progress

Audits completed

Target set

95%

34

£3m saved on hotel and
travel costs

5,000 pieces of IT
equipment donated

4,000

£0.5m

Ongoing

£53k

58 reportable accidents
(RIDDOR)**

Audits completed

Year end 2006

26,592*

Ongoing
awareness programme

–

–

90%

25

£2m saved on hotel and
travel costs

1,500 pieces of IT
equipment donated

(5 months)

3,000

£0.4m

Ongoing

£26k

42 reportable accidents
(RIDDOR)

–

Year end 2005

Continue to measure and assess our
carbon footprint to reduce our impact
on the environment and help tackle
climate change

Raise awareness of environmental issues
and Group initiatives across the business

Environmental site audit to be undertaken
twice each year

Reduce Capita’s overall impact on the
environment – achieve 12% reduction
in electricity used at our 20 largest sites
by 2008

Continue switching fleet vehicles to
diesel engines

Achieve further ISO 14001 accreditations
at our higher impact sites

Further promote BT conference call facility

Further promote Digital Pipeline Initiative
where used IT equipment is donated to
developing countries

Job creation to date

Corporate donations

Meet our 3 year target of raising £1.5m
for our corporate charities

Maximise the fundraising potential of our
Group-wide charity week

Ensure we provide safe and
productive working environments for
all our employees.

Undertake site audits twice each year

Aim

*Our carbon footprint was calculated in 2004 and will next be calculated in 2007.
**Increase is primarily a result of business growth.
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We deliver services on behalf of a wide
variety of clients in both the public and
private sectors. Our clients look to us to
improve processes, create new capabilities
and transform back office and customer
service operations.
We make measurable improvements in
service efficiency and quality, reducing
costs and adding real value to our clients’
operations. How?The simplest way to
explain is by illustration. Here are some
examples of how we deliver value to
our clients…

Who do we work with?
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DSG international

Client objective
DSGi’s customer contact centre facility in Sheffield
processed over 10m contacts per year. However, with
call abandonment rates at 19% and unsatisfactory
sales conversion figures, DSGi felt it was starting to
lose business and customers.

Capita’s approach
Capita implemented a full migration and review
process, including the transferral of 860 staff. Almost
immediately, the customer contact centre was able to
begin functioning at a vastly improved rate:
p •% improvement in customer satisfaction
p •% reduction in call abandonment rate
p sales conversion increased by •% and PCWorld

Sales conversion increased •.
p •% improvement in customer satisfaction

As a result of the relationship’s success, in 2006 we
were awarded a further contract to deliver technical
support services from DSGi’s Nottingham site, where
we are already exceeding all enhanced SLAs and KPIs.

‘We have made the right decision.We’ve found a
partner that is willing to work closely with us and also
in terms of performance we are seeing positive returns
in all aspects.’

Simon Hunter,
Commercial Manager,
DSG international plc

.

DSG international

Client objective
To enhance the experience of customers contacting
the DSGi call centre, to make it a key differentiator
in driving sales and customer loyalty.With call
abandonment rates at unsatisfactory levels, DSGi
felt it was starting to lose business and customers
and so turned to Capita for a solution.

Capita’s approach
Following a full review and migration process, including
the transfer of 860 employees, the contact centre
beganoperating at a vastly improved rate, meeting all
contracted service levels aheadof schedule.The results
over 2 years have been remarkable,with all stakeholder
groups seeing large improvements. Performance
improved sharply:

pCustomer satisfaction up 18% and number of calls
per resolution down 41%

pStore call sales conversion rate up 400%

p Employee satisfaction up 60% and 2 industry
awards achieved in 2006.

In 2006, we won a further contract with DSGi to
deliver its technical support services, which
included the transfer of another 900 employees.

“Over the last 18 months we have built a
very strong relationship withCapita and
have developed a joint vision of improving
our customers' experience with us.”
Mike Hedgecox
Customer and Stores Director
DSG international

p BPO

p Customer services

p Administration and
support

p ICT

p Private sector p Insurance & Specialist
Services

BBC

Client objective
Reduce HR costs to release extra resources for
programmes as part of radical plans to make the
BBC a simpler and more creative digital broadcaster.

Capita’s approach
We are working closely with BBC People to deliver
many HR services across the corporation, including
recruitment, HR advice and administration, and
occupational health and disability access services.

pWe have set up a new HR Shared Service Centre in
Belfast with 110 employees and a number of new
technologies to help improve services, which are
branded BBC HR Direct

p In the first year of the contract we will have
processed over 160,000 applications for over
4,500 jobs, managed induction for some 2,800
new employees, dealt with 3,500 leavers and
handled over 170,000 queries from employees
and applicants

pOver the life of the contract the BBC expects to
save £50m.

“Together with Capita, we are working on
a change plan to improve and simplify the
delivery of HR administration and advice
to the BBC.The HR operation Capita has
developed in Belfast represents the first
step on that journey.”
Stephen Kelly
Director
BBC People

Who do we work with?

p BPO

p Customer services

p Administration and
support

p Human resources

p ICT

p Private sector p HR Solutions &
Property Consultancy

Services Market Division Services Market Division



Business review
60

Governance Accounts

The Capita Group Plc Annual Report andAccounts 2006

Birmingham City Council

Client objective
To establish a long term partnership to deliver
ambitious transformation objectives and a world
class ICT service, with the aim of significantly
improving the delivery of public services.

Capita’s approach
We are working with the Council to provide the
additional capacity and specialist skills required for
major service transformation. Over 500 Council
employees have been seconded to a joint venture
with Capita and we have made excellent progress
in the first year:

pThe new ICT network has increased stability and
significantly cut costs

p Email is 500% faster despite a 30% increase in
traffic and nearly 90% of helpdesk calls are now
answered within 20 seconds – up from 40%

p In July 2006 we signed an additional contract to
transform Corporate Services, including
procurement, finance and business management:
due to generate savings of £800m over 10 years,
it has already saved £9.5m.

We are supporting the development of business cases
for 7 further transformation programmes.

“This Council-wide programme will deliver
better, more efficient services to the citizens
of Birmingham.The joint venture gives us
the capacity and skills we need, with a
shared vision and goals.”
Stephen Hughes
Chief Executive
Birmingham City Council

The Children’s Mutual

Client objective
To engage with a partner who could establish a cost
effective infrastructure to process ChildTrust Funds
(CTFs) and administer the scheme from its launch.

Capita’s approach
We developed a state-of-the art service delivery
platform which enables highly efficient scheme
administration:

pTo meet the launch date we designed and
developed processes and infrastructure from
scratch in just 10 months

pClerical productivity is now 50% higher than in a
traditional life and pensions processing area

pOver 95% of applications are processed without
manual intervention, ensuring an error free
environment and minimising follow-up queries

p In recognition of the scheme’s success, The
Children’s Mutual was awarded ChildTrust Fund
Provider of theYear at the Investment, Life &
Pensions Moneyfacts Awards 2006.

The project’s success has led toThe Children’s Mutual
awarding further work to Capita to administer other
products such as Growing Up Bonds.

“Capita's ability to provide advanced
administration and customer contact
services to a wide range of clients and its
commitment in extending these service
models to our valued customers continues
to impress us.”
David White
Chief Executive
The Children’s Mutual

Who do we work with?

p BPO

p ICT

p Administration
and support

p Local government p ICT &Advisory Services p BPO

p Customer services

p Administration
and support

p ICT

p Life & pensions p Life & pensions

Services Market Division Services Market Division
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South Oxfordshire andVale of
White Horse District Council

Client objective
To create a shared service for 2 councils to
modernise and achieve economies of scale in
revenues and benefits administration.

Capita’s approach
We are committed to developing new models of
partnership that deliver widespread cost savings
and substantial service improvements to local
authorities. This contract is an excellent example
of shared services in action. In the first 6 months
of the contract we have already made good progress:

pCreated joined-up revenues and benefits services,
delivering direct cost savings to both Councils,
anticipated to be in the region of £3m

pWe are transferring work to processing centres in
Kent and Somerset and telephone enquiries to
Coventry, achieving savings by using new
technology and Capita's business centre
infrastructure

pHelped both councils to create true shared service
operations in the client unit functions.

“More and more councils are recognising the
real benefits of shared service partnerships.
Together we are delivering real service
improvements and cost savings to residents
that could not have been achieved
without Capita.”
David Buckle Terry Stock
Chief Executive Chief Executive
South Oxfordshire Vale ofWhite Horse
District Council District Council

Home Office
– Criminal Records Bureau

Client objective
In 2000, Capita was selected to provide a carefully
regulated service enabling organisations to gain access
to important criminal and other information for
recruitment and licensing purposes.We now process
3m applications for information annually, and
customer satisfaction is at an all-time high. In 2006,
the CRB asked us to help meet growing demand from
customers for online access to the status of their
applications while providing a platform for future
e-products and services.

Capita’s approach
We developed an online tracking product based on an
accredited e-infrastructure designed to support future
online services.

pRigorous testing and accreditation ensured the
security of CRB Disclosures

pThe service received over 73,000 hits in the first
month and won extremely positive feedback
from customers.

“I am immensely proud of the work we
have now completed together. Launching
the service was one of our key strategic
objectives for this year. It marks the
beginning of a journey which will bring
greater efficiencies to our processes and
benefits to our customers as more and more
services are delivered electronically.”
Vince Gaskell
Chief Executive
Criminal Records Bureau

Who do we work with?

p BPO

p Customer services

p Administration
and support

p Finance

p ICT

p Local government p Professional Services p BPO

p Customer services

p Administration
and support

p ICT

p Advisory services

p Central government p Integrated Services

Services Market Division Services Market Division
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01 EricWalters
Non-Executive Chairman
Age 62
Joined theGroup Board in January
2001 and appointed Non Executive
Chairmanwith effect from 1August
2006. Member of the Remuneration,
Audit and Nomination Committees.
Joined theGroup fromAlchemy
Partners, where hewas a senior
partner. Previously he held senior
positions with SchroderVentures,
GrandMetropolitan Plc and Lex
Service plc. He is a partner of private
equity firm Englefield Capital and is
Non Executive Director of a number
of private companies.

02 Paul Pindar
Chief Executive
Age 47
Responsible for managing and
developing Capita’s operations
to achieve theGroup’s strategic
objectives, with specific
responsibility for managing the
Group’s acquisition activity.
Joined theGroup in 1987 from
3i, after advising Capita on its
management buy-out. A chartered
accountant since 1984 and an
associate member of the Institute
ofTaxation. Chair of the NSPCC’s
Corporate Development Board until
31 March 2007. Paul has overall
responsibility for theGroup’s
community approach.

03GordonHurst
Group Finance Director
Age 45
Joined theGroup in 1988 fromSun
Micro Systems Ltd. First appointed
to the Board as Commercial Director
in February 1995 and then asGroup
Finance Director in 1996. A chartered
accountant since 1986, he is also
Company Secretary. He has Board
responsibility for Capita’s overall
corporate social responsibility policy
and our environment, health and
safety approach and supplier
relationships.

04 PaddyDoyle
Joint ChiefOperatingOfficer
Age 56
JoinedCapita in 1992 andwas
appointed to the Board in 1994.
Responsible for the ongoing
operational management of
theGroup’s business units.
His background is in IT and
outsourcing, previously with
Hoskyns andAIG, where he had
responsibility for IT operations
throughout Europe.Overall
responsibility for our employees
and human resources policies.

05Simon Pilling
Joint ChiefOperatingOfficer
Age 44
Joined theGroup Board on 1August
2006. He has joint responsibility
for the operational management
of theGroup’s operations. Moved
toCapita in 1999 fromSema (now
AtosOrigin). In February 2002, he
was promoted to the Divisional
Executive Board heading the
Professional Services Division.
Since January 2005 he has led
the Integrated Services Division.
He has Board responsibility for
client service quality.

06 PeterCawdron
Non-Executive Director
Age 63
Joined theGroup in September 1997.
Chair of the Nomination andAudit
Committees andmember of the
Remuneration Committee. Former
Group Strategic Development
Director of GrandMetropolitan PLC
andChief FinancialOfficer of D'Arcy
MacManus &MasiusWorldwide Inc.
A chartered accountant, he is
Chairman ofGCapMedia Plc and
PunchTaverns plc. Other non-
executive directorships include:
Johnston Press plc and ProStrakan
Group Plc. He is the Senior
Non-Executive Director.

07Martina King
Non-Executive Director
Age 45
Joined the Board on 1 January 2005.
Chair of the Remuneration
Committee andmember of the
Audit and Nomination Committees.
FormerYahoo! Managing Director
for Europe, and the first Managing
Director of Yahoo! UK and Ireland,
appointed in 1999. A Non-Executive
Director of Johnston Press Plc and
IMD Plc. Martina is also Board
Director of the Prince'sTrustTrading
Board, Treasurer of the Marketing
Group ofGreat Britain andChair of
the RadioAdvertising Bureau.

08 BillGrimsey
Non-Executive Director
Age 55
Joined the Board on 9October
2006. Member of theAudit,
Remuneration and Nomination
Committees. Bill has held a number
of senior positions across the retail
sector over the past 20 years,
including Chief Executive ofThe
Big FoodGroup andWickes Plc.
Bill does not hold any other
Non-Executive positions.

Group Board
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The Divisional Executive Board
consists of theGroup Board
Executive Directors – Paul Pindar,
Gordon Hurst, Paddy Doyle and
Simon Pilling – and 7 Divisional
Executive Directors (below).

01

02

03 05

04 06

07

01David Rigby
Age 46
JoinedCapita in 1994, initially
as a Director in the Property
Consultancy business and has
headed up a number of different
businesses in theGroup. At the end
of 1999, he was appointedManaging
Director of the Property Consultancy
Division until being promoted to
the Divisional Executive Board
in July 2002 heading the Commercial
Services Division. He now leads the
Life & Pensions Division.

02 Peter Kelly
Age 58
Moved toCapita in February
1994 fromCapGemini UK
(formerly Hoskyns). Joined as
Managing Director of our local
government software business
until his appointment as head of
our Software Services Division.
In 2000 hewas promoted to
the Divisional Executive Board
and has had responsibility for a
number of divisions. He now
heads up the ICT &Advisory
Services Division.

03Maggi Bell
Age 51
Moved toCapita in January 1999
fromManpower where shewas
UKOperations Director. She ran
Capita’s recruitment businesses
until she was promoted to the
Divisional Executive Board to lead
the Business Services Division in
June 2001. In 2002, shemoved to
head theCorporate Services Division,
with overall responsibility for
business development activity
across theGroup. Since January
2005, she has been head of the
Group Sales &Marketing Division.

04 Bill Dye
Age 45
Appointed to the Divisional
Executive Board on 1 January 2005
as head of the Business Services
Division, now called HR Solutions &
Property Consultancy. Prior to this
he was Corporate Development
Director, assisting theGroup on its
acquisition strategy. He joined
Capita in February 2002 as head
of Capita’s Life & Pensions Services,
where he helped launchCapita
into this market. Prior to joining
Capita hewas the CEOof aUS
based international media
services company.

05Dermot Joyce
Age 41
Appointed to the Divisional
Executive Board on 1 January 2005
as head of the Commercial Services
Division, now called Insurance &
Specialist Services. He joinedCapita
in March 2004 as Managing Director
of Capita Insurance Services.
Previously heworked at Xansa Plc
as Commercial Development
Director and at Ernst &Young’s
Finance and performance
Management practice.

06 Kevin Dady
Age 42
Appointed to the Divisional
Executive Board on 1August 2006
with responsibility for the
Professional Services Division, which
includes all Capita’s software and
local government businesses as well
as our strategic childrens’ services
offering. Kevin joinedCapita in 1996,
after working in local government
for 12 years. In 2000, he was
appointedManaging Director of the
Group’s local government software
business.

07 RobertCoyle
Age 41
Appointed to the Divisional
Executive Board on 1August 2006
with responsibility for the Financial
Services Division. He joinedCapita in
August 2000 from PwCwhere he
was a director in their insolvency
practice. Initially he was Finance
Director and then head of our
financial services businesses.
He is a chartered accountant.
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The Directors present their report and the auditedGroup accounts for
the year ended 31 December 2006.

Group activities
TheCapitaGroup Plc and its subsidiaries (theGroup) is a leadingUK
provider of professional support services and business process outsourcing
solutions to organisations across the public and private sectors. TheGroup’s
9 chosenmarkets are local government, central government, education,
health, transport, life & pensions, insurance, financial services and other
private sector.

On behalf of its clients, theGroup aims to improve service quality, reduce
costs of delivery and enable them to transform theway that they deliver
services to their customers. The services that theGroup provides are
essential to the smooth running and success of its clients’ operations.
TheGroup designs, successfully implements andmanages tailored service
solutions, ranging across administration, information technology, financial,
human resources, property and customer service functions. TheGroup
maintains leading positions in its markets due to its ability to draw on
its wide base of professional services, detailedmarket knowledge and
extensive business process transformation and changemanagement skills.

TheGroup’s principal activities are managed through 7 operating divisions
comprising HR Solutions & Property Consultancy, Insurance &Specialist
Services, Financial Services, ICT &Advisory Services, Life & Pensions,
Professional Services and Integrated Services, plus aGroup Sales and
Marketing Division. Group support services report direct toGroup
Executive Directors. A review of the development of theGroup and its
business activities during the year is contained in the Business Review
onIpages 9-61.

Profits and dividends
TheGroup profit before taxation amounted to £193.2m (2005: £153.1m).
The Directors recommend a final dividend of 6.3p per share (2005: 4.9p
per share) to be paid on 4May 2007 to ordinary shareholders on the
register on 30March 2007.This gives a total dividend for the year of 9.0p
per share (2005: 7.0p per share).

Share repurchase
The company renewed its authority to repurchase up to 10%of its own
issued share capital at theAnnual General Meeting inApril 2006 and
during the year acquired 52.9million (2005: 13.2 million) ordinary shares
of 2p each (see note 25) all of which were cancelled. The shares acquired
in previous years and held in treasury were cancelled and the company
no longer has any holding of treasury shares.

Directors
The Directors of the company currently in office are listed on
Ipages 64-65.

Paul Pindar and Peter Cawdron retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election. RodAldridge stepped down from his role as
Executive Chairman on 23March 2006 to becomeNon-Executive
Chairman until his retirement from the company on 31 July 2006.
EricWalters was appointed as Non-Executive Chairmanwith effect from
1August 2006. His other significant commitments are a partnership in
Englefield Capital, a private equity firm, and Non-Executive directorships of
a number of private companies. Simon Pilling was appointed as an
Executive Director with effect from 1August 2006 and offers himself for
election. Bill Grimseywas appointed as a Non-Executive Director with
effect from 9October 2006 and offers himself for election. None of the
Directors of the company had amaterial interest in any contract with the
company or its subsidiary undertakings other than their contracts of
employment and no Director has a service contract exceeding one year.

Directors’ interests
The interests (all beneficial) of the Directors in the ordinary shares of the
companywere as follows:

31 December 31 December
2006 2005

or date of or date of
appointment appointment

if later if later
ordinary shares ordinary shares

of 2p of 2p

EricWalters 49,326 45,000
Paul Pindar 1,850,000 2,450,000
Paddy Doyle 26,979 26,664
Gordon Hurst 28,221 28,221
Simon Pilling – –
Peter Cawdron 24,000 24,000
Martina King – –
Bill Grimsey 12,616 –

The Directors have no interests in the share capital of any otherGroup
undertaking.

The interests of the Directors under the share option schemes, the Deferred
Annual Bonus Plan, the LongTerm Incentive Plan and the LongTerm
Indexed ShareAppreciation Scheme of the company are shown in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Substantial shareholders
On 21 February 2007 the company had notifications that the following
were interested in 3%ormore of the company’s ordinary share capital:

No. of shares Percentage

FMRCorp and Fidelity International Ltd 73,884,499 11.65%
Baille Gifford &Co 41,000,378 6.64%
Legal &General Group Plc 22,109,521 3.58%

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of the accounts
and auditors
Company law requires the Directors to prepare accounts for each financial
year that give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the company
and of theGroup and of the profit or loss of theGroup for that period.
In preparing those accounts, the Directors are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent

• state whether applicable accounting standards have been followed,
subject to anymaterial departures disclosed and explained in the accounts

• prepare the accounts on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate
to presume that theGroupwill continue in business.

To the best of each Director’s knowledge and belief, there is no information
relevant to the preparation of their report of which the company’s auditors
are unaware.

Each of the Directors has taken all steps that a Director might reasonably
be expected to have taken to be aware of all relevant audit information
and to establish that the company’s auditors are aware of that information.

The Directors confirm that the accounts comply with the
above requirements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which
disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group and to enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the
Companies Act 1985.They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets
of theGroup and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Directors’ report
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Going concern
After making enquiries, theGroup Board of Directors has a reasonable
expectation that theGroup and the company (TheCapitaGroup Plc) have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable
future. For this reason they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the accounts.

Disabled persons
It is theGroup’s policy to give full consideration to suitable applications
for employment of disabled persons. Disabled employees are eligible
to participate in all career development opportunities available to staff.
Opportunities also exist for employees of theGroupwho become disabled
to continue in their employment or to be retrained for other positions in
theGroup.

Employee involvement
TheGroup is committed to involving all employees in the performance
and development of theGroup. Its approach to employee development
offers continual challenges in the job, learning opportunities and personal
development. Capita supports employees through a comprehensive range
of key business andmanagement skills courses and an annual management
development programme.

TheGroup encourages all its employees to participate fully in the business
through open dialogue. Employees receive news of theGroup through
Recap, theGroup’s newsletter, frequent email notices, internal notice
board statements, CapitaOnline, a regular communication reviewing
the performance of theGroup from the perspective of the Directors.
These communication initiatives enable employees to share information
within and between business units and employees are encouraged to
contribute news, views and feedback. TheGroupmaintains a strong
communications network and employees are encouraged, through our
open door policy, to discuss with management matters of interest to the
employee and subjects affecting day-to-day operations of theGroup.

TheGroup grants share options to senior employees, on a discretionary
basis, in order to reward their long term commitment to theGroup.
The granting of all share options is subject to the approval of the
Remuneration Committee. The share option schemes have been a key
factor in attracting, retaining andmotivating senior employees across
theGroup.

TheCapita Sharesave Scheme, an employee SaveAsYou Earn Scheme,
and theCapita ShareOwnership Plan, a share incentive plan, are both
firmly established and are designed to promote employee share ownership
and to give employees the opportunity to participate in the future success
of theGroup.

In keeping with its belief that employees are theGroup’s most valuable
asset, theGroup operates an annual employee awards scheme, celebrating
the core values that embody the organisation and rewarding employees for
service excellence, effective teamwork, service to the community and
innovation.

Further information on our employee initiatives can be found on
Ipages 50-53.

Payment of suppliers
The company aims to pay suppliers in accordancewith the suppliers’
contract terms.The company had an average of 43 days’ purchases
(2005: 44 days’ purchases) outstanding in trade creditors.

Charitable and political donations
During the year charitable donations amounted to £0.5m (2005: £0.4m).
No political contributions weremade.

Financial instruments
TheGroup’s financial instruments primarily comprise bonds, unsecured loan
notes, bank loans, finance leases and overdrafts. The principal purpose of
these is to raise funds for theGroup’s operations. In addition various other
financial instruments such as trade creditors and trade debtors arise directly
from its operations. From time to time, theGroup also enters into derivative
transactions, primarily interest rate swaps and currency swaps, the purpose
of which is to manage interest risk and currency risk.

Themain financial risks, to which theGroup has exposure, are interest rate
risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk. TheGroup borrows in desired
currencies at fixed and floating rates of interest andmakes use of interest
rate swaps to generate the desired interest profile and tomanage its
exposure to interest rate fluctuations. In respect of liquidity risk, theGroup
aims tomaintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility
through the use of bonds, bank loans, unsecured loan notes, finance leases
and overdrafts. TheGroup has exposure to foreign currency risk where
it has limited investments in overseas operations which are affected by
foreign exchangemovements. TheGroup is not exposed to significant
foreign currency risk nor does it intend to significantly increase its overseas
operations, so only limited hedging of these exposures is executed.

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions for the benefit of Directors
Under the Companies (Audit, Investigations andCommunity Enterprise) Act
2004 (which amends the Companies Act 1985), companies are under an
obligation to disclose any indemnities which are in force in favour of their
directors. The current Articles of Association of the company contain an
indemnity in favour of the Directors of the companywhich indemnifies
them in respect of certain liabilities and costs that theymight incur in the
execution of their duties as Directors. Copies of the relevant extract from
theArticles of Association are available for inspection at the registered
office of the company during normal business hours on anyweekday and
will be available at the venue of theAGM from 15minutes before the
meeting until it ends.

Auditors
In accordancewith section 384 of the Companies Act 1985, a resolution
to re-appoint Ernst &Young LLP as the external auditors will be put to the
forthcomingAnnual General Meeting.

The company is committed to ensuring appropriate independence in its
relationship with external auditors and the key safeguards are:

• theGroup Risk Manager monitors the independence of the auditor as
part of theGroup’s assessment of auditor effectiveness and reports to
theAudit Committee

• theAudit Committee routinely benchmarks the level of the external
audit fee against other comparable companies bothwithin andwithout
its sector, to ensure ongoing objectivity in the audit process

• theGroup Finance Director monitors the level and nature of non-audit
fees accruing to the external auditor, and specific assignments are
discussed in advancewith the external auditor and flagged for the
approval of theAudit Committee as appropriate. TheAudit Committee
reviews, in aggregate, non-audit fees of this nature on an annual basis
and considers implications for the objectivity and independence of the
relationship with the external auditor.

Ensuring conflicts of interest are avoided is a fundamental criterion in the
selection of any third party auditor for assignments with which theGroup is
involved. Such conflicts may arise across public or private sector customers
and key supplier relationships, for example, and are a key determinant in
the award process for external audit assignments.

By order of the Board

GordonHurst
Company Secretary
21 February 2007
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Compliancewith theCombinedCode
TheGroup continues to be committed to the principles of corporate
governance contained in theCombinedCode forwhich the Board is
accountable. In the year ended 31 December 2006 a number of changes to
theGroup Board had an impact on the Board’s full compliancewith the code.

Boardchanges intheyear:
• RodAldridge stepped down as ExecutiveChairman toNon-Executive
Chairman inMarch 2006 and retired from the Board on 31 July 2006
• EricWalters was appointed as Non-ExecutiveChairmanwith effect
from 1August 2006
• Simon Pillingwas promoted to become an Executive Director of the
Group Board, having previously been amember of the Divisional Executive
Board, with effect from 1August 2006
• Bill Grimseywas appointed as Non-Executive Director with effect
from 9October 2006.

For each appointment, the Board undertook a formal and rigorous
recruitment process, led by theNominationCommittee and, where
appropriate, with the assistance of independent external search consultants.

TheGroup has complied throughout the yearwith the provisions of Section 1
of theCombinedCode except in 2 circumstances; in respect of the
independence of the Board and in respect of the number of independent
non-executive directors on theAudit and RemunerationCommittees
between 1August to 9October 2006, as follows:

• Independence of the Board (A.3.2) – following the retirement of Rod
Aldridge as Non-ExecutiveChairman on 31 July 2006, EricWalters was
appointed as Non-ExecutiveChairman to the Board (a Non-Executive
Director ofTheCapitaGroup Plc since January 2001)with effect from
1August 2006 and on 9October 2006, Bill Grimseywas appointed as a
Non-Executive Director of the Board.We recognise thatwith 4 Executive
Directors, excluding theNon-ExecutiveChairman, the Board does not fully
complywith theCombinedCode regarding the balance of the Board.
However, the Board believes that the current composition of the Board is
more in linewith the principles of the code as it is led by aNon-Executive
Chairman and its composition remains suitable for the nature and size of
theGroup.We believe that the collective skills, experience and approach to
running the business is appropriate for driving theGroup forward and
achieving theGroup’s goals.We constantly review the composition of the
Board to ensure that it continues tomeet the needs of theGroup.

• TheCode recommends 3 independent Non-Executive Directors be
appointed to theAudit Committee (C.3.1) and the Remuneration
Committee (B.2.1). EricWalters had served on both committees.
Therefore, following his appointment as theGroup’s Chairman, both
committees comprised of 2Non-Executive Directors for the period from
1August to 9October 2006.This positionwas resolvedwith the
appointment of Bill Grimsey to theAudit and RemunerationCommittees
on 9October 2006. However, theAudit and RemunerationCommittees
did notmeet during this period.

The Board’s Non-Executive Directors, Peter Cawdron, EricWalters,
Martina King and Bill Grimsey are regarded as independent and free
from any business or other relationship that couldmaterially interfere
with their judgment.

For the purposes of theCombinedCode, Peter Cawdron has served on
the Board for 9 years.The Board is satisfied that Peter Cawdron
remains independentwith strong financial skills and a good knowledge
of the business and its sectors and continues to enhance the overall
balance of the Board.

Board responsibilities and effectiveness
The Board is collectively responsible to shareholders for setting the direction
of the business andmonitoring theGroup’s ongoing affairs. It is also
responsible for ensuring an effective internal control environment that
identifies andmanages appropriately the risks associatedwith the business
Ipages 27 and 37.

The Board demonstrates its commitment to the strategic direction and
control of theGroup by scheduling a series ofmeetings in the year. It can
meet as necessary outside of this schedule to consider any urgentmatters
thatmay arise. It sets the strategic objectives of theGroup, ensuring
sufficient financial and human resources are in place tomeet those aims.
The Board sets theGroup’s values and standards and ensures that its
obligations to clients, employees, suppliers, the community and other key
stakeholders are understood andmet.The Board has a formal schedule of
matters specifically reserved to it for decision including theGroup’s business
strategy, annual budget, annual and interim financial results, dividends and
major corporate activities.The Board also considers regular reports from
theChief Executive,Group Finance Director and Joint ChiefOperating
Officers.The Board is providedwith complete, timely and relevant
information to ensure that informed judgements aremade in pursuit of
theGroup’s objectives.

The Board also reviews the performance ofmanagement inmeeting
business objectives, plans the succession of key executives, and determines
appropriate remuneration levels through the RemunerationCommittee, a
committee of the Board.The operational management of theGroup is
delegated to the Divisional Executive Board, whichmeetsmonthly. Its
composition is set out in the Divisional Executive Board sectionIpage 65 .

TheNon-Executive Directors have a particular responsibility to challenge
constructively and independently the business development plans that are
proposed by executivemanagement andmonitor the performance of the
management teams in the delivery of agreed business objectives and targets.
TheNon-ExecutiveChairman encourages and engages in an open dialogue
with Non-Executive Directors in particular, who are at liberty tomeetwith
him as a group or individually as they feel fit, without the presence of
Executive Directors. Directors and officer’s liability insurance is maintained.

Board composition
The Directors acknowledge the need to segregate the responsibility for
operating the Board from themanagement of the underlying business.
Consequently, the roles of Non-ExecutiveChairman (EricWalters) and
Chief Executive (Paul Pindar) are separated.

The Board consists of theNon-ExecutiveChairman, EricWalters; 3 further
independent Non-Executive Directors, Peter Cawdron (Senior Independent
Director), Martina King and Bill Grimsey, 4 Executive Directors; Paul Pindar,
Chief Executive,GordonHurst, Group Finance Director andCompany
Secretary and Paddy Doyle and Simon Pilling, Joint ChiefOperatingOfficers.

The Senior Independent Non-Executive Director is available, as necessary,
to leadmeetings of theNon-Executive Directors without the Executive
Directors and/or theChairman being present andmeetwith shareholders
to understand any concerns. Biographies of the Directors can be found on
Ipages 64-65.

Director induction and professional development
Simon Pilling received an appropriate induction programmeon joining
theGroup Board. Bill Grimsey received a comprehensive induction
programme involving appropriate documentation, meetings and visits to
Capita businesseswith other Directors, attendance at Divisional Board
meetings and discussionswith advisers and seniormanagement from across
theGroup.

All Boardmembers have access to independent advice on anymatters
relating to their responsibilities as Directors and asmembers of the various
committees of the Board, at theGroup’s expense.TheCompany Secretary,
GordonHurst, who is alsoGroup Finance Director, is available to all Directors
and he is responsible for ensuring that all Group Board procedures are
compliedwith.

Thedecision to combine the roles of FinanceDirector andCompanySecretary
was takenwhenCapitawas a smaller entity and as theGroup has evolved
this approach has been regularly reviewed and has proven toworkwell.
Capita owns a company secretarial business that provides services to
numerous private andquoted companies and a teamfromthis business
directly supportsGordonHurst in his role asCompanySecretary.

Corporate governance
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During the year, the Directors received appropriate ongoing briefings and
information, including updates on governance and regulatory issues, to
enable them to perform their roles.They also attended external courses
where appropriate.

Board performance evaluation
At the January 2007 Boardmeeting the Board reviewed the report from
the board performance evaluation process carried out for 2006, the
outcomeofwhichwas positive.

The variousCommittees repeated the self-assessment exercise carried
out last year in order to assesswhether their terms of reference had been
satisfactorily fulfilled and how their processes andmethods could be
improved.

The performance of individual Executive Directors is appraised annually
by theChief Executive, towhom they report.The performance of the
Chairman is reviewed by theNon-Executive Directors, led by Peter
Cawdron, taking into account the views of the Executive Directors.
The performance reviewof theChief Executive is conducted by the
Non-ExecutiveChairman, taking into account the views of other Directors.
Non-Executive Directors’ performance is reviewed by theNon-Executive
Chairman, taking into account the views of other Directors.

Re-appointment
All Directors are subject to election at the firstAnnualGeneral Meeting after
their appointment and to re-election at intervals of nomore than 3 years in
accordancewith theCombinedCode.

TheNon-ExecutiveChairman has, following the evaluation process
described above, considered the performance of Paul Pindar and Peter
Cawdron, who are subject to re-election at the 2007AnnualGeneral
Meeting and is satisfied that they continue to be effective and demonstrate
a clear commitment to the role.

NominationCommittee
TheNominationCommittee comprised PeterCawdron (Chairman),
EricWalters andMartina King throughout the year and BillGrimsey from
October 2006.TheCommittee reports to the Board and its duty is to seek
suitably skilled and experienced candidates to beNon-Executive Directors
and ensures plans are in place for orderly succession for appointments to
the Board.

Due to RodAldridge’s retirement fromthe Board, theNominationCommittee
met during the year under review for the purposes of appointing aNon-
ExecutiveChairman, an Executive and aNon-Executive Director to the Board.

A rigorous review, taking into account the need for progressive refreshing
of the Board, was carried out. Core competencies and attributes required
to fill the roleswere set out. Independent external search consultantswere
engaged, where appropriate, to identify potential candidates. It should be
noted that EricWalters excused himself from the discussions regarding the
consideration of his nomination and appointment as Non-Executive
Chairman.

AuditCommittee
TheAudit Committee comprised theNon-Executive Directors throughout
the year andwas chaired by Peter Cawdron. He has significant and recent
relevant financial experience. Audit Committeemeetings are also attended,
by invitation, by theNon-ExecutiveChairman, Chief Executive,Group
Finance Director, GroupCompliance Director, Head of RiskManagement
and by representatives of the external auditors.

At their meetings, theCommittee reviewed awide range of financial
reporting and relatedmatters including the half-year and annual accounts
prior to their submission to the Board.TheCommittee focused in particular
on critical accounting policies and practices adopted by theGroup and any
significant areas of judgement thatmaterially impact reported results. It also
monitored the internal controls that are operated bymanagement to ensure
the integrity of information reported to shareholders.

TheCommittee provides a forum for reporting by theGroup’s external
auditors, and it advised the Board on the appointment, independence and
objectivity of the external auditors and on their remuneration both for
statutory audit and non-audit work. It also discussed the nature, scope and
timing of the statutory audit with the external auditors.TheAudit
Committee annually performs an independent assessment of the suitability
and performance of the external auditors inmaking its recommendation to
the Board for their re-appointment.

TheCommittee reviewed the appropriateness of the annual internal audit
programme for theGroup, to ensure that the business riskmanagement and
internal audit functions are adequately sponsored and resourced. It also
monitors the resourcing levels and performance of theGroup’s Financial
ServicesAuthority compliance function.

At themeeting to review the 2006Annual Report andAccounts, the
Committee considered the level of non-audit services being provided by the
Group’s external auditors in order to satisfy itself that theobjectivity and
independenceof the external auditors is safeguarded.There is a policy in
place tomonitor and approve the useof the auditors for non-audit services.
Details of audit and non-audit fees are given in note 6on page 90.The lead
partner is rotatedon a 5year basis and, consequently, a new lead partnerwas
appointed for the 2006 audit process.

RemunerationCommittee
Details of the RemunerationCommittee and its activities are given in the
Directors’ Remuneration Report onIpages 71-75.

The terms of reference of theNomination, Remuneration andAudit
Committees are displayed in the investor centre atIwww.capita.co.uk

Board and committeemembers, frequency ofmeetings and attendance
During 2006 the Boardmet 9 times, excluding ad hocmeetings solely to
deal with procedural matters. The Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committeemet 3 times during the year. TheAudit
Committeemet 4 times during the year. Attendance is recorded in the
table below.

Any Directors’ non-attendance at BoardMeetings ormeetings of theAudit,
Remuneration or NominationCommitteeswas due to illness or an absence
previously agreedwith theChairman of the Board, theChief Executive or the
Chairman of the relevant committee.

Scheduled Nomination Remuneration Audit
Board Committee Committee Committee

meetings meetings meetings meetings

EricWalters 8 (9) 3 (3) 3 (3) 3 (4)
Paul Pindar 7 (9) – – –
GordonHurst 7 (9) – – –
Paddy Doyle 8 (9) – – –
Simon Pilling* 3 (3) – – –
Peter Cawdron 8 (9) 3 (3) 3 (3) 4 (4)
Martina King 9 (9) 3 (3) 3 (3) 4 (4)
Bill Grimsey* 2 (2) – – 1 (1)
RodAldridge
(retired July 2006) 4 (6) – – –

Figures in brackets indicate the number ofmeetings held in the period inwhich the directorwas a
member of the Board/Committee.

*Simon Pilling and Bill Grimsey’s Board attendance following their appointments inAugust 2006
andOctober 2006 respectively. Bill Grimseywas also appointed to theNomination and
RemunerationCommitteewhich have notmet since his appointment.

Dialoguewith institutional shareholders
The Board encourages and seeks to build up amutual understanding of
objectives between theGroup and its institutional shareholders. As part of
this process, the Non-ExecutiveChairman, Chief Executive,Group Finance
Director and Joint ChiefOperatingOfficersmake regular presentations and
meetwith institutional shareholders to discuss any issues of concern, to
obtain feedback and to consider CorporateGovernance issues. All the
Non-Executive Directors are available tomeetwith shareholders to
understand their viewsmore fully.TheNon-ExecutiveChairman and the
Senior Non-Executive Director are personally available to the significant
shareholders in theGroup.
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TheCorporateCommunications team has effective day-to-day responsibility
formanaging shareholder communications and always acts in close
consultationwith the Board. A DisclosureCommittee consisting of the
CorporateCommunications Director, Chief Executive andGroup Finance
Director ensures all appropriate communications aremade to the London
Stock Exchange and shareholders. Shareholders can also access up-to-date
information through the investor centre section of theGroup’s website.
A telephone helpline, 0870 162 3100, provides a contact point directly to
theGroup’s registrars.

All members of the Board, including Non-Executive Directors, receive a
report on any significant discussionswith shareholders and the feedback
that follows the half yearly presentations to investment analysts and
shareholders is also circulated. All brokers’ reports and analysts’ briefings
are circulated to Directors.

The Board encourages shareholders to attend itsAnnualGeneral Meeting.
Directors, including the chairmen of the various committees, are present
to answer any questions from shareholders.TheGroup uses theAnnual
General Meeting to communicatewith private investors and encourages
their participation.

Social and environmental responsibility
Details of howwemanage our social and environmental responsibilities can
be found onIpages 54-57.

Internal control
TheGroup Board is responsible for theGroup’s systemof internal control
and for regularly reviewing its effectiveness. Procedures have been designed
for, inter alia, the safeguarding of assets against unauthorised use or
disposition, maintaining proper accounting records and the reliability of
financial information usedwithin the business or for publication. Such a
system is designed tomanage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not
absolute assurance againstmaterial errors, losses or fraud.There is an
ongoing process of identifying, evaluating andmanaging the significant risks
faced by theGroup, which has been in place throughout the year under
review and up to the date of approval of theAnnual Report andAccounts.
This process is regularly reviewed by theGroup Board.TheGroup’s key
internal control procedures include the following:

• the Divisional Executive Board has responsibility to set, communicate and
monitor the application of policies, procedures and standards in areas
including operations, finance, legal, commercial and regulatory compliance,
human resources and health and safety, information security and property
management and corporate social responsibility and the environment

• authority to operate the individual businesses comprising the Divisions that
make up theGroup is delegated to their respectiveManaging Directors
within limits set by the Divisional Executive Board under powers delegated
by theGroup Board.The appointment of executives to themost senior
positionswithin theGroup, other thanGroup Board appointments, requires
the approval of the Divisional Executive Board. It establishes key
operational, functional and financial reporting standards for application
across thewholeGroup.These are supplemented by operating standards
set by local management teams, as required for the type of business and
geographical location of each subsidiary and business unit

• comprehensive annual financial plans are prepared at the individual
business unit level and summarised at the Divisional andGroup level.
Financial plans are reviewed and approved by both the Divisional Executive
Board and theGroup Board. Capital expenditure is subject to rigorous
budgetary control beyond specified levels and detailedwritten proposals
have to be submitted to theGroup Board. Expenditure on acquisitions is
the subject of appropriate consideration, review and approval by the
Group Board

• results aremonitored routinely bymeans of comprehensivemanagement
accounts and actual progress against plan is challenged directly by
executivemembers of theGroup Board on aGroup-wide basis at the
business unit level eachmonth

• a framework is in place to identify, assess andmitigate themajor business
risks, including credit, liquidity, operations, reputation, regulatory and fraud.
The framework also includes specific provision for risk-based due diligence
in respect of business acquisitions and new customer contracts. Exposure to
business risks is monitored as an integral part of themonthly challenge to
business results discussed above and by theGroupAudit Committee

• the risk framework is supplemented in certain of theGroup’s businesses,
including all financial services related business streams, by a number of
formally constituted local boards, which in turn are underpinned by
dedicated risk committees.These provide an appropriatemeans to
routinelymonitor the risk profile of these businesses, including regulatory
risks, and for proposedmitigating actions to be challenged and tracked

• the riskmanagement framework is monitored and developed as required
by theGroup Risk and BusinessAssurance function, in conjunctionwith the
GroupCompliance function, to ensure that it remains appropriate to
business requirements and consistentwith best practice

• theGroup Risk and BusinessAssurance function reports to theGroup
Finance Director and independently to theGroupAudit Committee.
In addition to independently facilitating theGroup’s riskmanagement
framework, it delivers a risk-based internal audit programme, to provide
assurance on the effectiveness of the internal control structures operating
across the business.The annual audit programme is focused on areas of
greatest risk to theGroup, as determined by theGroup risk framework, and
the independent viewof those risks taken by theGroup Risk and Business
Assurance function

• in addition, regulatory risks and compliancematters are overseen by the
GroupCompliance function reporting through theGroup Finance Director
and independently to theGroupAudit Committee.TheGroupCompliance
team, in conjunctionwith dedicatedCompliance teamswithin the relevant
businesses, independentlymonitor regulatory compliance byway of
risk-basedwork programmes and support operations in identifying and
mitigating regulatory risks as an integral part of theGroup’s risk framework

• both theGroupCompliance function and theGroup Risk and Business
Assurance function routinely appraise theGroup’s seniormanagement
and theGroupAudit Committee of their work programmes and findings.

TheGroup Board keeps under review the effectiveness of this systemof
internal control.The keymechanisms used by theGroup Board to achieve
this include regular reports from the Divisional Executive Board; periodic
updates from theAudit Committee based on its reviewof riskmanagement,
business assurance and compliance reports by the relevantGroup functions;
discussionswith and reports from the external auditors and other advisors
and periodic reports from relevant Regulators. In addition, the Divisional
Executive Directors and Divisional Finance Directors provide annual
confirmation that the Divisions’ internal controls and systems are designed:

• to provide accurate financial information

• to adequately safeguard, verify andmaintain accountability of theGroup’s
assets

• to ensure that provision is made for all amounts known to be irrecoverable
at the balance sheet date

• to ensure that accruals are accurately stated and, to the extent that they
are known, all potential liabilities have been notified.

At several of its meetings during the year, theGroup Board considered the
means bywhich it monitors the effectiveness of internal controls and
concluded that it was satisfiedwith the process and its compliancewith the
Internal ControlGuidance for Directors on theCombinedCode issued by the
Institute of CharteredAccountants in England andWales.
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As required by Section 234B of the Companies Act 1985, the Directors present the Report on Directors’ Remuneration for the year ended 31 December
2006. In accordancewith the requirements the report provides the disclosure in 2 parts: information that is not subject to audit and information that is
subject to audit.

Information that is not subject to audit
TheCapitaGroup Remuneration Committee (the Committee) is a sub-committee of theGroup Boardwith terms of reference agreedwith theGroup
Board. Its purpose is to determine the terms of employment and the remuneration of the Executive Directors. The terms of reference of the Committee
are available onCapita’s website (www.capita.co.uk) and on request.

The Committee wasmade up during the year of the following independent Non-Executive directors: Martina King, Peter Cawdron and Bill Grimsey.
Martina King replaced EricWalters as Chairman of the Committee following his appointment as Non-Executive Chairman of the Board on 1August 2006.
Bill Grimseywas appointed amember of the Committee with effect from 9October 2006.TheCommitteemet 3 times during the year and all members
attended eachmeeting.

The Committee consults the Chief Executive about proposals for remuneration of the Executive Directors and other senior executives, except when issues
relating to his own remuneration are discussed. In 2004, KPMG (UK) LLP (KPMG)was appointed as advisers by the Committee to provide independent
advice on executive remuneration and the structure of share schemes and they acted in this capacity throughout 2006. KPMG has provided tax advisory
services to subsidiaries of the company during the year under review. No other person or entity has providedmaterial assistance to the Committee during
the year.

The company has complied with the provisions set out in Section B of the CombinedCode annexed to the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority
as relating to directors’ remuneration.

Directors’ remuneration
a)Overall policy
TheCommittee’s overall policy is to provide a remuneration structure with a strong performance-related element which it feels is justified by the nature
of theGroup’s activities, its growth and profit record and its developing characteristics.

The overall package is weighted towards share-based incentives which the Committee strongly believes links the interests of the Executive Directors with
those of shareholders in respect of shareholder value. The Committee is satisfied that the remuneration policy is appropriate, particularly with regard to
total executive remuneration andGroup performance.TheCommittee plans to continue to pursue this approach in its future remuneration policy.
Consistent with this principle, approximately half of an executive’s target total remuneration is performance-linked andweighted to the
long-term.This percentagewould increase in the case of performance above target.

The remuneration package for the Executive Directors consists of salary, annual bonus, long term incentives, pension and other benefits.

The chart below compares the value of an investment of £100 in the company’s shares with an investment of the same amount in the FTSEAll Share
Index and the FTSE 350 Support Services Index over the 5 years starting 1 January 2002 and ending 31 December 2006 assuming that all dividend income
is reinvested.TheCommittee is of the opinion that this comparison provides a clear picture of the performance of theGroup relative to both
awide range of companies in theUnited Kingdom and also a specific group of companies within the same sector.

Comparison of total shareholder returns
Capita vs FTSEAll Share Index and FTSE 350 Support Services Index,Value of investment of £100 on 1 January 2002.

Source: KPMG and Datastream

A £100 investment in Capita shares on 1 January 2002would beworth £133 at 31 December 2006 compared to £150 for an investment in the
FTSEAll Share Index and £108 for an investment in the FTSE 350 Support Services Index.

Directors’ remuneration report

Business review Governance
71

Accounts

TheCapitaGroup PlcAnnual Report andAccounts 2006

£160

£140

£120

£100

£80

£60

£40

£20

 £0 

Capita Group FTSE All Share Index FTSE 350 Support Services Index

01.01.2002 31.12.2002 31.12.2003 31.12.2004 31.12.2005 31.12.2006 

Va
lu

e
of

£1
00

in
ve

st
ed

on
1

Ja
nu

ar
y

20
02



b)BasicSalaryandBenefits
TheCommittee regularly commissions independent reviews of the salaries and benefits of the Executive Directors. The policy adopted by the Committee
requires that basic salaries and benefits be below those provided to comparable roles in comparable companies to enable the provision of a higher
performance related element.

This low basic salary policy allows the Directors to provide a lead in terms of keeping fixed remuneration costs low across theGroup as a whole and is
reflective of theGroup’s remuneration policy in general. The continued success of theGroup has enabled it to provide the benefits of a highly geared
reward structure which delivers a competitive total remuneration package.

c)Annual Bonus Scheme
The value of the annual bonus is determined at the start of each financial year and payment triggered at a predeterminedGroup profit before tax target.
The Committee takes the view that this performance condition is relevant, challenging and designed to drive business enhancement.

Themaximum annual bonus potential for Executive Directors is 140%of salary. Half of the annual bonus entitlement will be paid in cash and the
remainder will be compulsorily deferred on a gross-basis into Capita shares (Deferred Shares). This reflects the Committee’s policy of providing
a significant proportion of performance-related remunerationwhilst maintaining low basic salaries.

For 2006 this resulted in a cash element payable of £734,823with the remainder of the performance related bonus being awarded in deferred shares.
The number of shares awarded is determinedwithin 42 days of 22 February 2007, the date of the announcement of theGroup’s results for 2006.

d)DeferredAnnualBonusPlan (DAB)
The DeferredAnnual Bonus planwas approved and adopted at theAGMon 28April 2005.The DAB is comprised of Deferred Shares, which form part of
theAnnual Bonus Scheme, andMatching Shares.

The first awards under the DABweremade in 2006, in respect of the 2005 financial year, amounting to 204,554 shares being awarded at a price
of £4.55 per share (market price of a Capita share on 3April 2006).

The DeferredAnnual Bonus Plan operates as follows:

The value of Deferred Shares is determined by the entitlement under theAnnual Bonus Scheme: half of the bonus entitlement is paid in cash and the
remainder is compulsorily deferred on a gross-basis into Deferred Shares. The Deferred Shares are held for a period of 3 years from the date of award
during which theywill not be forfeitable, except in the case of dismissal for gross misconduct.

A conditional award of Matching Shares is made at the same time as the award of Deferred Shares. Participants are eligible to receive up to 1.5 Matching
Shares for every Deferred Share. Matching Shares vest after the 3 year holding period to the extent to which performance criteria have beenmet. No
grant of Matching Shares have beenmade in the year.

The Committee has decided that the performance condition that will apply to theMatching Shares is earnings per share (EPS) growth against the
UK Retail Price Index (RPI). 33.3%of theMatching Shares will vest if growth in the company’s EPS over a 3 year period is equal to RPI growth plus
6% per annum, rising on a straight-line basis to 100%vesting if growth in the company’s EPS is equal to or greater than growth in the RPI plus 16%
per annum.TheCommittee believes that long term EPS growth is themost appropriate performance condition for Capita as it is a key indicator of
shareholder value creation.

The performance condition attached to the awards made under the bonus schememay be amended by theCommittee from time to time, subject to
the new performance condition being no less demanding than the original condition.

TheCommittee believes that this plan focuses participants on delivering strong year-on-year annual performance, which will in turn drive long term
shareholder value creation. Executive Directors and Divisional Executive Directors (Ipages 64-65) are eligible to participate in the DAB. No further
awards are made to participants under any other long term incentive plan.

e) LongTermIndexedShareAppreciationScheme(LTISAS)
The LTISASwas only open to the Executive Directors and the Divisional Executive Directors. Under the scheme, participants were providedwith 2 equal
tranches of 600,000 options. The criteria were the same for each of these issues and therefore both tranches had performance periods that ended
on 31 December 2006.The exercise price of the options moves in line with the FTSEAll Share Index from the date of grant to 25 November 2007.
This feature ensures that participants only gain if the share price out-performs the index. The final option price at which the awards can be exercised
cannot be below themarket value of the share at the date of grant.

Options became exercisable, over the performance period, subject to the growth in the company’s EPS exceeding certain targets as follows: 25%of the
options vesting if growth in the company’s EPS exceeded RPI growth by 8% per annum, rising on a straight-line basis to 100%vesting if growth in the
company’s EPS exceeded growth in the RPI by 12% per annum.As growth in the company’s EPS over the 3 year period to 31 December 2006 exceeded
RPI growth by 17.6%, 100%of the options have vested (representing 1,200,000 shares per participant with the exception of RodAldridge who received
1,093,333) andwill become exercisable from 25November 2007.

The last award under the LTISASwasmade in November 2004 and vested in full on 31 December 2006 and no further awards will be made under
this plan.

f) Long-termIncentivePlan (LTIP)
Awards under the LTIP were structured either as Restricted ShareAwards or Indexed Performance ShareAppreciation Rights.

The last Restricted ShareAwards and awards of IPSARs vested in full in May 2001 andMay 2003 respectively. No further awards have beenmade under
the LTIP.
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Restricted share awards
Restricted ShareAwards were designed to deliver shares to participants 3 years after the date of award.Theywould have been released if the company
was ranked at or above themedian in a comparator group selected from the support services sector. 5%of the awards would have been released at the
49th percentile, 50% at the 40th percentile and 100% at the 25th percentile or above. If the company’sTotal Shareholder Return (TSR) had been below
themedian at the end of the performance period, the Restricted ShareAwards would have lapsed. In addition, no shares would have been released if the
growth in the company’s EPS had not exceeded the growth in RPI over the 3 year performance period.

Indexed performance share appreciation rights (IPSARs)
Only 1 award of IPSARswasmade to participants under the LTIP and participationwas limited to the Executive Directors. Such appreciation rights were
designed like share options except that the exercise price to be paid by the participants increased pro rata to the FTSEAll Share Index.

IPSARs became exercisable 5 years after the awards were granted, subject to the company’sTSR ranking relative to the comparator group of companies.
If the company’sTSR had been at the upper quartile level, 40%of the IPSARswould have vested. For 100%of the awards to have vested the company’s
TSR had to be at the 10th percentile or better within the comparator group. If the company’sTSR ranking had been below the upper quartile, the IPSARs
would have lapsed. In addition no IPSARswould have been exercisable if growth in the company’s EPS had not exceeded the growth in RPI over the
5 year performance period.

g)Shareoption schemes
TheGroup has 2 share option schemes.The 1997 Executive ShareOption Scheme (including both HMRC approved and unapproved options)
is a discretionary scheme for senior managers, in which the Executive Directors and Divisional Executive Directors no longer participate, and the Capita
Sharesave Schemewhich is open to all Capita’s employees.

Options granted under the 1997 Scheme currently become exercisable if the growth in the company’s EPS exceeds growth in RPI by 8%over the
3 year period from the date of grant. Following shareholder approval at the 2006AGM, the 1997 Scheme, due to expire early in 2007, was renewed
for a period of 10 years.

h)Non-ExecutiveDirectors
Non-Executive Directors’ fees are reviewed annually and determined by the Executive Directors.

i) Servicecontracts
The service contracts for Group Board Executive Directors are for an indefinite period and provide for a 1 year notice period. They do not include
provisions for pre-determined compensation on termination that exceed 1 year’s salary and benefits.

All Directors are appointed for an indefinite period but are subject to re-election at theAnnual General Meeting every 3 years.

Details of the contracts are set out below:
Date of

Executive Directors Date of contract Notice period leaving

RodAldridge1 11.04.1989 12months 31.07.2006
Paul Pindar 11.04.1989 12months –
Paddy Doyle 10.01.1996 12months –
Gordon Hurst 02.01.1990 12months –
Simon Pilling2 26.07.1999 12months –
1RodAldridge stepped down from his role as Executive Chairman on 23March 2006 to becomeNon-Executive Chairman until his retirement from the company on 31 July 2006.
2 Simon Pilling was appointed to theGroup Board on 1August 2006.

Date of Date of
Non-Executive Directors appointment leaving

Peter Cawdron 01.09.1997 –
EricWalters1 31.10.2000 –
Martina King 01.01.2005 –
Bill Grimsey 09.10.2006 –
1 EricWalters was appointed as Non-Executive Chairman on 1August 2006.

Information subject to audit
a)Directors’ remuneration
The remuneration of the Directors, excluding Restricted ShareAwards and gains made on the exercise of options, is made up as follows:

2006 2005
£000s £000s

Basic salaries 1,151 1,063
Compensation 356 –
Benefits 109 99
Annual bonus 1,615 1,609
Pension contributions to theGroup’s defined contribution scheme 187 154
Fees 137 90
Total 3,555 3,015
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Details of Group Board Directors’ remuneration are as follows:
Performance

Salary and fees Compensation Benefits related bonus*** Total 2006 Total 2005 Pension 2006** Pension 2005**
£ £ £ £ £ £ £ £

RodAldridge 207,731 356,110 33,686 145,412 386,829 855,156 28,177 16,558
Paul Pindar 337,370 – 26,987 472,318 836,675 798,629 16,869 15,690
Paddy Doyle 217,013 – 20,461 375,074 612,548 581,974 77,871 69,789
Gordon Hurst 206,550 – 17,019 339,570 563,139 535,096 45,668 51,783
Simon Pilling 181,917 – 10,851 282,683 475,451 – 18,912 –
Peter Cawdron* 34,000 – – – 34,000 30,000 – –
EricWalters* 60,333 – – – 60,333 30,000 – –
Martina King* 34,000 – – – 34,000 30,000 – –
Bill Grimsey* 8,788 – – – 8,788 – –

*Non-Executive Directors
**Pension contributions to theGroup’s defined contribution scheme. In addition, by way of salary sacrifice, the base salaries of Gordon Hurst, Paddy
Doyle and Simon Pilling have been reduced by £36,000 (2005:£36,000), £50,807 (2005:£50,897) and £20,000 (2005: £20,000) respectively and paid
into separate defined contribution schemes.
***The sumdisclosed above represents the total value of the performance related bonus. 50%will be paid in cash and the remainder will be settled
through the issue of deferred shares as explained in d) onIpage 75.

The benefits of Paul Pindar, the highest paid director, RodAldridge and Simon Pilling are in respect of private health insurance and the provision of a
company car. The benefits of Paddy Doyle andGordon Hurst are in respect of car allowance and private health insurance.

Paul Pindar was released by the company to serve as a Non-Executive Director of Debenhams Plc with effect from 9May 2006. He receives £50,000
per annum in fees fromDebenhams Plc which he retains.

b)Shareoption schemes
Options were granted under the 1997 Scheme and consist of HMRCApproved andUnapproved share options.Options become exercisable if the growth
in the company’s EPS exceeds the growth in the RPI by 8%over the 3 year period from the date of grant. Since May 2002, the Directors became ineligible
for further awards under this scheme.

The Directors’ interests in the 1997 Scheme are listed below:
At At

Exercise price 1 January Granted Exercised 31 December
£ 2006 in the year in the year 2006 Exercisable between*

RodAldridge 0.71 225,000 – – 225,000 25.02.2002 to 25.02.2007
4.49 200,000 – – 200,000 28.06.2004 to 28.06.2008
4.36 100,000 – – 100,000 22.05.2005 to 22.08.2009

Paul Pindar 0.71 225,000 – 225,000 – 25.02.2002 to 25.02.2007
4.49 200,000 – – 200,000 28.06.2004 to 28.06.2008
4.36 100,000 – – 100,000 22.05.2005 to 22.08.2009

Paddy Doyle 4.49 200,000 – – 200,000 28.06.2004 to 28.06.2008
4.36 100,000 – – 100,000 22.05.2005 to 22.08.2009

Gordon Hurst 4.49 200,000 – – 200,000 28.06.2004 to 28.06.2008
4.36 100,000 – – 100,000 22.05.2005 to 22.08.2009

Simon Pilling 4.36 75,000 – 75,000 – 22.05.2005 to 22.08.2009
4.49 80,000 – 80,000 – 28.06.2004 to 28.06.2008
4.54 50,000 – 50,000 – 26.02.2004 to 26.02.2008

*subject to performance

In 2006 the aggregate gain on the exercise of share options by Directors was £1.4million (2005: £nil).

Themarket value of an ordinary share of the company at 31 December 2006was 611.0p, and the high and low values for the year were 619.0p
and 413.3p respectively.

Interests in Capita Sharesave Scheme
At At

Exercise price 1 January Granted Exercised 31 December
£ 2006 in the year in the year 2006 Exercisable between

Paddy Doyle 1.88 4,906 – 4,906 – 31.10.2006 to 30.04.2007
Paul Pindar 1.88 4,906 – 4,906 – 31.10.2006 to 30.04.2007
Gordon Hurst 1.88 8,430 – – 8,430 31.10.2008 to 30.04.2009
EricWalters* 3.90 4,326 – 4,326 – 31.10.2006 to 30.04.2007
Simon Pilling 1.88 4,906 – 4,906 – 31.10.2006 to 30.04.2007
*Non-Executive Director
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The exercise prices quoted above are set at 80%of themarket price at the date of grant. The options are exercisable in the period given above after
having completed a 3 or 5 year savings period. There are no performance criteria to be satisfied under this scheme.

c)SharesawardedundertheLongTermIndexedShareAppreciationScheme
At Price at At

1 January date of grant Option 31 December
2006 Date of award £ forfeited 2006 Exercisable between

RodAldridge 600,000 25.11.2002 2.16 40,000 560,000 25.11.2007 to 25.11.2012
600,000 25.11.2004 3.51 66,667 533,333 25.11.2007 to 25.11.2012

Paul Pindar 600,000 25.11.2002 2.16 – 600,000 25.11.2007 to 25.11.2012
600,000 25.11.2004 3.51 – 600,000 25.11.2007 to 25.11.2012

Paddy Doyle 600,000 25.11.2002 2.16 – 600,000 25.11.2007 to 25.11.2012
600,000 25.11.2004 3.51 – 600,000 25.11.2007 to 25.11.2012

Gordon Hurst 600,000 25.11.2002 2.16 – 600,000 25.11.2007 to 25.11.2012
600,000 25.11.2004 3.51 – 600,000 25.11.2007 to 25.11.2012

Simon Pilling 600,000 25.11.2002 2.16 – 600,000 25.11.2007 to 25.11.2012
600,000 25.11.2004 3.51 – 600,000 25.11.2007 to 25.11.2012

The grant price for each tranchewas calculated based on the average of the closing share price over themonth prior to the date of grant. The exercise
price of the options increases in line with the FTSEAll Share Index, measured from the date of grant to 25 November 2007.

Options became exercisable, if over the 3 year performance period to 31 December 2006, the growth in the company’s EPS exceeded certain targets as
follows: 25%of the options vest if growth in the company’s EPS exceeded RPI growth by 8% per annum, rising on a straight-line basis to 100%vesting
if growth in the company’s EPS exceeded growth in the RPI by 12% per annum.As theGroupmet the performance criteria in full, 100%of the options
vested on 31 December 2006 and become exercisable on 25 November 2007.

At 31 December 2006 themarket price for a Capita share was 611p and the FTSEAll Share Index stood at 3221 (25 November 2002 – 1980 and
25 November 2004 – 2367).

RodAldridge will retain his entitlement to 1,093,333 shares under the scheme, the exercise dates remaining as above.

d)SharesawardedundertheLongTermInvestmentPlan
Restricted ShareAwards
Restricted ShareAwards were designed to deliver shares to participants 3 years after the date of award subject to the company’sTSR ranking relative to a
comparator group of companies and the growth in the company’s EPS exceeding the growth in RPI over the 3 year performance period, as described
onIpage 71.

The performance requirements were met in full on 4May 2001.

RodAldridge has not exercised his right of transfer in respect of these shares and therefore has an entitlement to 279,069 shares. Had he exercised
his right to transfer on 5May 2001when the shares vested, the share price would have been 509p and the gain would have been £1,420,461.

IPSARs
Number Number

of shares at of shares at
1 January Exercised 31 December Latest

2006 Vesting date in year 2006 exercise date

RodAldridge 1,200,000 05.05.2003 – 1,200,000 05.05.2008
Paul Pindar 1,200,000 05.05.2003 – 1,200,000 05.05.2008

IPSARs became exercisable 5 years after the awards were granted, subject to the company’sTSR ranking relative to a comparator group of companies and
the growth in the company’s EPS exceeding the growth in RPI over the 5 year performance period. The performance requirements in respect of the
IPSARsweremet in full on 4May 2003 and the IPSARs are exercisable at a price of 169p per share.

e)Pensions
Pension contributions are made into theGroup’s defined contribution scheme.The companymakes contributions at a rate of 5%of basic salary.
Gordon Hurst, Simon Pilling and Paddy Doyle made additional contributions, by way of salary sacrifice in the year, to a separate executive defined
contribution scheme.

The report has been approved by theGroup Board and has been signed on behalf of the Board by:

EricWalters Martina King
Non-Executive Chairman Chairman Remuneration Committee
21 February 2007 21 February 2007
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2006 2005

Before
Before impairment and Impairment and

amortisation Amortisation Total amortisation amortisation Total
Notes £m £m £m £m £m £m

Continuing operations:
Revenue 3 1,738.5 – 1,738.5 1,435.5 – 1,435.5
Cost of sales 1,256.5 – 1,256.5 1,054.6 – 1,054.6
Gross profit 482.0 – 482.0 380.9 – 380.9
Administrative expenses 256.9 6.9 263.8 197.8 16.5 214.3
Operating profit 6 225.1 (6.9) 218.2 183.1 (16.5) 166.6
Finance revenue 8 1.0 – 1.0 0.4 – 0.4
Finance costs 9 (26.0) – (26.0) (13.9) – (13.9)
Profit before tax 200.1 (6.9) 193.2 169.6 (16.5) 153.1
Income tax expense 10 (55.4) 1.9 (53.5) (47.0) 1.2 (45.8)
Profit for the year 144.7 (5.0) 139.7 122.6 (15.3) 107.3
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 144.8 (5.0) 139.8 122.8 (15.3) 107.5
Minority interest (0.1) – (0.1) (0.2) – (0.2)

144.7 (5.0) 139.7 122.6 (15.3) 107.3
Earnings per share 11
– basic 23.10p (0.78)p 22.32p 18.60p (2.32)p 16.28p
– diluted 22.56p (0.76)p 21.80p 18.33p (2.28)p 16.05p

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2006
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2006 2005
£m £m

Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit pension schemes 12.8 (3.7)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (0.7) 0.2
Gain on available for sale investments 0.3 –
Tax on items taken directly to equity 11.0 3.7
Net income recognised directly in equity 23.4 0.2
Profit for the year 139.7 107.3
Total income and expense for the period 163.1 107.5
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 163.2 107.7
Minority interest (0.1) (0.2)

163.1 107.5

Consolidated statement of recognised income
and expense
for the year ended 31 December 2006

The Capita Group Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2006



Consolidated balance sheet
at 31 December 2006

The Capita Group Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2006

Business review Governance Accounts
80

2006 2005
Notes £m £m

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 171.0 150.1
Intangible assets 14 630.0 588.7
Financial assets 16 32.6 13.8
Trade and other receivables 18 6.8 5.8
Deferred taxation 10 22.1 25.1

862.5 783.5
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 18 394.9 343.8
Cash 9.7 –

404.6 343.8
Total assets 1,267.1 1,127.3
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 449.4 378.0
Financial liabilities 21 50.4 49.9
Provisions 23 1.0 1.3
Income tax payable 33.5 32.5

534.3 461.7
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 0.8 1.3
Financial liabilities 21 378.7 221.7
Provisions 23 0.7 2.0
Employee benefits 31 26.8 43.0

407.0 268.0
Total liabilities 941.3 729.7
Net assets 325.8 397.6
Capital and reserves
Issued share capital 25 12.3 13.4
Share premium 27 308.1 258.1
Treasury shares 25 – (0.4)
Capital redemption reserve 27 1.7 0.2
Foreign currency translation 27 (0.4) 0.3
Retained earnings 27 4.0 125.8
Equity shareholders’ funds 325.7 397.4
Minority interest 27 0.1 0.2
Total equity 325.8 397.6

The accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 21 February 2007 and signed on its behalf by:

P RMPindar GMHurst
Chief Executive Group Finance Director
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2006 2005
Notes £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit on continuing activities before interest and taxation 218.2 166.6
Depreciation 13 42.2 31.7
Amortisation of other intangible assets (treated as depreciation) 14 1.2 4.9
Amortisation of intangible assets created on acquisition 14 6.9 4.5
Impairment of goodwill 15 – 12.0
Share based payment expense 26 8.5 7.6
Pension charge 31 15.9 12.0
Pension contributions 31 (19.1) (16.6)
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 0.3 0.5
Movement in provisions (1.9) (2.4)
Increase in debtors (48.8) (19.4)
Increase in creditors 55.6 30.8
Cash generated from operations 279.0 232.2
Income tax paid (40.3) (38.2)
Interest paid (23.1) (13.9)
Interest received 1.0 0.4
Net cash generated from operating activities 216.6 180.5
Net cash used in investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 13 (63.0) (49.7)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1.9 0.4
Purchase of intangible fixed assets 14 (1.4) (4.0)
Acquisition of subsidiary undertakings and businesses (37.6) (101.9)
Cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings 1.0 2.7
Purchase of trade investments in insurance captives 16 (7.6) (12.0)
Investment loan 16 (11.7) –

(118.4) (164.5)
Net cash used in financing activities
Issue of ordinary share capital 27 50.4 9.9
Share buybacks 27 (244.9) (49.6)
Share transaction costs 27 (1.2) (0.3)
Dividends paid 12 (47.7) (38.0)
Capital element of finance lease rental payments 28 (0.4) (0.2)
Asset based securitised financing 28 (0.7) 1.4
Repayment of loan notes and long term loans 28 (3.4) (7.3)
Proceeds on issue of bonds 21 179.1 75.0
Financing arrangement costs 21 (0.9) (0.1)

(69.7) (9.2)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 28.5 6.8
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period (19.3) (26.1)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 9.2 (19.3)
Cash and cash equivalents comprise:
Overdraft 21 (0.5) (19.3)
Cash at bank and in hand 9.7 –
Total 9.2 (19.3)

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2006
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1 Corporate information
The consolidated financial statements of The Capita Group Plc for the year ended 31 December 2006 were authorised for issue in accordance with a
resolution of the Directors on 21 February 2007. The Capita Group Plc is a public limited company incorporated in England and Wales whose shares are
publicly traded.

The principal activities of the Group are given in the business review onIpages 9-61.

2 Summary of significant accounting policies
(a)Statementof compliance
The consolidated financial statements of The Capita Group Plc and all of its subsidiaries (the Group) have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted for use in the European Union and as applied in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act 1985. The parent company continues to apply UK GAAP in the preparation of its individual financial statements and these are contained
onIpages 114-121.

(b)Basisofpreparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under IFRS where certain financial instruments, separately identifiable intangibles acquired on
business combinations and the pension assets and liabilities have been measured at fair value. The carrying value of recognised assets and liabilities that
are hedged are adjusted to record changes in the fair values attributable to the risks that are being hedged. The consolidated financial statements are
presented in pounds sterling and all values are rounded to the nearest tenth of a million (£m) except when otherwise indicated.

(c)Basisof consolidation
The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of The Capita Group Plc and its subsidiaries as at 31 December each year.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year as the parent company, using consistent accounting policies,
but in accordance with UK GAAP. Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist between IFRS and UK GAAP.

All intercompany balances and transactions, including unrealised profits arising from intragroup transactions, have been eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred out of the Group. Where there is a loss of control of a subsidiary, the consolidated financial statements include the results for the part of the
reporting year during which The Capita Group Plc has control.

(d)Changes inaccountingpolicies
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except as follows:

The Group has adopted the following new and amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations during the year. Adoption of these revised standards and
interpretations did not have any effect on the financial statements of the Group. They did, however, give rise to additional disclosures:

• IAS 21 Amendment – The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates

• IAS 39 Amendments – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

• IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a Lease

The Group has also early adopted the following IFRS and IFRIC interpretations. Adoption of these standards and interpretations did not have any effect
on the financial position of the Group. They did, however, give rise to additional disclosures:

• IAS 1 Amendment – Presentation of Financial Statements

• IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2

The principal effects of these changes are as follows:

IAS 1 Amendment – Presentation of Financial Statements This amendment requires the Group to make new disclosures to enable users of the financial
statements to evaluate the Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing capital. These new disclosures are shown in note 24. The Group has
elected to early adopt this amendment to IAS 1.

IAS 19 Amendment – Employee Benefits This amendment to IAS 19 is effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006 with earlier
adoption encouraged. The amendment requires additional disclosures providing information about trends in the assets and liabilities in the defined
benefit plans and the assumptions underlying the components of the defined benefit cost. The amendment also allowed the option of recognising all
actuarial gains and losses outside of the income statement. The Group had early adopted this amendment in the year ended 31 December 2005;
consequently there will be no further impact on the financial statements this year.

IAS 21 Amendment – The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates As of 1 January 2006, the Group adopted the amendments to IAS 21.
As a result, all exchange differences arising from a monetary item that forms part of the Group’s net investment in a foreign operation are recognised
in a separate component of equity in the consolidated financial statements regardless of the currency in which the monetary item is denominated.
This change has had no significant impact as at 31 December 2006 or 31 December 2005.

IAS 39 Amendments – Financial Instruments: Recognition andMeasurement Amendment for FinancialGuaranteeContracts (issued August 2005)
amended the scope of IAS 39 to require financial guarantee contracts that are not considered to be insurance contracts to be recognised initially at fair
value and to be remeasured at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities andContingentAssets
and the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with IAS 18 Revenue.This amendment
did not have any effect on the financial statements.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2006
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(d)Changes inaccountingpolicies (continued)
Amendment for hedges of forecast intragroup transactions (issued April 2005) amended IAS 39 to permit the foreign currency risk of a highly probable
intragroup forecast transaction to qualify as the hedged item in a cash flow hedge, provided that the transaction is denominated in a currency other
than the functional currency of the entity entering into that transaction and that the foreign currency risk will affect the consolidated income statement.
As the Group currently has no such transactions, the amendment did not have an effect on the financial statements.

Amendment for the fair value option (issued June 2005) amended IAS 39 to restrict the use of the option to designate any financial asset or any financial
liability to be measured at fair value through the income statement. As the Group currently has no such transactions, the amendment did not have an
effect on the financial statements.

IFRIC 4Determiningwhether an Arrangement contains a Lease The Group adopted IFRIC Interpretation 4 as of 1 January 2006 which provides
guidance in determining whether arrangements contain a lease to which lease accounting must be applied. This change in accounting policy has not
had a significant impact on the financial statements as at 31 December 2006 or 31 December 2005.

IFRIC 8 Scope of IFRS 2 The Group early adopted IFRIC Interpretation 8 as of 1 January 2006 which requires IFRS 2 to be applied to any arrangements
where equity instruments are issued for consideration which appears to be less than fair value. As equity instruments are only issued to employees in
accordance with the Group’s employee share schemes, the interpretation has had no impact on the financial position of the Group.

(e)Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably measured.
Other than in respect of service contracts, described below, and where the Group is acting as lessor (see (v)), revenue represents fee income recognised
in respect of services provided during the period (stated net of value added tax).

Revenue is earned within the United Kingdom, Europe, India and South-east Asia.

(f) Servicecontracts
(i) Brownfield outsourcing contracts – Brownfield contracts are where there is a transfer of an existing operation to the Group. For brownfield contracts
all costs incurred prior to service commencement are expensed as incurred and revenue represents fee income in respect of services provided.

(ii)Greenfield outsourcing contracts – A greenfield contract is one in which an entirely new service is being established for a customer. For these
contracts no profit is recognised until service delivery commences and is being invoiced. Upon commencement, revenue represents fees invoiced in
respect of services provided. Direct incremental costs incurred on the contract prior to service commencement and reimbursable during the contract,
excluding any overheads, are included in debtors and amortised over the life of the contract. On some contracts, non-refundable payments are received,
prior to full service commencement, on the achievement of agreed contract delivery milestones. These are recognised as revenue when earned.

(iii) Property consultancy contracts – Revenue represents the sales value of work done in the year, including fees invoiced and estimates in respect
of amounts to be invoiced after the year-end. Profits are recognised on long term contracts where the final outcome can be assessed with reasonable
certainty. In calculating this the percentage of completion method is used based on the proportion of costs incurred to the total estimated cost.
Cost includes direct staff costs and outlays. Full provision is made for all known or anticipated losses on each contract immediately such losses
are forecast.

Gross amounts due from customers are stated at the proportion of the anticipated net sales value earned to date less amounts billed on account.
To the extent that fees paid on account exceed the value of work performed, they are included in creditors as gross amounts due to customers.

(g) Foreigncurrency translation
The functional and presentation currency of The Capita Group Plc and its United Kingdom subsidiaries is the pound sterling (£). Transactions in foreign
currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All differences are taken to the
consolidated income statement with the exception of differences on foreign currency borrowings that provide a hedge against a net investment in a
foreign operation. These are taken directly to equity until the disposal of the net investment, at which time they are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange differences on those borrowings are also dealt with in equity. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate as at the date of initial transaction. Non-monetary items measured
at fair value in a foreign currency shall be translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.

The functional currencies of overseas operations include the euro, Indian rupee, Malaysian ringgit, South Korean won and the Philippine peso. As at the
reporting date, the assets and liabilities of the overseas operations are retranslated into the presentation currency of The Capita Group Plc at the rate of
exchange ruling at the balance sheet date and its income statement is translated at the weighted average exchange rate for the year. The exchange
differences arising on the retranslation are taken directly to a separate component of equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the deferred cumulative
amount recognised in equity relating to that particular foreign operation shall be recognised in the income statement.

The Group has elected not to record cumulative translation differences arising prior to the transition date as permitted by IFRS 1. In utilising this
exemption, all cumulative translation differences are deemed to be zero as at 1 January 2004 and all subsequent disposals shall exclude any translation
differences arising prior to the date of transition.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(h)Property, plantandequipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment in value. Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life of the asset as follows:

Freehold buildings and long leasehold property – over 50 years
Leasehold improvements – period of the lease
Plant and equipment – 3 – 10 years

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value
may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written
down to their recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment is the greater of net selling price and value in use.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement
in the administrative expenses line item.

An item of property, plant and equipment is de-recognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the item) is included in the income statement in the year in which the item is de-recognised.

(i)Borrowingcosts
Borrowing costs are currently recognised as an expense when incurred in accordance with the benchmark accounting treatment under IAS 23.

(j)Goodwill
Goodwill recognised under UK GAAP prior to the date of transition to IFRS is stated at net book value as at this date. This goodwill had been amortised
on a straight-line basis over its useful economic life (ranging from 5 to 20 years). This was changed on transition to IFRS. Goodwill recognised subsequent
to 1 January 2004 is, on acquisition, initially measured at cost being the excess of the cost of the business combination over the acquirer’s interest
in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities. Following initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may be impaired. Goodwill arising on acquisitions prior to 31 December 1997 remains set off directly against reserves even if the
related investment becomes impaired or the business is disposed of.

As at the acquisition date, any goodwill acquired is allocated to each of the cash-generating units expected to benefit from the combination’s synergies.
Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating
unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured on the basis
of the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

(k) Intangibleassets
Intangible assets acquired separately are capitalised at cost and those identified in a business acquisition are capitalised at fair value as at the date of
acquisition. Following initial recognition, the carrying amount of an intangible asset is its cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. There were no indefinite-lived assets in 2005 or 2006.
Amortisation is charged on assets with finite lives, this expense is taken to the income statement through the administrative expenses line item.

Intangible assets with finite lives are only tested for impairment, either individually or at the cash-generating unit level, where there is an indicator
of impairment.

Gains or losses arising from de-recognition of an intangible asset are measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and are recognised in the income statement when the asset is de-recognised.

Intangible assets identified and recognised since transition to IFRS are profiled as follows:

• Brands are amortised evenly over their useful economic lives of 5 and 10 years

• Software and licences are amortised over their useful economic lives of 5 years

• Contracts and committed sales are amortised over their useful economic lives of between 1.5 and 10 years

• Customer lists and relationships are amortised over their useful economic lives of between 4 and 10 years

• Other intangibles are amortised over their useful economic lives of 6.5 years

(l)Recoverableamountofnon-currentassets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicator of impairment exists,
the Group makes a formal estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Investmentsandavailable for sale financial assets
All investments are initially recorded at the fair value of the consideration given including acquisition charges associated with the investment.
Subsequently they are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not be recoverable.
Trade investments are recognised at fair value.

Available for sale financial assets are measured at the fair value with unrealised gains or losses being recognised directly in equity. When the investment
is disposed of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recorded in equity is recognised in the income statement.

(n)Tradeandother receivables
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectable amounts. An estimate for doubtful debts
is made when collection of the full amount is no longer probable. Bad debts are written off when identified.

(o)Cashandcashequivalents
Cash and short term deposits in the balance sheet comprise cash at bank and in hand and short term deposits with an original maturity of 3 months
or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of
outstanding bank overdrafts, except where no right of set-off exists.

(p) Interest-bearing loansandborrowings
All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received net of issue costs associated with the borrowing.

After initial recognition loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any issue costs, and any discount or premium on settlement.

Gains and losses are recognised in the income statement when the liabilities are de-recognised, as well as through the amortisation process.

(q)Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow
of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
Where the Group expects some or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised as
a separate asset but only when recovery is virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is presented in the income statement net of any
reimbursement. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is
used, the increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a borrowing cost.

(r) Surplusproperties
The Group provides, on a discounted basis, for the future rent expense and related cost of leasehold property (net of estimated sub-lease income) where
the space is vacant or currently not planned to be used for ongoing operations.

(s)Pre-contract costs
Pre-contract award bidding costs are expensed as incurred.

(t)Pension schemes
The Group maintains a number of defined contribution pension schemes and for these schemes the Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income statement for the year when they are due.

In addition, the Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme and participates in a number of other defined benefit pension schemes, all of which
require contributions to be made to separate trustee-administered funds. The costs of providing benefits under these schemes are determined separately
for each scheme using the projected unit credit method, which attributes entitlement to benefits to the current period (to determine current service
cost) and to the current and prior periods (to determine the present value of defined benefit obligation) and is based on actuarial advice. Past service
costs are recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the changes are conditional on employees remaining in service for a specified period
of time (the vesting period). In this case, the past service costs are amortised on a straight-line basis over the average vesting period.

When a settlement (eliminating all obligations for benefits already accrued) or a curtailment (reducing future obligations as a result of a material
reduction in the scheme membership or a reduction in future entitlement) occurs the obligation and related plan assets are remeasured using current
actuarial assumptions and the resultant gain or loss recognised in the income statement during the period in which the settlement or curtailment occurs.

The interest cost element of the defined benefit pension charge represents a change in the present value of scheme obligations resulting from the
passage of time and is determined by applying the discount rate to the opening present value of the benefit obligation taking into account material
changes in the obligation during the year. The expected return on plan assets is based on an assessment made at the beginning of the year of long term
market returns on scheme assets, adjusted for the effect on fair value of plan assets of contributions received and benefits paid during the year.

In respect of 3 of the defined benefit pension schemes in which the Group participates, the Group accounts for its legal and constructive obligation over
the period of its participation which is for a fixed period only.

Actuarial gains and losses are fully recognised in equity through the statement of recognised income and expense such that the balance sheet reflects
the scheme’s surplus or liability at the balance sheet date. Current and past service cost are charged to operating profit with the interest cost, net of
expected return on assets in the plans, included within administrative expenses.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(t)Pension schemes (continued)
The liability on the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit pension schemes comprises the total for each scheme, or group of schemes, of
the present value of the defined benefit obligation (using a discount rate based on high quality corporate bonds), less any past service cost not yet
recognised and less the fair value of plan assets out of which the obligations are to be settled directly. Fair value is based on market price information
and in the case of quoted securities is the published bid price. The value of a net pension benefit asset is restricted to the sum of any unrecognised
past service costs and the present value of any amount the Group expects to recover by way of refunds from the plan or reductions in the
future contributions.

(u)Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps and foreign currency contracts to hedge risks associated with interest and
exchange rate fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. The fair values of interest rate swaps and foreign currency
contracts are determined by reference to market rates for similar instruments.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either: fair value hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of a
recognised asset or liability; or cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to either a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a forecast transaction.

In relation to fair value hedges (e.g. fixed to floating interest rate swaps held as fair value hedges against fixed interest rate borrowings) which meet
the conditions for hedge accounting, any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognised immediately in the income
statement. Any gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and
recognised in the income statement. The Group does not currently hold any significant cash flow hedges.

For derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to the income statement.

(v) Leasing
The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement at inception date and is concerned
with whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent upon the use of a specific asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the
asset. For arrangements entered into prior to 1 January 2005, the date of inception is deemed to be 1 January 2005 in accordance with the transitional
provisions of IFRIC 4.

Group as a lessee Finance leases, which transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the leased item, are
capitalised at the inception of the lease at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments.
Lease payments are apportioned between the finance charges and reduction of the lease liability so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged directly against income.

Capitalised leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the estimated life of the asset or the lease term. Leases where the lessor retains
substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases. Operating lease payments are recognised as
an expense in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are classified as operating
leases. Rental income arising from operating leases is recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(w) Incometax
Deferred income tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred income tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences:

• except where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill

• except where the deferred income tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, except where
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax assets and unused tax losses, to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry-forward of unused tax
assets and unused tax losses can be utilised, except where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in equity and not in the income statement.
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(x)Sharebasedpayments
The Group operates a number of executive and employee share schemes.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted and is recognised
as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is
determined using an option pricing model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions
linked to the price of the shares of the company (market conditions).

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition, which are
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions, the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest or,
in the case of an instrument subject to a market condition, be treated as vesting as described above. The movement in cumulative expense since the
previous balance sheet date is recognised in the income statement, with a corresponding entry in equity.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified or a new award is designated as replacing a cancelled or settled award, the cost based on the
original award terms continues to be recognised over the original vesting period. In addition, an expense is recognised over the remainder of the new
vesting period for the incremental fair value of any modification, based on the difference between the fair value of the original award and the fair value
of the modified award, both as measured on the date of the modification. No reduction is recognised if this difference is negative.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any cost not yet recognised in the income
statement for the award is expensed immediately. Any compensation paid up to the fair value of the award at the cancellation or settlement date is
deducted from equity, with any excess over the fair value being treated as an expense in the income statement.

The Group has taken advantage of the transitional provisions of IFRS 2 in respect of equity-settled awards and has applied IFRS 2 only to equity-settled
awards granted after 7 November 2002 that had not vested before 1 January 2005.

(y)Newstandardsand interpretationsnotapplied
During the year, the IASB and the IFRIC have issued the following standards and interpretations with an effective date after the date of these
financial statements:

Effective date

International Accounting Standards (IAS/IFRSs)
IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures 1 January 2007
IFRS 8 Operating Segments 1 January 2009
International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
IFRIC 7 Applying the Restatement Approach under IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies 1 March 2006
IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives 1 June 2006
IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment 1 November 2006
IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 – Group and Treasury Share Transactions 1 March 2007
IFRIC 12 Service Concession Arrangements 1 January 2008

The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations will have a material impact on the Group’s financial statements
in the period of initial application.

3 Revenue
Revenue disclosed in the income statement is analysed as follows:

2006 2005
Notes £m £m

Rendering of services 1,649.9 1,370.1
Construction contracts 20 70.5 47.3
Rental income from operating leases 22 18.1 18.1
Revenue 1,738.5 1,435.5
Finance revenue 8 1.0 0.4
Total revenue 1,739.5 1,435.9
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4Administrative expenses
Included in the middle column disclosed on the face of the consolidated income statement, against the line item administrative expenses,
are the following:

2006 2005
£m £m

Intangible amortisation (see note 14) 6.9 4.5
Impairment (see note 15) – 12.0

6.9 16.5

5 Segmental information
The Group’s operations are organised and managed separately according to the nature of the services provided, with each segment representing
a strategic business unit offering a different package of related services across the Group’s markets. A description of the service provision for each
segment can be found in the business review onIpages 44-49.

Before eliminating sales between business units on consolidation, the Group accounts for sales between business units as if they were to a third party
at market rates. Revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on the location of the assets producing the revenues.

The tables below present revenue, result and certain asset and liability information for the Group’s business segments for the years 2006 and 2005.
All operations in 2006 are continuing.

During 2006 the Group changed the management reporting structure of its operations and therefore the disclosure below presents the information
under the new structure. The comparatives have been restated accordingly.

Yearended31December2006
Insurance ICT and

Property and specialist Financial Integrated advisory Life & Professional
HR solutions consultancy services services services services pensions services Total

Segment revenue £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Total segment revenue 226.0 225.5 310.1 120.9 317.6 329.3 186.9 249.5 1,965.8
Inter-segment revenue (20.1) (26.1) (26.9) (0.1) (16.7) (77.0) (2.6) (57.8) (227.3)
Third party revenue 205.9 199.4 283.2 120.8 300.9 252.3 184.3 191.7 1,738.5
Segment result
Result after depreciation 18.7 13.9 32.8 32.1 48.7 25.8 23.4 38.2 233.6
Share based payment (1.0) (1.1) (1.5) (0.6) (2.1) (0.7) (0.7) (0.8) (8.5)
Intangible amortisation (0.2) (0.9) (2.2) (0.9) (0.9) (0.4) (1.2) (0.2) (6.9)

17.5 11.9 29.1 30.6 45.7 24.7 21.5 37.2 218.2
Net finance costs (25.0)
Profit before tax and
minority interests 193.2
Corporation taxation (53.5)
Minority interests 0.1
Profit after tax and
minority interests 139.8

Other segment information
Assets by segment
Assets 58.8 68.1 135.7 62.7 118.0 37.2 75.3 51.5 607.3
Intangible assets 79.2 54.3 203.7 160.1 25.1 28.4 39.4 39.8 630.0

138.0 122.4 339.4 222.8 143.1 65.6 114.7 91.3 1,237.3
Liabilities (29.1) (24.0) (129.9) (60.8) (95.7) (34.9) (37.5) (101.0) (512.9)
Net allocated assets/
(liabilities) 108.9 98.4 209.5 162.0 47.4 30.7 77.2 (9.7) 724.4
Unallocated assets 29.8
Unallocated liabilities (428.4)
Total net assets 325.8
Capital expenditure

Tangible assets 4.4 3.1 5.3 3.6 16.6 4.9 18.4 6.7 63.0
Depreciation charge 1.6 2.7 4.7 2.0 19.1 3.8 4.9 3.4 42.2
Intangible assets 0.2 2.6 6.0 20.9 0.4 7.9 0.3 11.1 49.4
Intangible
amortisation 0.2 0.9 2.2 0.9 0.9 0.4 1.2 0.2 6.9

Unallocated assets include held for sale financial assets and cash in bank. Unallocated liabilities include overdrafts, lease obligations, loan notes, currency
and interest rate swaps, bonds and the aggregate pension deficit.
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5 Segmental information (continued)
The tables below present revenue by the geographical location of customers, carrying amount of assets and expenditure on tangible and intangible
assets by location of those assets.

United Non-United
Kingdom Kingdom Total

Revenue £m £m £m

Total segment revenue 1,915.3 50.5 1,965.8
Inter-segment revenue (231.1) 3.8 (227.3)
Third party revenue 1,684.2 54.3 1,738.5
Other segment information
Assets 581.1 26.2 607.3
Intangible assets 612.7 17.3 630.0
Unallocated assets 29.8 – 29.8
Total assets 1,223.6 43.5 1,267.1
Capital expenditure

Tangible assets 59.4 3.6 63.0
Intangible assets 39.6 9.8 49.4

Yearended31December2005
Insurance ICT and

Property and specialist Financial Integrated advisory Life & Professional
HR solutions consultancy services services services services pensions services Total

Segment revenue £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Total segment revenue 216.5 200.7 271.4 99.4 287.0 191.0 117.1 190.1 1,573.2
Inter-segment revenue (14.3) (10.2) (17.7) (1.9) (24.3) (46.0) (2.3) (21.0) (137.7)
Third party revenue 202.2 190.5 253.7 97.5 262.7 145.0 114.8 169.1 1,435.5
Segment result
Result after depreciation 15.9 17.1 25.4 24.9 43.7 15.9 14.2 33.6 190.7
Share based payment (0.9) (1.0) (1.3) (0.5) (1.9) (0.6) (0.6) (0.8) (7.6)
Intangible amortisation (1.7) (0.5) (0.9) (0.3) (0.6) – (0.5) – (4.5)
Impairment charge – – – – – – – (12.0) (12.0)

13.3 15.6 23.2 24.1 41.2 15.3 13.1 20.8 166.6
Finance costs (13.5)
Profit before tax and
minority interests 153.1
Corporation taxation (45.8)
Minority interests 0.2
Profit after tax and
minority interests 107.5

Other segment information
Assets by segment
Assets 40.4 62.0 120.6 65.1 129.0 30.5 44.0 33.4 525.0
Intangible assets 79.2 52.6 201.0 140.2 25.6 20.9 40.3 28.9 588.7

119.6 114.6 321.6 205.3 154.6 51.4 84.3 62.3 1,113.7
Liabilities (22.1) (26.6) (122.1) (56.3) (106.1) (8.8) (21.2) (80.3) (443.5)
Net allocated
assets/(liabilities) 97.5 88.0 199.5 149.0 48.5 42.6 63.1 (18.0) 670.2
Unallocated assets 13.6
Unallocated liabilities (286.2)
Total net assets 397.6
Capital expenditure

Tangible assets 1.8 4.1 5.3 1.8 14.0 2.9 15.1 4.7 49.7
Depreciation charge 3.1 2.2 3.2 1.7 11.3 4.1 2.6 3.5 31.7
Intangible assets – 3.8 41.9 10.6 21.3 – 18.9 13.4 109.9
Intangible
amortisation 1.7 0.5 0.9 0.3 0.6 – 0.5 – 4.5
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5 Segmental information (continued)
The tables below present revenue by the geographical location of customers, carrying amount of assets and expenditure on tangible and intangible
assets by location of those assets.

United Non-United
Kingdom Kingdom Total

Revenue £m £m £m

Total segment revenue 1,542.3 30.8 1,573.1
Inter-segment revenue (136.6) (1.0) (137.6)
Third party revenue 1,405.7 29.8 1,435.5
Other segment information
Assets 485.0 14.7 499.7
Intangible assets 574.9 13.8 588.7
Unallocated assets 38.9 – 38.9
Total assets 1,098.8 28.5 1,127.3
Capital expenditure

Tangible assets 46.3 3.4 49.7
Intangible assets 99.3 10.6 109.9

6Operating profit
This is stated after charging/(crediting):

2006 2005
Notes £m £m

Employee benefits expense 7 749.9 607.2
Amortisation of intangible assets (as shown in amortisation column) 14 6.9 4.5
Depreciation 13 42.2 31.7
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment 0.3 0.5
Amortisation of other intangible assets (treated as depreciation)* 14 1.2 4.9
Minimum lease payments recognised as an operating lease expense 63.6 59.6
Foreign exchange differences 0.7 (0.1)

*Included within operating activities before impairment and amortisation.
2006 2005

UK fees paid to the auditors include fees in relation to: £m £m

Audit of financial statements 0.5 0.6
Other UK fees:

Local statutory audits for subsidiaries 0.3 0.2
Further assurance services 0.1 0.2
Taxation advisory services – 0.1
Other non-audit services** 0.1 0.1

1.0 1.2

**There were no other amounts payable to the auditors requiring disclosure under s390B of the Companies Act 1985.

There was due diligence work performed in respect of acquisitions which resulted in fees paid to auditors of £nil (2005: £0.3m). These amounts have
been capitalised as part of the acquisitions to which they relate. In addition £0.7m (2005: £0.7m) was paid to accountancy firms other than the
Group’s auditor.
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7 Employee benefits expense
2006 2005

£m £m

Wages and salaries 645.2 527.9
Social security costs 63.1 50.3
Other pension costs (see note 31) 33.1 21.4
Share based payments 8.5 7.6

749.9 607.2

2006 2005
The average number of employees during the year wasmade up as follows: Number Number

Sales 671 588
Administration 1,749 1,412
Operations 23,164 21,431

25,584 23,431

Details of Directors’ remuneration are contained within the Directors’ remuneration report onIpages 71-75.

8 Finance revenue
2006 2005

£m £m

Bank interest receivable 0.4 0.4
Other interest receivable 0.6 –
Total finance revenue 1.0 0.4

9 Finance costs
2006 2005

£m £m

Loan note interest 0.8 0.9
Bonds 15.5 8.7
Bank loans and overdrafts 9.5 4.1
Other interest payable 0.1 –
Unwinding of interest on discounted property provision 0.1 0.2
Total finance costs 26.0 13.9

10 Income tax
The major components of income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2006 and 2005 are:

2006 2005
Consolidated income statement £m £m

Current income tax
Current income tax charge 53.1 43.1
Adjustment in respect of prior years (4.6) (1.0)
Deferred income tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 5.3 6.9
Adjustment in respect of prior years (0.3) (3.2)

53.5 45.8

2006 2005
Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense £m £m

Deferred income tax related to items charged/(credited) directly to equity
Current income tax deduction on exercise of stock options in excess of share based payments (7.6) –
Deferred income tax movement in relation to share based payments (7.2) (2.7)
Deferred income tax movement in relation to actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans 3.8 (1.0)

(11.0) (3.7)
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10 Income tax (continued)
A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of accounting profit multiplied by the UK corporation tax rate for the years ended
31 December 2006 and 2005 is as follows:

2006 2005
£m £m

Accounting profit before tax 193.2 153.1
Notional charge at UK corporation tax rate of 30% (2005: 30%) 58.0 45.9
Adjustments in respect of current income tax of prior years (4.6) (1.0)
Adjustments in respect of deferred tax of prior years (0.3) (3.2)
Non-deductible expenses 1.6 1.5
Impairment – 3.6
Attributable to lower tax rates in overseas jurisdictions (1.2) –
Stock option relief – (1.0)
At the effective tax rate of 27.7% (2005: 27.7% before impairment charge) 53.5 45.8
Total tax expense reported in the income statement 53.5 45.8

The tax charge for the year ended 31 December 2006 was £53.5m (2005: charge of £45.8m) and is after a prior year net credit of £4.6m resulting from
the successful resolution of issues with relevant tax authorities. The tax charge is equivalent to an underlying effective tax rate of 27.7% (2005: 27.7%
before impairment). In addition, a net tax credit of £11.0m has been credited directly to equity including £7.6m in respect of realised stock option gains
which resulted in a corresponding reduction in cash tax liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2006.

Deferred incometax
Deferred income tax at 31 December relates to the following:

Consolidated balance sheet Consolidated income statement

2006 2005 2006 2005
£m £m £m £m

Deferred tax liabilities
Accelerated capital allowances (3.5) (3.0) 0.9 3.4
Fair value adjustments on acquisition (10.6) (10.0) (1.9) (1.2)

(14.1) (13.0)
Deferred tax assets
Share based payments 20.7 10.9 (2.6) (2.1)
Pension schemes 11.8 20.4 4.8 5.2
Provisions 3.4 6.3 3.3 (2.3)
Losses available for offset against future taxable income 0.3 0.5 0.5 0.7

36.2 38.1
Net deferred tax asset 22.1 25.1
Deferred income tax expense 5.0 3.7

The Group has tax losses which arose in the UK of £5.0m (2005: £8.5m) that are available for offset against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of £4.0m (2005: £6.9m) of these losses, as their recoverability
is uncertain.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment of dividends by The Capita Group Plc to its shareholders.
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11 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the weighted
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent by the
weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued
on the conversion of all the dilutive potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

The following reflects the income and share data used in the basic and diluted earnings per share computations:
2006 2005

£m £m

Net profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent from continuing operations 139.8 107.5

2006 2005
Number Number
million million

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares) for basic earnings per share 626.3 660.1
Dilutive potential ordinary shares:
Employee share options 15.0 9.7
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (excluding treasury shares) adjusted for the effect of dilution 641.3 669.8

There have been no other transactions involving ordinary shares or potential ordinary shares between the reporting date and the date of completion
of these financial statements.

The following additional earnings per share figures are calculated based on earnings attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent before
amortisation and impairment of £144.8m (2005: £122.8m). They are included as they provide a better understanding of the underlying trading
performance of the Group.

2006 2005
p p

Basic earnings per share – before amortisation and impairment 23.10 18.60
– after amortisation and impairment 22.32 16.28

Diluted earnings per share – before amortisation and impairment 22.56 18.33
– after amortisation and impairment 21.80 16.05

12 Dividends paid and proposed
2006 2005

£m £m

Declared and paid during the year
Ordinary shares (equity):

Final for 2005 paid: 4.9p per share (2004: 3.6p per share) 31.1 24.0
Interim for 2006 paid 2.7p per share (2005: 2.1p per share) 16.6 14.0

47.7 38.0
Proposed for approval at AGM (not recognised as a liability at 31 December)
Ordinary shares (equity):

Final for 2006: 6.3p per share (2005: 4.9p per share) 38.9 32.0
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13 Property, plant and equipment
Leasehold

improvements,
land and Plant and
buildings machinery Total

£m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2005 27.7 184.4 212.1
Subsidiaries acquired 1.8 2.1 3.9
Additions 7.7 42.0 49.7
Disposals (0.8) (1.5) (2.3)
At 31 December 2005 36.4 227.0 263.4
Subsidiaries acquired 1.4 0.9 2.3
Additions 7.4 55.6 63.0
Disposals (5.0) (55.0) (60.0)
At 31 December 2006 40.2 228.5 268.7
Depreciation and impairment
At 1 January 2005 10.4 72.6 83.0
Provided during the year 3.5 28.2 31.7
Disposals (0.3) (1.1) (1.4)
At 31 December 2005 13.6 99.7 113.3
Provided during the year 4.7 37.5 42.2
Disposals (3.3) (54.5) (57.8)
At 31 December 2006 15.0 82.7 97.7
Net book value
At 1 January 2005 17.3 111.8 129.1
At 31 December 2005 22.8 127.3 150.1
At 31 December 2006 25.2 145.8 171.0

The net book value of plant and machinery includes an amount of £0.1m (2005: £0.2m) in respect of assets held under finance leases. The net book
value of assets held by the Group for which it acts as lessor, amount to £4.7m (2005: £8.7m).

14 Intangible assets
Contracts and Customer

Software and committed lists and Other
Brands licences sales relationships Goodwill Sub-total intangibles Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 January 2005 2.6 2.0 5.5 – 486.8 496.9 8.0 504.9
Subsidiaries acquired 2.7 – 1.2 26.7 75.3 105.9 – 105.9
Additions – – – – – – 4.0 4.0
At 31 December 2005 5.3 2.0 6.7 26.7 562.1 602.8 12.0 614.8
Subsidiaries acquired 0.6 – 0.2 7.9 39.3 48.0 – 48.0
Additions – – – – – – 1.4 1.4
At 31 December 2006 5.9 2.0 6.9 34.6 601.4 650.8 13.4 664.2
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2005 0.4 0.2 1.2 – – 1.8 2.9 4.7
Amortisation during the year 0.7 0.4 1.7 1.7 – 4.5 4.9 9.4
Impairment – – – – 12.0 12.0 – 12.0
At 31 December 2005 1.1 0.6 2.9 1.7 12.0 18.3 7.8 26.1
Amortisation during the year 1.2 0.4 0.9 4.4 – 6.9 1.2 8.1
At 31 December 2006 2.3 1.0 3.8 6.1 12.0 25.2 9.0 34.2
Net book value
At 1 January 2005 2.2 1.8 4.3 – 486.8 495.1 5.1 500.2
At 31 December 2005 4.2 1.4 3.8 25.0 550.1 584.5 4.2 588.7
At 31 December 2006 3.6 1.0 3.1 28.5 589.4 625.6 4.4 630.0
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14 Intangible assets (continued)
The amount in ‘other intangibles’ represents the consideration paid to AON to acquire the contract for the administration of the miners’ personal injury
liability claims on behalf of the Department of Trade and Industry. The useful life of other intangibles has been extended for a further 4 years, as the
contract has now been extended.

Customer lists and relationships includes an amount of £11.0m in respect of relationships acquired with the BDML acquisition, which is being amortised
over 10 years.

15 Impairment of goodwill
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the groups of cash generating units (CGUs)
listed below. These represent the lowest level within the Group at which goodwill is monitored by management for internal reporting purposes.

The significant groups of CGUs identified are Property Consultancy, HR Solutions, Insurance & Specialist Services, Registrar Services, Financial Services
and Life & Pensions. The remaining groups of CGUs are included in the ‘balance of CGUs’ column.

The recoverable amount of all the CGUs is based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections based on the latest one year budget forecast
extrapolated for 4 future years by a growth rate applicable to each unit; an appropriate terminal value based on a perpetuity calculation using nil real
growth is then added. A discount rate of 11.4% is then applied to these projections.
Compound growth rates (years 2–5) %

Property Consultancy 10.0
HR Solutions 10.0
Insurance & Specialist Services 10.0
Registrar Services 8.5
Financial Services 8.5
Life & Pensions 10.4
Balance of CGUs (weighted average growth rate) 9.6

The growth rates used do not exceed published industry estimates.

Carryingamountofgoodwill allocated togroupsof cashgeneratingunits

Insurance
Property & Specialist Registrar Financial Life & Balance

Consultancy HR Solutions Services Services Services Pensions of CGUs Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

2006
Goodwill 46.1 80.7 167.7 93.6 77.3 26.5 97.5 589.4
2005
Goodwill 43.8 80.7 166.6 88.3 62.8 26.2 81.7 550.1
The key assumptions used in the impairment testing were as follows:

• Profit before interest and taxation
• Discount rates
• Rates of growth in CGUs for the years 2 to 5.

Profitbefore interest and taxation
The profit before interest and taxation is based on the margins achieved remaining at the levels currently being achieved.

Discount rate
The discount rate reflects management’s estimate of the gross cost of capital employed for the groups of CGUs listed above. This is the benchmark
established to assess operating performance and to evaluate future capital investment proposals.

Ratesofgrowth incashgeneratingunitsbeyondthebudgetperiod
Growth rate assumptions are based on, as far as possible, published industry research.

Goodwill impairment
Management believes that no reasonably possible change in the key assumptions above would cause any of the identified CGUs to become impaired.
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16 Financial assets
2006 2005

£m £m

NonCurrent financial assets
Available for sale investments 20.1 12.2
Investment loan 12.5 –
Interest rate swaps – 1.6

32.6 13.8

Available-for-sale financial assets include investments in cash funds, held in the Group’s insurance captives, of £19.8m (2005: £12.0m) and investments
in unlisted ordinary shares of £0.3m (2005: £0.2m). Investments in cash funds represent units acquired which are periodically valued based on the
underlying performance of the investments held. The unlisted ordinary shares, where there is no immediately identifiable market and which have no
fixed maturity date or coupon rate, are carried at cost less provision for any impairment. Details of the interest rate swaps are contained in note 24.

The Group has entered into a funding arrangement with Optima Legal Services Limited (OLSL) providing £12.5m to fund that company’s acquisition of
the volume legal services arm of DLA Piper. In addition, it has entered into an option agreement to acquire the shares of OLSL for £1 in the event that
Law Society rules are amended to allow the Group to own the shares in this type of legal services company.

17 Business combinations
2006acquisitions
The Group made a number of acquisitions in 2006, which are shown in aggregate below:

Fair value Fair value
Book values adjustments to Group

£m £m £m

Intangible assets – 8.7 8.7
Property, plant and equipment 3.2 (0.9) 2.3
Deferred tax 1.2 – 1.2
Debtors 5.4 (0.4) 5.0
Cash and short term deposits 1.0 – 1.0
Creditors (6.5) (1.0) (7.5)
Obligations under finance leases (0.7) – (0.7)
Provisions (0.3) – (0.3)
Long term debt (2.7) – (2.7)
Corporation tax (0.5) – (0.5)
Net assets 0.1 6.4 6.5
Goodwill arising on acquisition 27.6

34.1
Discharged by:
Cash 34.1

During the year deferred consideration of £3.5m was paid in respect of acquisitions made in prior years, of which £3.5m had been provided; there was
no impact on goodwill.

Deferred consideration which is expected to be paid has been accrued in respect of acquisitions made in the current and prior years amounting to £9.1m.
The impact of this is to increase goodwill by the same amount.

As required by IAS 12 deferred taxation is calculated on intangible assets recognised as a result of an acquisition, the impact of this was to increase
goodwill in 2006 by £2.6m and to create a deferred tax liability of the same amount.

As a result of the above, total goodwill of £39.3m was recognised in the year.

Acquisitions in the year included Sinclair Henderson group of companies, Ruddle Wilkinson Limited, Synaptics Services Limited, Webline Limited, Stirling
Trustees Limited and Two Ten Communications Limited.

The performance of these acquisitions post their inclusion in the Group cannot be ascertained as they have been fully integrated within existing offerings.

Within goodwill are certain intangibles that were not separable from the acquirees and could not be measured reliably. These items include customer
loyalty and the assembled workforce.

In February 2007 the Group acquired the entire share capital of Harry Weeks Travel & Leisure Group Limited for a consideration of £21m, with a further
£12m payable over the next 4 years subject to the business achieving certain performance targets.
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17 Business combinations (continued)
2005acquisitions
The Group made a number of acquisitions in 2005 of which only one, the acquisition of the BDML group of companies (BDML), is considered material
and is thus disclosed separately, the remainder are shown in aggregate. The book and fair values of the assets acquired are disclosed in the tables below:

Fair value Fair value
Book values adjustments to Group

BDML £m £m £m

Intangible assets – 12.9 12.9
Property, plant and equipment 0.8 (0.1) 0.7
Deferred tax 1.0 – 1.0
Debtors 38.0 – 38.0
Cash and short term deposits 0.3 – 0.3
Creditors (40.3) (0.3) (40.6)
Corporation tax 0.3 – 0.3
Net assets 0.1 12.5 12.6
Goodwill arising on acquisition 13.4

26.0
Discharged by:
Cash 25.7
Associated costs settled in cash 0.3

26.0

BDML, includes BDML Connect Limited, an insurance intermediary and agent, that offers instalment debt facilities to its insurance customers and
a specialist in pet insurance and policy administration.

The Group acquired 100% of the ordinary share capital of BDML on 25 July 2005. From the date of acquisition to the comparative year end BDML
contributed £1.1m to the net profit after tax of the Group. Had the combination taken place at the beginning of 2005, the profit after tax of the Group
would have been £107.9m and the revenue from continuing operations would have been £1,443.7m in the comparative year.

Included within goodwill on acquisition were certain intangibles that were not separable from the acquiree and could not be measured. These included
customer loyalty and the assembled workforce.

The acquisition of BDML included ‘insurance debtors subject to a securitisation agreement’. The purpose of this arrangement is to securitise customer
receivables, derived through the provision of instalment credit facilities to insurance customers of the company. The company sells said receivables,
with no immediate effect on the income statement, for cash to a third party (Gresham in this case). Gresham takes on the rights and responsibilities of
these receivables such that the terms of this agreement dictate that Gresham has no recourse to BDML beyond 14% of the total receivable securitised.

Fair value Fair value
Book values adjustments to Group

Other acquisitions £m £m £m

Intangible assets 0.3 17.4 17.7
Property, plant and equipment 4.0 (0.8) 3.2
Deferred tax 1.3 – 1.3
Debtors 23.3 (0.2) 23.1
Cash and short term deposits 2.4 – 2.4
Creditors (20.8) (1.1) (21.9)
Provisions (0.1) (0.1) (0.2)
Corporation tax (1.1) – (1.1)
Long term debt (2.9) – (2.9)
Net assets 6.4 15.2 21.6
Goodwill arising on acquisition 52.7

74.3
Discharged by:
Fair value of shares issued 0.3
Cash 62.1
Deferred consideration paid 13.8
Deferred consideration accrued 4.7
Release of deferred consideration (6.6)

74.3

As required by IAS 12 deferred taxation is calculated on intangible assets recognised as a result of an acquisition, the impact of this was to increase
goodwill in 2005 by £9.2m and to create a deferred tax liability of the same amount.
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17 Business combinations (continued)
The other acquisitions in 2005 included Buchanan Consulting Engineers Limited, BMI Health Services Limited, Channel House Financial Services Group
Limited, FPS Group of Companies Limited, Lonsdale Travel Limited, Quay Software Solutions Limited, Randall Lyons Limited, Micromedia Limited,
MHA Pensions Limited and Norman + Dawbarn. The companies acquired provide a range of property, health, trust, pension, corporate travel and
software services.

On 8 November 2005, 0.1 million ordinary 2p shares with an aggregate nominal value of £1,300 were issued at £3.89 each pursuant to the acquisition
of a subsidiary undertaking, Lonsdale Travel Limited.

The performance of these acquisitions post their inclusion in the Group cannot be ascertained as they have been fully integrated within existing offerings.

Within goodwill are certain intangibles that were not separable from the acquirees and could not be measured reliably. These items include customer
loyalty and the assembled workforce.

Included in the above table is further consideration paid in cash in 2005 with regard to the acquisition of the Lincoln Life and Pensions business in a
previous year of £13.8m against which the Group had provided for accrued deferred consideration payable of £6.6m. There were also further payments
on previous acquisitions. The impact of these further payments was to increase goodwill in 2005 by £9.4m.

18 Trade and other receivables
2006 2005

Current £m £m

Trade receivables 221.4 207.6
Other receivables 25.5 35.0
Gross amounts due from customers on construction contracts 9.3 5.4
Prepayments and accrued income 138.7 95.8

394.9 343.8

2006 2005
Non-current £m £m

Trade receivables – 4.9
Other receivables 0.4 –
Prepayments and accrued income 6.4 0.9

6.8 5.8

Trade receivables have been netted down by the value of bad debt provisions of £4.4m (2005: £4.0m).

19 Trade and other payables
2006 2005

Current £m £m

Trade payables 47.5 61.8
Other payables 59.7 52.5
Other taxes and social security 57.0 49.6
Gross amounts due to customers on construction contracts 2.2 2.2
Accruals and deferred income 273.9 211.9
Deferred consideration payable 9.1 –

449.4 378.0
Non-current
Accruals and deferred income 0.8 1.3

0.8 1.3

20 Construction contracts
Presented in the table below are disclosures with regard to the Group’s property consultancy business where the provision, as a sub-contractor,
is architectural, structural or another service that results in the construction of a new asset.

2006 2005
£m £m

Contract revenue recognised in relation to construction contracts in the year 70.5 47.3
Aggregate costs incurred and recognised profits (less losses) to date 101.0 95.2
Gross amount due from customers for construction contracts 9.3 5.4
Gross amount due to customers on construction contracts 2.2 2.2
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21 Financial liabilities
2006 2005

Current £m £m

Bank overdraft 0.5 19.3
Obligations under finance leases (note 22) 0.2 0.2
Unsecured loan notes 22.2 2.2
Asset-based securitised financing (see below) 27.5 28.2

50.4 49.9
Non-current
Unsecured loan notes – 20.5
Obligations under finance leases (note 22) 0.3 –
Bonds 372.0 198.6
Currency swaps 6.4 2.6

378.7 221.7

The acquisition of BDML included ‘insurance debtors subject to a securitisation agreement’. The purpose of this arrangement is to securitise customer
receivables, derived through the provision of instalment credit facilities to insurance customers of the company. The company sells said receivables,
with no immediate effect on the income statement, for cash to a third party (Gresham in this case). Gresham takes on the rights and responsibilities of
these receivables such that the terms of this agreement dictate that Gresham has no recourse to BDML beyond 14% of the total receivable securitised.

The obligations under finance leases are secured on the assets being financed. The bank overdraft, bonds and loan notes are unsecured. The bank
overdraft disclosed in the current year is held with The Royal Bank of Scotland and therefore there is no right of set off. It bears interest at standard rates.
The bank overdraft disclosed as a comparative bears interest at Barclays Bank standard rates based on LIBOR and the bonds effectively bear interest at a
rate based on 6 month LIBOR.

Loan notes were issued pursuant to the satisfaction of consideration due in relation to the acquisition of a subsidiary undertaking. Loan notes issued
during the year amounted to £nil (2005: £nil) and £0.5m (2005: £4.4m) were repaid. There is £1.7m of loan notes repayable on demand with a final
maturity date of 31 May 2007. Additionally loan notes of value £20.5m will be repaid in the second quarter of 2007. The interest rates attributable to
the loan notes are fixed for each new issue. These rates range from 3.45% to 5.25%.

The Group has issued guaranteed unsecured bonds as follows:
Interest rate Denomination Value Maturity

Bond % £m

Issued 2002
Series B 6.44 GBP* 55.0 20 June 2009
Issued 2005
Series A 0.525 above 6m LIBOR GBP 50.0 28 September 2013
Series B 0.525 above 6m LIBOR GBP 25.0 28 September 2015
Total of sterling denominated bonds 130.0

US$m

Issued 2002
Series A 6.10 US$** 66.0 20 June 2009
Series C 6.47 US$** 36.0 20 June 2012
Issued 2006
Series A 5.74 US$** 60.0 28 June 2013
Series B 5.88 US$** 130.0 28 June 2016
Series A 5.66 US$** 11.0 13 September 2013
Series B 5.81 US$** 74.0 13 September 2016
Series C 5.77 US$** 60.0 13 September 2016
Total of US$ denominated bonds 437.0

(GBP £242.0m)

All series are unsecured and rank pari passu in all respects apart from those detailed above.

*The Group has entered into an interest rate swap to convert the interest cost to floating rate based on 6 month LIBOR.
**The Group has entered into currency swaps for the US$ issues to achieve a floating rate of interest based on 6 month LIBOR. Further disclosure
on the Group’s use of hedges is included in note 24 commencing on page 101.

Issue cost incurred was £0.6m and this is being spread over the life of the bonds to their maturity.
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22Obligations under leases and hire purchase contracts
Obligationsunder finance leasesandhirepurchasecontracts
The Group uses finance leases and hire purchase contracts to acquire plant and machinery. These leases have terms of renewal and purchase options but
no escalation clauses. Renewals are at the option of the lessee.

The value of future minimum lease payments and their present value, which are the same, is analysed as follows:
2006 2005

£m £m

Not later than 1 year 0.2 0.2
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 0.3 –

0.5 0.2

Operating leaseagreementswhere theGroup is lessee
The Group has entered into commercial leases on certain properties, motor vehicles and items of plant and machinery. These leases have an average
duration of between 3 and 10 years.

Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:
2006 2005

£m £m

Not later than 1 year 53.7 50.5
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 113.3 120.3
Later than 5 years 57.7 68.3

224.7 239.1

Operating leaseagreementswhere theGroup is lessor
The Group has determined that certain executory contracts contain embedded leases as defined by IFRIC 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement
contains a Lease’. Accordingly, these are accounted for as leases in accordance with IAS 17 ‘Leases’.

Future minimum rentals receivable under these embedded operating leases are as follows:
2006 2005

£m £m

Not later than 1 year 18.1 18.1
Later than 1 year but not later than 5 years 1.5 19.6

19.6 37.7

23 Provisions
Property
provision

£m

At 1 January 2006 3.3
Provisions acquired 0.3
Utilisation (2.1)
Additional provisions in the year 0.1
Unwinding of interest on discounted provisions 0.1
At 31 December 2006 1.7

The property provision is made on a discounted basis for the future rent expense and related cost of leasehold property (net of estimated sub-lease
income) where the space is vacant or currently not planned to be used for ongoing operations. The expectation is that this expenditure will be incurred
over the remaining periods of the leases which range from 1 to 6 years.
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24 Financial instruments
Financial riskmanagementobjectivesandpolicies
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank loans, bond issues, loan notes, finance leases and cash. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group also has various other financial instruments such as trade receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

It is, and has been throughout the period under review, the Group’s policy that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk. The Board reviews and agrees
policies for managing these risks and they are summarised below. These policies have remained unchanged year on year.

The disclosure below excludes short term debtors and creditors.

Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all the Group’s financial instruments that are carried in the
financial statements.

2006 2005

Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
£m £m £m £m

Financial assets
Available for sale current assets 20.1 20.1 12.2 12.2
Investment loan 12.5 12.5 – –
Cash in hand 9.7 9.7 – –
Interest rate swaps – – 1.6 1.6
Financial liabilities
Bank overdraft 0.5 0.5 19.3 19.3
Obligations under finance leases 0.5 0.5 0.2 0.2
Loan notes 22.2 22.2 22.7 22.7
Bonds 372.0 372.0 198.6 198.6
Currency swaps 6.4 6.4 2.6 2.6

In addition to the above financial liabilities, at the year end there is an amount of £27.5m (2005: £28.2m) of asset-based securitised financing.
This form of financing initially arose as a consequence of the acquisition of BDML Connect Ltd in 2005. The purpose of this arrangement is to
securitise customer receivables derived through the provision of instalment credit facilities to insurance customers of that company.

The fair value of derivatives and borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates.

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long term debt obligations with floating
interest rates.

The Group’s policy is to manage its interest cost using a mix of fixed and variable rate debts. To manage this, the Group enters into interest rate swaps,
in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference
to an agreed upon notional principal amount. These swaps are designated to hedge underlying debt obligations.

The interest rate profile of the financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December is as follows:
Within Between Between Between Between More than
1 year 1–2 years 2–3 years 3–4 years 4–5 years 5 years Total

At 31 December 2006 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Fixed rate
Loan notes 22.2 – – – – – 22.2
Obligations under finance leases 0.2 0.3 – – – – 0.5
Floating rate
Cash and cash equivalents (9.7) – – – – – (9.7)
Overdrafts 0.5 – – – – – 0.5
Investment loan – – (12.5) – – – (12.5)
Assets held for sale – (20.1) – – – – (20.1)
Bonds – – 99.2 – – 272.8 372.0
Interest rate swap – – – – – – –
Foreign currency swap – – 1.0 – – 5.4 6.4

The effect of the interest rate swap and the currency swap are disclosed below. Bonds are classified as floating rate due to the effect of the interest and
currency swaps.
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24 Financial instruments (continued)
Within Between Between Between Between More than
1 year 1–2 years 2–3 years 3–4 years 4–5 years 5 years Total

At 31 December 2005 £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Fixed rate
Loan notes 2.2 20.5 – – – – 22.7
Obligations under finance leases 0.2 – – – – – 0.2
Floating rate
Bonds – – – 100.4 – 98.2 198.6
Assets held for sale – (12.2) – – – – (12.2)
Bank overdraft (19.3) – – – – – (19.3)
Interest rate swap – – – (1.6) – – (1.6)
Foreign currency swap – – – 1.4 – 1.2 2.6

ForeignCurrency risk
The Group has exposure to foreign currency risk where it has limited investments in overseas operations which are affected by foreign exchange
movements. The Group is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk nor does it intend to significantly increase its overseas operations, so only
limited hedging of these exposures is executed.

Hedges
Fair value hedges The Group has in issue fixed rate dollar and sterling bonds which it has hedged through a combination of interest rate and
currency swaps.

At 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2005, the Group had an interest rate swap in place with a notional amount of £55.0m whereby it receives a
fixed rate of interest of 6.44% and pays a variable rate based on 6 month LIBOR. The swap is being used to hedge the exposure to changes in the fair
value of £55.0m of the Group’s 6.44% bonds.

At December 2006 and December 2005, the Group had in place currency swaps whereby it receives a fixed rate of interest and pays a variable rate
based on 6 month LIBOR.

The swaps are being used to hedge the exposure to changes in the value of its US Dollar issued bonds. The unsecured bonds, currency and interest rate
swaps have the same critical terms including the amount and the date of maturity (see note 21). The Group may, at its option, upon notice of not less
than 30 days and not more than 60 days, repay at any time all or part of the notes at no more than the present value of future payments. In addition,
the Group has covenanted to maintain a specified consolidated leverage ratio and a consolidated net interest expense coverage ratio.

Credit risk
The Group trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the Group’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant.

With respect to credit risk arising from the other financial assets of the Group, which comprise cash and cash equivalents, available for sale financial
investments and certain derivative instruments, the Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from default of the counterparty.

The Group has a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amount of the above receivables and instruments.

The Group has a master netting arrangement in respect of its banking facilities resulting in the legal right of set-off for its overdraft and cash balances.

Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its financial
investments and financial assets (e.g. accounts receivable, other financial assets) and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank overdrafts, bank loans, loan notes,
bonds and finance leases.
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24 Financial instruments (continued)
Capitalmanagement
The primary objective of the Group’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios to support its
business and maximise shareholder value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in the light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes during the years ended 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2005.

The Group does not set a target level of gearing but uses capital opportunistically to add value for shareholders. The key discipline adopted by the Group
is to widen the margin between the return on capital employed and the cost of that capital as shown in the business review onIpage 32.

The following is summary quantitative data of the components the Group manages as capital:
2006 2005

£m £m

Shareholders’ funds 325.8 397.6
Bank overdraft 0.5 19.3
Finance leases 0.5 0.2
Unsecured loan notes 22.2 22.7
Bonds 372.0 198.6
Currency swaps 6.4 2.6
At 31 December 727.4 641.0

25 Authorised and issued share capital
2006 2005 2006 2005

Million Million £m £m

Authorised
Ordinary shares of 2p each 1,000.0 1,000.0 20.0 20.0
Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 2p each
At 1 January 671.0 670.9 13.4 13.4
Shares repurchased (52.9) (5.0) (1.1) (0.1)
Issued on exercise of share options 16.4 5.0 0.4 0.1
Issued on acquisition of subsidiary undertaking – 0.1 – –
Treasury shares cancelled (16.9) – (0.4) –
At 31 December 617.6 671.0 12.3 13.4

During the year the Group repurchased 52.9m ordinary 2p shares with an aggregate nominal value of £1.1m at a total cost of £244.9m for which it paid
cash at an average cost per share of £4.64. These shares were cancelled.

During the year 16.4m ordinary 2p shares with an aggregate nominal value of £0.4m were issued under share option schemes for a total consideration
of £50.4m.

2006 2005 2006 2005
Treasury shares Million Million £m £m

Ordinary shares of 2p each
At 1 January 16.9 8.6 0.4 0.2
Shares repurchased – 8.3 – 0.2
Shares cancelled (16.9) – (0.4) –
At 31 December – 16.9 – 0.4

During the year the company cancelled the shares held in treasury.

The Group has an unexpired authority to repurchase up to 10% of its issued share capital.
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26 Share based payment plans
The Group operates several share based payment plans as follows:

DeferredAnnualBonusPlan
This scheme is applicable to Executive Directors and Divisional Executive Directors. Under this scheme awards are made annually consisting of Deferred
Shares, which are linked to the payout under the Annual Bonus Scheme (details of which are contained in the Directors’ remuneration report) and
Matching Shares. The value of Deferred Shares is determined by the payout under the Annual Bonus Scheme: half of the annual bonus is paid in cash
and the remainder is compulsorily deferred on a gross basis into Deferred Shares. The Deferred Shares are held for a period of 3 years from the date
of award during which they are not forfeitable, except in the case of dismissal for gross misconduct.

A conditional award of Matching Shares is made at the same time as the award of Deferred Shares. Participants will be eligible to receive up to
1.5 Matching Shares for every Deferred Share. Matching Shares will vest after the 3 year holding period to the extent to which performance conditions
have been met. 33.3% of the Matching Shares will vest if growth in the company’s earnings per share (EPS) is equal to growth in the UK Retail Price
Index (RPI) plus 6% per annum, rising on a straight-line basis to 100% vesting if growth in the company’s EPS is equal to or greater than growth
in the RPI plus 16% per annum. The performance condition attached to the awards may be amended by the Group Remuneration Committee,
a sub-committee of the Group Board, from time to time, subject to the new condition being no less demanding than the original condition.

LongTermIndexedShareAppreciationScheme(LTISAS)
This scheme was only open to the Executive Directors and the Divisional Executive Directors. The final grant under this scheme was made in November
2004. Under this scheme, participants were granted 2 equal tranches of 600,000 share options. The performance criteria are the same for both tranches
with performance periods that end on 31 December 2006. The exercise price of the options increases in line with the FTSE All Share Index from the date
of grant to 25 November 2007. The final option price at which the awards can be exercised cannot be below the market value of the share at the date of
grant. These options are only exercisable subject to the growth in the company’s EPS over the performance period.

Options will become exercisable, if over the performance period, the growth in the company’s EPS exceeds certain targets as follows: 25% of the
options shall vest if growth in the company’s EPS exceeds RPI growth by 8% per annum, rising on a straight-line basis to 100% vesting if growth in
the company’s EPS exceeds growth in the RPI by 12% per annum. The contractual life of options granted is 10 years for the first tranche and 8 years
for the second tranche as the options under both schemes are exercisable between 25 November 2007 and 25 November 2012.

1997ExecutiveShareOption scheme
This scheme is open to senior employees other than Executive Directors and Divisional Executive Directors. The exercise price of the options is equal to
the market price of the shares on the date of grant. Options granted under this scheme become exercisable if the growth in the company’s EPS exceeds
the growth in RPI by 8% over the 3 year vesting period from the date of grant. The contractual life of each option granted is 7 years. There are no cash
settlement alternatives.

CapitaSharesaveScheme
This is an employee Save As You Earn scheme open to all Capita employees. Under this scheme, employees are granted share options at a discount to
the market price at the date of grant. The discount is currently nil (2005: 10% and 20% prior to 2005). The options become exercisable for a 6 month
period following completion of a 3 or 5 year savings period. There are no performance conditions attached to these options.

The expense recognised for share based payments in respect of employee services received during the year to 31 December 2006 was £8.5m
(2005: £7.6m), all of which arises from equity-settled share based payment transactions.

The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in, share options during the year
(excluding Deferred Annual Bonus Plan and LTISAS).

2006 2006 2005 2005
number WAEP number WAEP

Outstanding as at 1 January 42,679,159 £3.29 47,937,231 £3.16
Granted during the year 5,240,564 £3.46 5,226,702 £3.57
Exercised (16,214,092) £3.12 (4,263,298) £2.29
Forfeited (2,458,650) £2.78 (4,365,106) £3.09
Expired during the year (339,804) £3.38 (1,856,370) £3.35
Outstanding as at 31 December1 28,907,177 £3.65 42,679,159 £3.29
Exercisable at 31 December 11,859,421 £3.95 21,096,290 £3.96
1 Included within this balance are options over 11,012,567 (2005: 21,950,907) shares that have not been recognised in accordance with IFRS 2 as the options were granted on or before 7 November 2002.
These options have not been subsequently modified and therefore do not need to be accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2.

The options have been exercised on a regular basis throughout the year and the weighted average share price during the year was £4.97 (2005: £3.78).

As noted above under the LTISAS scheme 2 tranches of 600,000 share options have been issued to each participant in the scheme. Both were deemed to
have been granted in November 2002. The first tranche, totalling 5,400,000 share options, was awarded and issued in November 2002 when the share
price was £2.16. The second tranche, also totalling 5,400,000 share options, was awarded in November 2002 and issued in November 2004 when the
share price was £3.51. During the year, 106,667 share options under this scheme were forfeited thus the total number of options outstanding under this
scheme was 10,693,333 at 31 December 2006 (2005: 10,800,000). As the exercise price of the options increases in line with the FTSE All Share Index
from the beginning to the end of the performance period, it is not possible to determine the weighted average exercise price until the end of the
performance period. None of the LTISAS options are exercisable until 25 November 2007.

The total cash value of the Deferred Shares awarded during the year under the Deferred Annual Bonus plan, discussed above, was £1.5m (2005: £1.7m)
The matching shares allocation in respect of the 2005 awards under this plan charged in 2006 was £0.5m.
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26 Share based payment plans (continued)
The weighted average fair value of options granted during the year was £1.00 (2005: £1.16). The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the
end of the year was £0.71 to £5.35 (2005: £0.34 to £5.35).

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted is estimated as at the date of grant using a multiple simulation option pricing valuation model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model used for the years
ended 31 December 2006 and 31 December 2005.

2006 2005

Dividend yield (%) 1.5 1.5
Expected share price volatility (%) 24.76 37.80
Risk free interest rate (%) 4.5 4.5
Expected life of option (years) 4.43 4.49
Weighted average share price £4.97 £3.78

The expected life of the options is based on historical data and is not necessarily indicative of exercise patterns that may occur. The expected volatility
reflects the assumption that the historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may also not necessarily be the actual outcome. No other
features of options grant were incorporated into the measurement of fair value.

27 Reconciliation ofmovements in equity
Foreign

Capital currency
Share Share Treasury redemption Retained translation Total Minority

capital premium shares reserve earnings reserve equity interests Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2005 13.4 248.1 (0.2) 0.1 98.4 0.1 359.9 0.4 360.3
Total recognised income and expense
for the year – – – – 107.5 0.2 107.7 (0.2) 107.5
Share based payment – – – – 7.6 – 7.6 – 7.6
Purchase of own shares – held in treasury – – (0.2) – (30.8) – (31.0) – (31.0)
Purchase of own shares – cancelled (0.1) – – 0.1 (18.6) – (18.6) – (18.6)
Share transaction costs – – – – (0.3) – (0.3) – (0.3)
Shares issued 0.1 10.0 – – – – 10.1 – 10.1
Equity dividends paid – – – – (38.0) – (38.0) – (38.0)
At 1 January 2006 13.4 258.1 (0.4) 0.2 125.8 0.3 397.4 0.2 397.6
Total recognised income and expense
for the year – – – – 163.9 (0.7) 163.2 (0.1) 163.1
Share based payment – – – – 8.5 – 8.5 – 8.5
Purchase of own shares – cancelled (1.1) – – 1.1 (244.9) – (244.9) – (244.9)
Share transaction costs – – – – (1.2) – (1.2) – (1.2)
Shares issued 0.4 50.0 – – – – 50.4 – 50.4
Treasury shares cancelled (0.4) – 0.4 0.4 (0.4) – – – –
Equity dividends paid – – – – (47.7) – (47.7) – (47.7)
At 31 December 2006 12.3 308.1 – 1.7 4.0 (0.4) 325.7 0.1 325.8

Share capital – The balance classified as share capital is the nominal proceeds on issue of the company’s equity share capital, comprising
2p ordinary shares.

Share premium – The amount paid to the company by shareholders, in cash or other consideration, over and above the nominal value of shares
issued to them.

Treasury shares – Shares that have been bought back by the company, which are available for retirement or resale; shares held in treasury have no voting
rights and do not have entitlement to a dividend.

Capital redemption reserve – The company can redeem shares by repaying the nominal value to the shareholder, whereupon the shares are cancelled.
Redemption must be from distributable profits.

Foreign currency translation reserve – Gains or losses resulting from the process of expressing amounts denominated or measured in 1 currency in terms
of another currency by use of the exchange rate between the 2 currencies. This process is required to consolidate the financial statements of foreign
affiliates into the total Group financial statements and to recognise the conversion of foreign currency or the settlement of a receivable or payable
denominated in foreign currency at a rate different from that at which the item is recorded.

Retained earnings – Net profits kept to accumulate in the Group after dividends are paid and retained in the business as working capital.

The Capita Group Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2006

Notes to the consolidated financial statements



Business review Governance Accounts
106

28 Additional cash flow information
Reconciliationofnet cash flowtomovement innet funds/(debt)

Net debt at Acquisitions Net debt at
1 January in 2006 Cash flow Non-cash flow 31 December

2006 (exc. Cash) movements movements 2006
£m £m £m £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents – – 9.7 – 9.7
Overdrafts (19.3) – 18.8 – (0.5)
Cash (19.3) – 28.5 – 9.2
Loan notes (22.7) – 0.5 – (22.2)
Long term debt – (2.9) 2.9 – –
Bonds (198.6) – (178.6) 5.2 (372.0)
Currency swaps (2.6) – – (3.8) (6.4)
Interest rate swaps 1.6 – – (1.6) –
Finance leases (0.2) (0.7) 0.4 – (0.5)
Sub-total net debt (241.8) (3.6) (146.3) (0.2) (391.9)
Asset based securitised finance (see note 18) (28.2) – 0.7 – (27.5)

(270.0) (3.6) (145.6) (0.2) (419.4)

Net debt at Acquisitions Net debt at
1 January in 2005 Cash flow Non-cash flow 31 December

2005 (exc. Cash) movements movements 2005
£m £m £m £m £m

Overdrafts (26.1) – 6.8 – (19.3)
Overdrafts (26.1) – 6.8 – (19.3)
Loan notes (27.1) – 4.4 – (22.7)
Long term debt – (2.9) 2.9 – –
Bonds (123.0) – (74.9) (0.7) (198.6)
Currency swaps (3.1) – – 0.5 (2.6)
Interest rate swaps 1.4 – – 0.2 1.6
Finance leases (0.2) (0.2) 0.2 – (0.2)
Sub-total net debt (178.1) (3.1) (60.6) – (241.8)
Asset based securitised finance (see note 18) – (26.8) (1.4) – (28.2)

(178.1) (29.9) (62.0) – (270.0)

29 Capital commitments
At 31 December 2006, amounts contracted for but not provided in the financial statements for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment
amounted to £2.0m (2005: £8.1m).

30 Contingent liabilities
(a)The Group has provided, through the normal course of its business, performance bonds of £7.8m (2005: £4.1m). The Group has also provided
indemnities to the value of £nil (2005: £0.5m).

(b)Further consideration may be due, dependent on certain performance criteria, on the acquisition of Ruddle Wilkinson Limited (acquired 01 May 2006)
up to a maximum of £0.6m.

(c)Further consideration may be due, dependent on certain performance criteria, on the acquisition of Sinclair Henderson group of companies (acquired
15 July 2006) up to a maximum of £1.5m.

(d)Further consideration may be due, dependent on certain performance criteria, on the acquisition of Capita Business Travel (formerly Lonsdale Travel
Limited) (acquired 08 November 2005) up to a maximum of £0.3m.

(e)Further consideration may be due, dependent on certain performance criteria, on the acquisition of Harry Weeks Travel and Leisure Group Limited
(acquired 01 February 2007) up to a maximum of £12.0m.
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31 Pensions
The Group operates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension schemes. These pension schemes are funded and contributions are made
to separate trustee-administered funds. The assets of the pension schemes are held separately from the Group.

The pension charge for the defined contribution pension schemes for the year is £17.2m (2005: £9.4m). In 2006, employer contributions to defined
contribution pension schemes included £6.2m made through a salary sacrifice arrangement.

In 2005 there were 2 main defined benefit pension schemes where the Group was the sole employing sponsor: The Capita Pension and Life Assurance
Scheme (Capita scheme) and The Eastgate Assistance Retirement Benefit Scheme (Eastgate scheme). On 1 April 2006 the assets and liabilities of the
Eastgate scheme were transferred into the Capita scheme. Accordingly, the comparative figures for 2005 relate to the Capita scheme combined with
the Eastgate scheme. Grouped together under ‘Other schemes’ are smaller arrangements: 1 scheme where the Group is the sole employing sponsor;
allocated sections of 2 multi-employer schemes in which the Group is a participating employer; and several schemes to which the Group makes
contributions under Admitted Body status to our customers’ defined benefit pension schemes in respect of certain TUPE employees.

For the Admitted Body schemes, which are all part of the Local Government Pension Scheme, the Group will only participate in the schemes for a finite
period up to the end of the contracts. The Group is required to pay regular contributions as decided by the respective Scheme Actuary and as detailed in
each schemes’ Schedule of Contributions. In addition, for some schemes, the Group will be required to pay any deficit (as determined by the respective
Scheme Actuary) that is remaining for the notional section of the scheme at the end of the contract.

The assets and liabilities of the defined benefit pension schemes (excluding additional voluntary contributions) as at 31 December are:
Capita Other

scheme schemes Group total
At 31 December 2006 £m £m £m

Scheme assets at fair value:
Equities/Hedge funds/Absolute returns 234.6 79.4 314.0
Bonds 64.3 32.2 96.5
Property 12.9 7.9 20.8
Insurance contracts 3.2 0.4 3.6
Cash/other 6.4 2.5 8.9
Total 321.4 122.4 443.8
Present value of scheme liabilities (328.8) (141.8) (470.6)
Net liability (7.4) (19.4) (26.8)

Capita Other
scheme schemes Group total

At 31 December 2005 £m £m £m

Scheme assets at fair value:
Equities/Hedge funds/Absolute returns 198.1 72.1 270.2
Bonds 67.5 27.6 95.1
Property 11.8 6.5 18.3
Insurance contracts 2.9 0.5 3.4
Cash/other 5.8 2.6 8.4
Total 286.1 109.3 395.4
Present value of scheme liabilities (308.1) (130.3) (438.4)
Net liability (22.0) (21.0) (43.0)

The pension schemes have not invested in any of the Group’s own financial instruments nor in properties or other assets used by the Group.
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31 Pensions (continued)
The amounts recognised in the consolidated income statement and in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense for the year
are analysed as follows:

Capita Other
scheme schemes Group total

Year ended 31 December 2006 £m £m £m

Recognised in the income statement:
Current service cost 17.6 2.4 20.0
Past service cost 0.4 – 0.4
Recognised in arriving at operating profit 18.0 2.4 20.4
Expected return on scheme assets (18.7) (7.1) (25.8)
Interest cost on scheme liabilities 15.0 6.3 21.3
Net finance cost included in administrative expenses (3.7) (0.8) (4.5)
Total defined benefit charge 14.3 1.6 15.9
Taken to the statement of recognised income and expense:
Actual return on scheme assets 28.5 10.6 39.1
Less: expected return on scheme assets (18.7) (7.1) (25.8)

9.8 3.5 13.3
Other actuarial gains and losses 3.6 (3.9) (0.3)
Actuarial gains and losses recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense 13.4 (0.4) 13.0

Capita Other
scheme schemes Group total

Year ended 31 December 2005 £m £m £m

Recognised in the income statement:
Current service cost 9.7 2.4 12.1
Past service cost 1.2 – 1.2
Recognised in arriving at operating profit 10.9 2.4 13.3
Expected return on scheme assets (15.6) (5.6) (21.2)
Interest cost on scheme liabilities 14.1 5.8 19.9
Net finance cost included in administrative expenses (1.5) 0.2 (1.3)
Total defined benefit charge 9.4 2.6 12.0
Taken to the statement of recognised income and expense:
Actual return on scheme assets 42.0 18.1 60.1
Less: expected return on scheme assets (15.6) (5.6) (21.2)

26.4 12.5 38.9
Other actuarial gains and losses (29.3) (13.1) (42.4)
Actuarial gains and losses recognised in the statement of recognised income and expense (2.9) (0.6) (3.5)

Pension contributions are determined based on the advice of qualified independent actuaries. In 2006, employer contributions to defined benefit pension
schemes included £3.0m made through a salary sacrifice arrangement.

Formal valuations of the Capita scheme and the FPS scheme were carried out as at 6 April 2005 and 31 March 2005 respectively. For the other schemes,
the latest formal valuations were carried out as at either 31 March 2004 or 1 April 2004. These valuations are updated by qualified independent actuaries
at each balance sheet date. Scheme assets are stated at their market valuations at each respective balance sheet date and overall expected rates of
return are established by considering published brokers’ forecasts for each category of scheme assets.
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31 Pensions (continued)
Capita scheme Other schemes

2006 2005 2006 2005
Main assumptions: % % % %

Rate of price inflation 2.9 2.7 2.9 2.7
Rate of salary increase 3.9 3.7 3.9 3.7
Rate of increase of pensions in payment2:
– inflation capped at 5% 2.9 2.7 2.9 2.7
– inflation capped at 2.5% 2.1 2.0 2.1 2.0
Discount rate 5.2 4.8 5.2 4.8
Expected rates of return on scheme assets (net of scheme expenses):
Equities/Hedge funds/Absolute returns 7.6 7.2 7.6 7.2
Bonds 4.9 4.4 to 4.8 4.7 to 5.0 4.6
Property 7.6 7.2 7.6 7.2
Insurance contracts 5.2 4.8 5.2 4.8
Cash/other 5.0 4.5 5.0 4.5
Expected take up of extended limits of tax free cash due to A day legislation 50.0 n/a5 50.04 n/a5

Capita scheme3 Other schemes1

Post retirementmortality 2006 2005 2006 2005

– Current pensioners PA92MC PA92 MC PA92MC PA92 MC
(YOB) (YOB=1935) (YOB=1965) (YOB=1935)

rated up rated up rated up rated up
2 years 3 years 2 years 3 years

– Future pensioners PA92MC PA92 MC PA92MC PA92 MC
(YOB) (YOB=1965) (YOB=1965) (YOB=1965)

rated up rated up rated up rated up
2 years 3 years 2 years 3 years

1 This does not apply to the Admitted Body schemes.
2 There are other levels of pension increase which apply to particular periods of membership.
3 In 2005, the post retirement mortality assumption for the Eastgate scheme for both current and future pensioners was ‘90% of PA92 (C=2020)’.
4 This does not apply to the Admitted Body Schemes where no allowance for the extended limits is taken.
5 For 2005 the assumption was that the maximum permissible tax-free cash sum applicable would be taken.
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31 Pensions (continued)
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit pension obligations are analysed as follows:

Capita Other
scheme schemes Group total

£m £m £m

As at 1 January 2005 257.8 105.3 363.1
Current service cost 9.7 2.4 12.1
Past service cost 1.2 – 1.2
Interest cost 14.1 5.8 19.9
Benefits paid (7.2) (1.2) (8.4)
Actuarial gains and losses 29.3 13.1 42.4
Contributions by employees 2.2 1.3 3.5
Contract bulk transfers/ business combinations 1.0 3.61 4.6
As at 31 December 2005 308.1 130.3 438.4
Current service cost 17.6 2.4 20.0
Past service cost 0.4 – 0.4
Interest cost 15.0 6.3 21.3
Benefits paid (6.6) (2.4) (9.0)
Actuarial gains and losses (3.6) 3.9 0.3
Contributions by employees 0.4 1.3 1.7
Contract bulk transfers/ business combinations (2.5) – (2.5)
As at 31 December 2006 328.8 141.8 470.6

The defined benefit obligation comprises £470.6m (2005: £438.4m) arising from schemes that are wholly or partly funded.

Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are analysed as follows:
Capita Other

scheme schemes Group total
£m £m £m

As at 1 January 2005 234.4 84.6 319.0
Expected return on scheme assets 15.6 5.6 21.2
Contract bulk transfers/ business combinations 1.0 3.61 4.6
Employer contributions 13.7 2.9 16.6
Contributions by employees 2.2 1.3 3.5
Benefits paid (7.2) (1.2) (8.4)
Actuarial gains and losses 26.4 12.5 38.9
As at 31 December 2005 286.1 109.3 395.4
Expected return on scheme assets 18.7 7.1 25.8
Contract bulk transfers/ business combinations (2.5) – (2.5)
Employer contributions 15.5 3.6 19.1
Contributions by employees 0.4 1.3 1.7
Benefits paid (6.6) (2.4) (9.0)
Actuarial gains and losses 9.8 3.5 13.3
As at 31 December 2006 321.4 122.4 443.8

The total employer contributions to the defined benefit pension schemes in 2007 are estimated to be £16.5m in respect of the Capita scheme and
£3.7m in respect of the ‘Other’ schemes.

The service costs have been determined using the projected unit method. As some of the sections are closed to new entrants, the service cost
(expressed as a % of pensionable salaries) would be expected to increase as the average age of the membership increases.
1 The assets and liabilities of the FPS Defined Benefit Scheme are included as a business combination. The figures have been determined as of
1 September 2005 (the date on which the Group acquired FPS).
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31 Pensions (continued)
History of experience gains and losses:

2006 2005 2004 2003
£m £m £m £m

Capita scheme
Fair value of scheme assets 321.4 286.1 234.4 151.4
Present value of defined benefit obligation (328.8) (308.1) (257.8) (210.4)
Scheme deficit (7.4) (22.0) (23.4) (59.0)
Experience adjustments arising on scheme liabilities 3.6 (29.3) (20.6)
Experience adjustments arising on scheme assets 9.8 26.4 2.6
Other schemes
Fair value of scheme assets 122.4 109.3 84.6 72.9
Present value of defined benefit obligation (141.8) (130.3) (105.3) (91.7)
Scheme deficit (19.4) (21.0) (20.7) (18.8)
Experience adjustments arising on scheme liabilities (3.9) (13.1) (4.7)
Experience adjustments arising on scheme assets 3.5 12.5 3.0

The cumulative amount of actuarial losses recognised since 1 January 2004 in the consolidated statement of recognised income and expense is £10.4m
(2005: £23.4m). The Directors are unable to determine how much of the pension scheme deficit recognised on transition to IFRS of £77.8m (of which
an IFRS transitional adjustment of £67.7m was taken directly to equity) is attributable to actuarial gains and losses since inception of those pension
schemes. Consequently, the Directors are unable to determine the amount of actuarial gains and losses that would have been recognised in the
consolidated statement of recognised income and expense before 1 January 2004.

32 Related party transactions
Other than the information disclosed in the Directors’ report and the Directors’ remuneration report, the only other related party transactions requiring
disclosure are details of key management personnel compensation. These details are set out in the table below.

Compensationofkeymanagementpersonnel (excludingDirectorsofparent company)
2006 2005

£m £m

Short term employment benefits 3.1 3.1
Post employment benefits 0.1 0.1
Share based payments 1.1 1.1

4.3 4.3

Gains on share options exercised in the year by key management personnel totalled £1.2m (2005: £0.4m).
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We have audited the Group financial statements of The Capita Group Plc for the year ended 31 December 2006 which comprise the consolidated
income statement, the consolidated balance sheet, the consolidated cash flow statement and the consolidated statement of recognised income and
expense and the related notes 1 to 32. These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the parent company financial statements of The Capita Group Plc for the year ended 31 December 2006 and on the
information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having been audited.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that wemight state to the company’s members thosematters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the Group financial statements in accordance with applicable United Kingdom law
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are set out in the statement of directors’ responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards
on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the Group financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. We also report to you whether in our opinion
the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements. The information in the Directors’ report includes that specific
information included in the Business Review that is cross referred from the Group activities section of the Directors’ report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information
specified by law regarding director’s remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We reviewwhether the corporate governance statement reflects the company’s compliance with the 9 provisions of the 2003 Combined Code specified
for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider whether the board’s
statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its
risk and control procedures.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited Group financial statements. The other
information comprises only the directors’ report, the business review, the corporate governance statement and the 5 year summary. We consider the
implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the Group financial statements.
Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the Group financial statements. It also includes an
assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the Group financial statements, and of whether
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the Group financial statements are free frommaterial misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the Group
financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion :

• the Group financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, of the state of the Group’s affairs
as at 31 December 2006 and of its profit for the year then ended

• the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and

• the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the Group financial statements.

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor
London

21 February 2007

Independent auditors’ report to the
members of The Capita Group Plc
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Reported under IFRS Reported under UK GAAPfor the years ended 31 December
2006 2005 2004 2003 2002

Group balance sheet £m £m £m £m £m

Non-current assets 862.5 783.5 668.2 562.9 551.2
Current assets 404.6 343.8 260.3 248.7 202.5

1,267.1 1,127.3 928.5 811.6 753.7
Liabilities (939.6) (726.4) (562.7) (452.0) (419.1)
Provision for liabilities and charges (1.7) (3.3) (5.5) (17.4) (17.5)

325.8 397.6 360.3 342.2 317.1
Capital and reserves 325.7 397.4 359.9 342.1 317.1
Minority interests 0.1 0.2 0.4 0.1 –

325.8 397.6 360.3 342.2 317.1
Group income statement
Turnover 1,738.5 1,435.5 1,282.2 1,080.6 897.5
Profit before interest and intangible amortisation 225.1 183.1 155.8 131.4 107.3
Other operating income – – – – 5.3
Net interest payable (25.0) (13.5) (11.9) (10.2) (9.0)
Profit before taxation and intangible amortisation 200.1 169.6 143.9 121.2 103.6
Intangible amortisation (6.9) (4.5) (1.8) (27.7) (25.5)
Impairment – (12.0) – – –
Discontinued operations – – (2.2) – –
Taxation (53.5) (45.8) (39.4) (34.1) (30.2)
Minority interests 0.1 0.2 0.2 (0.1) –
Profit after taxation 139.8 107.5 100.7 59.3 47.9
Earnings per share
(excluding impairment and amortisation) 23.10p 18.60p 15.37p 13.04p 10.47p
Earnings per share
(including impairment and amortisation) 22.32p 16.28p 15.13p 8.89p 7.20p
Dividend per ordinary share 9.00p 7.00p 5.35p 4.00p 3.00p

5 year summary
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2006 2005
Notes £m £m

Fixed assets
Tangible assets 5 17.5 11.1
Investments 6 293.7 293.5

311.2 304.6
Current assets
Trade investments 6 0.1 0.1
Debtors due within 1 year 7 586.7 515.4
Debtors due after more than 1 year 7 1.0 1.6

587.8 517.1
Creditors: amounts falling duewithin 1 year 8 92.6 134.9
Net current assets 495.2 382.2
Creditors: amounts falling due aftermore than 1 year 8 378.6 221.7
Provisions for liabilities and charges 9 1.4 0.9

426.4 464.2
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 10 12.3 13.4
Treasury shares 10 – (0.4)
Share premium account 11 308.1 258.1
Capital redemption reserve 11 1.7 0.2
Merger reserve 11 44.6 44.6
Profit and loss account 11 59.7 148.3

426.4 464.2

The accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 21 February 2007 and signed on its behalf by:

P RMPindar GMHurst
Chief Executive Group Finance Director

Company balance sheet
at 31 December 2006
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1 Accounting policies
(a)Basisofpreparation
The accounts are prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable accounting standards. The accounts comply with the
following new Financial Reporting Standards and Urgent Issues Task Force abstracts issued by the UK Accounting Standards Board.

Amendment toFRS23 (IAS21): TheEffectsofChanges inForeignExchangeRates –Net Investment inaForeignOperation
This amendment, which is mandatory for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2006, amended FRS 23 to correspond to the IASB
amendments to IAS 21 issued in December 2005. Adoption of this amendment did not have any effect on the financial statements of the company.

A separate profit and loss account dealing with the results of the parent undertaking only has not been presented as provided by section 230 of the
Companies Act 1985.

(b)Tangible fixedassets
Depreciation is provided on all tangible fixed assets, other than freehold land, at rates calculated to write off the cost on a straight-line basis over the
expected useful lives of the assets concerned, as follows:

Computer equipment 3-10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 4-5 years
Leasehold improvements over the period of the lease

(c) Investments
Fixed asset investments are shown at cost, less provisions for impairment.

Investments held as current assets are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

The carrying value of fixed asset investments are reviewed for impairment if events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying value may not
be recoverable.

(d)Pension schemes
The company maintains a number of contracted-out defined contribution schemes and contributions are charged to the profit and loss account in the
year in which they are due. These schemes are funded and the payment of contributions is made to separately administered trust funds. The assets
of these schemes are held separately from the company. The company remits monthly pension contributions to Capita Business Services Limited,
a subsidiary undertaking of the company, which pays the Group liability centrally. Any unpaid contributions at the year end have been accrued in the
accounts of that company.

(e) Leasingcommitments
Assets obtained under finance leases are capitalised in the balance sheet and depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful
economic lives.

The finance charges under finance leases and hire purchase contracts are allocated to accounting periods over the period of the lease and represent a
constant proportion of the balance of capital repayments outstanding. Rentals due under operating leases are charged on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

(f)Deferred taxation
Deferred taxation is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date where transactions
or events have occurred at that date that will result in an obligation to pay more, or a right to pay less or to receive more, taxation, with the
following exceptions:

• provision is made for taxation on gains arising from the revaluation (and similar fair value adjustments) of fixed assets, and gains on disposal of fixed
assets that have been rolled over into replacement assets, only to the extent that, at the balance sheet date, there is a binding agreement to dispose
of the assets concerned. However, no provision is made where, on the basis of all available evidence at the balance sheet date, it is more likely than
not that the taxable gain will be rolled over into replacement assets and charged to taxation only where the replacement assets are sold

• provision is made for deferred taxation that would arise on remittance of the retained earnings of overseas subsidiaries only to the extent that, at the
balance sheet date, dividends have been accrued as receivable

• deferred taxation assets are recognised only to the extent that the Directors consider that it is more likely than not that there will be suitable taxable
profits from which the future reversal of the underlying timing differences can be deducted.

Deferred taxation is measured on an undiscounted basis at the taxation rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing differences
reverse, based on taxation rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

(g) Foreigncurrencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction or at the contracted rate if the transaction is covered by a
forward exchange contract. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance
sheet date or if appropriate at the forward contract rate. All differences are taken to the profit and loss account with the exception of differences on
foreign currency borrowings, to the extent that they are used to finance or provide a hedge against foreign equity investments, which are taken directly
to reserves together with the exchange difference on the carrying amount of the related investments.

(h)National Insuranceonshareoptiongains
National Insurance on outstanding share options at the year end has been grossed up and shown as a provision and a receivable on the balance sheet.

(i) Financial instruments: disclosureandpresentation
A separate note dealing with the disclosures of FRS25 has not been presented as provided by paragraph 3Cof FRS25. The consolidated financial
statements include the required disclosures of IAS 32 for the Group.

Notes to the accounts
for the year ended 31 December 2006
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1 Accounting policies (continued)
(j)Derivative financial instruments
The company uses derivative financial instruments such as interest rate swaps and foreign currency contracts to hedge risks associated with interest
and exchange rate fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are stated at fair value. The fair values of interest rate swaps and foreign currency
contracts are determined by reference to market rates for similar instruments.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either: fair value hedges when they hedge the exposure to changes in the fair value of
a recognised asset or liability; or cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows that is attributable to either a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a forecast transaction.

In relation to fair value hedges (e.g. fixed to floating interest rate swaps held as fair value hedges against fixed interest rate borrowings) which meet the
conditions for hedge accounting, any gain or loss from re-measuring the hedging instrument at fair value is recognised immediately in the profit and loss
account. Any gain or loss on the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk is adjusted against the carrying amount of the hedged item and recognised
in the profit and loss account. The company does not currently hold any significant cash flow hedges.

For derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are taken directly to the profit and
loss account.

(k)Sharebasedpayments
The company operates a number of executive and employee share schemes.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted and is recognised
as an expense over the vesting period, which ends on the date on which the relevant employees become fully entitled to the award. Fair value is
determined using an option pricing model. In valuing equity-settled transactions, no account is taken of any vesting conditions, other than conditions
linked to the price of the shares of the company (market conditions).

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest, except for awards where vesting is conditional upon a market condition, which are
treated as vesting irrespective of whether or not the market condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance conditions are satisfied.

At each balance sheet date before vesting, the cumulative expense is calculated, representing the extent to which the vesting period has expired and
management’s best estimate of the achievement or otherwise of non-market conditions, the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest
or in the case of an instrument subject to a market condition, be treated as vesting as described above. The movement in cumulative expense since
the previous balance sheet date is recognised in the profit and loss account, with a corresponding entry in equity.

2Deferred taxation
2006 2005

£m £m

The deferred taxation included in the balance sheet is as follows:
Included in provisions and liabilities for charges (1.4) (0.9)
Accelerated capital allowances (1.4) (0.9)

3 Profit attributable tomembers of the parent undertaking
The profit after taxation dealt with in the accounts of the parent undertaking was £189.5m (2005: £155.8m).

4Dividends
2006 2005

£m £m

Declared and paid during the year
Ordinary shares (equity):

Final for 2005 paid: 4.9p per share (2004: 3.6p per share) 31.1 24.0
Interim for 2006 paid 2.7p per share (2005: 2.1p per share) 16.6 14.0

47.7 38.0
Proposed for approval at AGM (not recognised as a liability at 31 December)
Ordinary shares (equity):

Final for 2006: 6.3p per share (2005: 4.9p per share) 38.9 32.0
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5 Tangible fixed assets
Furniture, Short term

Computer fixtures and leasehold
equipment equipment improvements Total

£m £m £m £m

Cost
1 January 2006 14.6 0.6 2.1 17.3
Additions 8.3 – – 8.3
31 December 2006 22.9 0.6 2.1 25.6
Depreciation
1 January 2006 4.6 0.4 1.2 6.2
Charge for year 1.7 – 0.2 1.9
31 December 2006 6.3 0.4 1.4 8.1
Net Book Value at:
1 January 2006 10.0 0.2 0.9 11.1
31 December 2006 16.6 0.2 0.7 17.5

6 Investments
(a) Fixedasset investments

Shares in
subsidiary

undertakings
£m

Cost
1 January 2006 293.5
Additions 42.9
Disposals (42.7)
31 December 2006 293.7

During the year the company completed intragroup transfers as follows: It acquired Capita Life & Pensions Regulated Services Limited, and disposed
of Capita Trust Company (Jersey) Limited, Cost Auditing Holdings Limited, Capita Absence Management Limited and Capita Health Solutions.
These transfers took place at net book value and were settled by cash. The company also subscribed for 20 million £1 ordinary shares in Capita Retail
Financial Services Limited, a subsidiary undertaking.

Proportion of nominal
Country of registration value of issued shares Description of

Principal investments and operation held by the company shares held

Capita Business Services Limited England 100% Ordinary 1p shares
Capita Trust Company Limited England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Capita Commercial Services Limited* England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
BDML Connect Limited* England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Capita IRG Plc* England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Capita Resourcing Limited* England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Capita Symonds Limited* England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Capita Life & Pensions Limited England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Capita Life & Pensions Regulated Services Limited England 100% Ordinary £1 shares
Service Birmingham Limited* England 100% Ordinary £1 shares

*Indirectly held

The activities of The Capita Group Plc undertakings are given onIpage 122.

(b)Trade investments
£m

At 1 January 2006 and 31 December 2006 0.1
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7 Debtors
2006 2005

Debtors duewithin 1 year £m £m

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 536.0 478.6
Taxation recoverable 46.5 31.9
Other taxes and social security 0.8 –
Other debtors 1.7 1.6
Prepayments and accrued income 1.7 3.3

586.7 515.4

2006 2005
Debtors due beyond 1 year £m £m

Prepayments and accrued income 1.0 –
Interest rate swaps – 1.6

1.0 1.6

8 Creditors
2006 2005

Amounts falling duewithin 1 year £m £m

Bank overdraft 57.4 117.8
Trade creditors 2.0 3.8
Other creditors 0.2 0.9
Unsecured loan notes 22.2 2.2
Other taxes and social security – 0.3
Accruals and deferred income 10.8 6.9
Deferred consideration – 3.0

92.6 134.9

2006 2005
Amounts falling due aftermore than 1 year £m £m

Unsecured loan notes – 20.5
Bonds 372.0 198.6
Currency swap 6.4 2.6
Other creditors 0.2 –

378.6 221.7

The bank overdraft and the bonds are unsecured.

9 Provisions for liabilities and charges

Deferred taxation £m

At 1 January 2006 0.9
New provisions in the year 0.5
At 31 December 2006 1.4
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10 Share capital
2006 2005 2006 2005

million million £m £m

Authorised
Ordinary shares of 2p each 1,000.0 1,000.0 20.0 20.0
Allotted, called up and fully paid
Ordinary shares of 2p each
At 1 January 671.0 670.9 13.4 13.4
Shares repurchased (52.9) (5.0) (1.1) (0.1)
Issued on exercise of share options 16.4 5.0 0.4 0.1
Issued on acquisition of subsidiary undertaking – 0.1 – –
Treasury shares cancelled (16.9) – (0.4) –
At 31 December 617.6 671.0 12.3 13.4

During the year the company repurchased 52.9m ordinary 2p shares with an aggregate nominal value of £1.1m at a total cost of £244.9m for which it
paid cash at a weighted average cost per share of £4.64. These shares were cancelled.

During the year 16.4m ordinary 2p shares with an aggregate nominal value of £0.4m were issued under share option schemes for a total consideration
of £50.4m.

Treasury shares
2006 2005 2006 2005

million million £m £m

Ordinary shares of 2p each
At 1 January 16.9 8.6 0.4 0.2
Shares repurchased – 8.3 – 0.2
Shares cancelled (16.9) – (0.4) –
At 31 December – 16.9 – 0.4

During the year the company cancelled its holding of treasury shares.

The company has an unexpired authority to repurchase up to 10% of its issued share capital.

11 Reserves
Capital

Share redemption Merger Treasury Profit and
premium reserve reserve shares loss account

Company £m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2006 258.1 0.2 44.6 (0.4) 148.3
Shares issued 50.0 – – – –
Share transaction costs – – – – (1.2)
Share repurchase and cancellation – 1.1 – – (244.9)
Treasury shares cancelled – 0.4 – 0.4 (0.4)
Share based payment – – – – 8.5
Equity dividends paid – – – – (47.7)
Retained profit for the year – – – – 197.1
At 31 December 2006 308.1 1.7 44.6 – 59.7
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12 Reconciliation ofmovements in shareholders’ funds
2006 2005

£m £m

Profit for the year 189.5 155.8
Tax on items taken directly to equity 7.6 –
Dividends (47.7) (38.0)

149.4 117.8
Share based payment 8.5 1.8
Shares issued 50.4 10.1
Share transaction costs (1.2) (0.3)
Shares purchased (244.9) (49.6)
Net movement in shareholders’ funds (37.8) 79.8
Opening shareholders’ funds 464.2 384.4
Closing shareholders’ funds 426.4 464.2

13 Commitments and contingent liabilities
(a)Annual commitments under operating leases were as follows:

2006 2005

Property Other Property Other
£m £m £m £m

Operating leases which expire:
In 2 to 5 years inclusive – 0.4 – 0.2
Over 5 years from the balance sheet date 1.6 – 1.2 –

1.6 0.4 1.2 0.2

(b)The company has guaranteed overdraft and loan facilities of Group undertakings amounting to £205.0m (2005: £212.3m). The following companies
have provided in the normal course of their businesses, performance bonds: Capita Business Services Limited £2.6m (2005: £3.3m), Equita Limited
£0.9m (2005: £0.5m), Capita IRG Trustees Limited £nil (2005: £0.3m), Capita Insurance Company Limited £2.0m (2005: £nil), Capita Business Travel
Limited (formerly Lonsdale Travel Limited) £1.2m (2005:£nil) and Capita Group Insurance Company Limited £1.0m (2005:£nil). The following companies
have provided indemnities in the normal course of business: Capita Symonds Limited £nil (2005: £10.0m), Capita Business Services Limited £0.5m
(2005: £0.5m).

14 Borrowings and finance leases
2006 2005

£m £m

Bank overdraft payable on demand 57.4 117.8
Loan notes 22.2 22.7
Bonds 378.4 199.6

458.0 340.1
Repayments fall due as follows:
Within 1 year:

Bank overdraft 57.4 117.8
Loan notes 22.2 2.2

79.6 120.0
After more than 1 year:

In more than 1 year but not more than 2 years – 20.5
In more than 2 years but not more than 5 years 100.2 100.1
In more than 5 years 278.2 99.5

378.4 220.1
Total borrowings and finance leases 458.0 340.1

Loan notes were issued in previous years pursuant to the satisfaction of consideration due in relation to the acquisition of a subsidiary undertaking.
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14 Borrowings and finance leases (continued)
The company has issued guaranteed unsecured bonds as follows:

Interest rate Value
Bond % Denomination £m Maturity

Issued 2002
Series B 6.44 GBP* 55.0 20 June 2009
Issued 2005
Series A 0.525 above 6m LIBOR GBP 50.0 28 September 2013
Series B 0.525 above 6m LIBOR GBP 25.0 28 September 2015
Total of sterling denominated bonds 130.0

US$m

Issued 2002
Series A 6.10 US$** 66.0 20 June 2009
Series C 6.47 US$** 36.0 20 June 2012
Issued 2006
Series A 5.74 US$** 60.0 28 June 2013
Series B 5.88 US$** 130.0 28 June 2016
Series A 5.66 US$** 11.0 13 September 2013
Series B 5.81 US$** 74.0 13 September 2016
Series C 5.77 US$** 60.0 13 September 2016
Total of US$ denominated bonds 437.0

(GBP 242.0m)

All series are unsecured.
*The company has entered into an interest rate swap to convert the interest cost based on 6 month LIBOR.
**The company has entered into currency swaps for the US$ issues to achieve a floating rate of interest based on 6 month LIBOR. Further disclosure
on the company’s use of hedges is included in note 24 commencing on page 101.

15 Acquisitions
The company made no external acquisitions during the year.

16 Related party transactions
There were no related party transactions that require disclosure in the year.

17 Pension costs
The company operates a defined contribution scheme.

The pension charge for the defined contribution scheme for the year was £0.7m (2005: £0.6m).

18 Share based payment
The total company expense, after recharging subsidiary undertakings, charged to the profit and loss account in respect of FRS 20 ‘Share based payment’
was £2.6m (2005: £1.8m).
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Capita Business Services
Providing an integrated range of business process outsourcing and professional services to clients in the UK and Ireland.

Capita Commercial Services
Market leader in providing outsourced administration and support services to the general insurance sector and affinity partnerships.

Capita Symonds
Providing a comprehensive range of project management, telecommunications engineering and construction related consultancy services.

Capita IRG
Share registration and employee share scheme administration services.

Capita Trust Company
Corporate trustees and providers of trust and administration services.

Capita Life & Pensions
Administration and customer services for life and pensions operations.

Capita Life & Pensions Regulated Services
Administration and customer services for life and pensions regulated operations.

Service Birmingham
Joint venture set up to support Birmingham Council’s transformation plan.

Capita Resourcing
Employee recruitment services.

Principal Group investments
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We have audited the parent company financial statements of The Capita Group Plc for the year ended 31 December 2006 which comprise the company
balance sheet and the related notes 1 to 18. These parent company financial statements have been prepared under the accounting policies set out
therein. We have also audited the information in the Directors’ remuneration report that is described as having been audited.

We have reported separately on the Group financial statements of The Capita Group Plc for the year ended 31 December 2006.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies Act 1985. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an auditors’ report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ remuneration report and the parent company financial statements in
accordance with applicable United Kingdom law and Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited in accordance
with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the parent company financial
statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985.
We also report to you whether in our opinion the information given in the parent company Directors’ report is consistent with the financial statements.
The information in the Directors’ report includes that specific information presented in the business review that is cross referenced from the Group
activities section of the Directors’ report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding Directors’ remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited parent company financial statements.
The other information comprises only the Directors’ report, the unaudited part of the Directors’ remuneration report, the business review and the
5 year summary. We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with
the parent company financial statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the parent company financial statements and the part of
the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited. It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgments made by the directors in
the preparation of the parent company financial statements, and of whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with
sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to
be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming our opinion we also evaluated the
overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report
to be audited.

Opinion
In our opinion:

• the parent company financial statements give a true and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, of the
state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2006;

• the parent company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ remuneration report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance
with the Companies Act 1985; and

• the information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with the parent company financial statements.

Ernst & Young LLP
Registered Auditor
London

21 February 2007

Independent auditors’ report to the members
of The Capita Group Plc

The Capita Group Plc Annual Report and Accounts 2006



Business review Governance Accounts
124

Useful information for shareholders
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Shareholder enquiries
Shareholders who have questions relating to the
Group’s business or wish to receive further copies
of annual or interim reports should contact
Capita’s investor relations team on 020 7799 1525
or email corporate@capita.co.uk.

If you have any queries about your shareholding
please contact the company’s registrar, Capita
Registrars, at the address below.

Capita Registrars
The Registry
34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham
Kent BR3 4TU

Tel: 0870 162 3100
email: ssd@capitaregistrars.com

e-communications for shareholders
Help us communicate with you in a greener, more
efficient and cost effective way by switching from
postal to email communications. Shareholders can
receive important information online, including
annual and interim reports and notice of meetings.
Registering for e-communications also enables
shareholders to:

• obtain secure on-line access to personal
shareholding details

• submit queries to our registrars, download forms
and obtain general shareholder information

• update shareholding account online.

To register for e-communications, visit
www.capita.co.uk/investorcentre/ecomms

The legislation regarding electronic shareholder
communications has now changed and we will
be writing to you shortly to explain how this
can enhance the way we communicate with you.

For every shareholder that registers for
e-communications we have pledged to donate
£1 to Climate Care. For further details visit
www.climatecare.org

Share dealing
A quick and easy share dealing service is now
available for existing Capita shareholders to either
sell or buy more Capita Group shares online or
by telephone.

For further information on this service or to buy
and sell Capita shares online go to:

www.capitadeal.com
or by telephone:
0870 458 4577

Dividend reinvestment plan (DRIP)
We offer a DRIP to enable shareholders to
purchase additional Capita shares with their
whole cash dividend. These further shares would
be bought in the market on behalf of shareholders
under a special low-cost dealing arrangement.
Further details of the DRIP can be found online.
Please visit the shareholder services section at
www.capita.co.uk/investorcentre or call Capita
Registrars on 0870 162 3100.

Financial calendar
AnnualGeneralMeeting
1 May 2007

FinalDividendpayment
4 May 2007

Interim results
24 July 2007

Registered office
71 Victoria Street
Westminster
London SW1H 0XA

Tel: 020 7799 1525
Fax: 020 7799 1526

Registered number: 2081330

Company Secretary
Gordon Hurst

Stockbrokers
Deutsche Bank AG
1 Great Winchester Street
London EC2N 2EQ

Citigroup
Citigroup Centre
33 Canada Square
Canary Wharf
London E14 5LB

Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
1 More London Place
London SE1 2AF

Solicitors
Herbert Smith
Exchange House
Primrose Street
London EC2A 2HS

Bankers
Barclays Bank plc
London Corporate Banking
PO Box 544
First Floor
154 Lombard Street
London EC3V 9EX

HSBC Bank plc
27-32 Poultry
London EC2P 2BX

National Westminster Bank Plc
1 Princes Street
London EC2R 8PB
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Thanks to our employees at Capita Symonds
whose portraits appear on the front cover and
also to all employees who took part in the
photography for this report.
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The Capita Group Plc
71Victoria Street
Westminster
London SW1H 0XA

T 020 7799 1525
F 020 7799 1526
www.capita.co.uk

We are theUK’s leading business
process outsourcing and professional
services company.
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